Contents

Photosynthesis at Different Levels of the Organization

Edited by Suleyman I. ALLAKHVERDIEV

1. The Multiple Roles of Various Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) in Photosynthetic Organisms Franz-Josef Schmitt, Vladimir D. Kreslavski, Thomas Friedrich, Gernot Renger, 2. Photooxidation of Mn-bicarbonate Complexes by Reaction Centers of Purple Bacteria as a Possible Stage in the Evolutionary Origin of the Water-Oxidizing Complex of Photosystem II 3. Hydrogen Metabolism in Microalgae Anatoly A. Tsygankov, Azat Abdullatypov.....131 4. The Structure and Regulation of Chloroplast ATP Synthase 5. Structural and Functional Organization of the Pigment-Protein Complexes of Photosystems in Mutant Cells of Algae and Higher Plants Vladimir G. Ladygin......177 6. Photosynthetic Carbon Metabolism: Strategy of Adaptation 7. Adaptive Changes of Photosynthetic Apparatus to Higher CO₂ Concentration 8. Photosynthetic Machinery Response to Low Temperature Stress

The book is written by Russian and international authorities in the field of photosynthesis research. It is dedicated to investigations of the problems of photosynthesis at different levels of organization: molecular, cellular and organismal. Book describes the multiple roles of various reactive oxygen species in photosynthetic organisms. Further, we have presented here a discussion of the structure and function of water oxidation complex (WOC) of PS II, and a possible role of Mn-bicarbonate complex in WOC. Other important topics in this book are: the structural and functional organization of the pigment-protein complexes, the structure and regulation of chloroplast ATP-synthase, the participation of molecular hydrogen in microalgae metabolism, the current concepts on the evolution and the development of photosynthetic carbonic metabolism, and the adaptive changes of photosynthesis at increased CO₂ concentrations, as well as the photosynthetic machinery response to low temperature stress. The material available in this book is a unique report on the state of this trend in modern science. This book will be helpful not only for biophysicists, biochemists and experts in plant physiology, but also for a wider group of biologists; in addition, it is expected to be used in ongoing and future research work in the field. Lastly, and most importantly, it will serve to educate undergraduate, graduate and post-graduate students around the World.

Preface

Existence of life on the Earth is supported by photosynthetic organisms which provide production of organic substances and oxygen evolution. In general, photosynthesis includes primary light reactions and secondary dark reactions. Light reactions begin with absorption of photons by light harvesting photosynthetic pigments, resulting in the formation of their singlet exited states. This process is followed by excitation energy transfer from one pigment molecule to the other. Then, charge separation occurs in the photosynthetic reaction centers. Excited electrons are transferred via the photosynthetic electron transport chain (ETC), providing production of the reducing power in the form of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH). The ETC of oxygenic photosynthetics contains two photochemical systems - PS II (water-plastoquinone oxido-reductase) and PS I (plastocyanin-ferredoxin oxido-reductase) — which transfer electrons from water to NADP, using one more complex, the cytochrome-b6f-complex. The source of electrons in this case is water molecules which are decomposed by water-oxidizing complex (WOC) of the PS II. In anoxygenic phototrophs, external hydrogen compounds are a source of the electrons, and the light is absorbed in a single photosystem. During the electron transfer from water to NADP, protons are transferred from the stroma side (the positive (p) side) to the lumen side (the negative (n) side), and when this proton gradient is dissipated through the ATP-synthase, ATP is produced.

The next stage includes biochemical processes of fixation and reduction of CO_2 in photosynthetic carbon metabolism with using NADPH, and ATP. To date, the known metabolic pathways of carbon in photosynthesis can be classified into the 3-hydroxypropionat bicycle; the reductive citrate cycle, i.e., the Arnon cycle; C_3 or the reductive pentose phosphate cycle, i.e., the Benson-Bassham-Calvin cycle; C_4 or cooperative photosynthesis; Crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM); C_3/C_4 photosynthesis; and C_4 -CAM photosynthesis. Some of them, for example the 3hydroxypropionat bicycle and the Arnon cycle, are specific to anoxigenic phototrophs, others, such as C_4 , CAM, and so on, have been in the evolution of higher plants. The most important way of carbon in photosynthesis — the Benson-Bassham-Calvin cycle — is widespread in phototrophic organisms of different taxa. Eventually, fixation and reduction of CO_2 during photosynthesis leads to the formation of sugars and other organic compounds.

The present book has 8 chapters written mainly by the researchers of the Institute of Basic Biological Problems of the Russian Academy of Sciences (formerly the Institute of Photosynthesis). The each chapter describes photosynthesis at different levels of organization: molecular, cellular, and organismic. Among discussed problems in this book are: the structural and functional organization of the pigment-protein complexes; the evolutionary origin of the water-oxidizing complex of PS II; the hydrogen photoproduction coupled with photosynthesis; the structure and regulation of chloroplast ATP synthase; the formation, decay and signaling of reactive oxygen species in oxygen-evolving photosynthetic organisms during exposure to oxidative stress; the strategy of adaptation of photosynthetic carbon metabolism; the adaptive changes of photosynthesis under enhanced CO_2 concentration, and the photosynthetic machinery response to low temperature stress.

The material presented here reflects, mainly, the research interests and views of the authors. We do not claim to have produced all-inclusive views of the entire field. The book is intended for a broad range of researchers and students, and all who are interested in learning the most important global process on our planet — the process of photosynthesis.

Chapter 1

The Multiple Roles of Various Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) in Photosynthetic Organisms^a

FRANZ-JOSEF SCHMITT¹, VLADIMIR D. KRESLAVSKI^{2,3}, THOMAS FRIEDRICH¹, GERNOT RENGER¹, SULEYMAN I. ALLAKHVERDIEV^{2,3,4,*}

¹Technical University Berlin, Institute of Chemistry, Max-Volmer-Laboratory of Biophysical *Chemistry, Straße des 17. Juni 135, D*-10623 Berlin, Germany

²Institute of Plant Physiology, Russian Academy of Sciences, Botanicheskaya Street 35, Moscow 127276, Russia

³Institute of Basic Biological Problems, Russian Academy of Sciences, Institutskaya Street 2, Pushchino, Moscow Region 142290, Russia

⁴Department of Plant Physiology, Faculty of Biology, M.V. Lomonosov Moscow State University,

Leninskie Gory 1-12, Moscow 119991, Russia

*e-mail: <u>suleyman.allakhverdiev@gmail.com</u>

Abstract. This chapter provides an overview on recent developments and current knowledge about monitoring, generation and the functional role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) – H_2O_2 , HO_2^{\bullet} , HO^{\bullet} , OH^{-} , 1O_2 and $O_2^{-\bullet}$ – in both oxidative degradation and signal transduction in photosynthetic organisms including a summary of important mechanisms of nonphotochemical quenching in plants. We further describe microscopic techniques for ROS detection and controlled generation. Reaction schemes elucidating formation, decay and signaling of ROS in cyanobacteria as well as from chloroplasts to the nuclear genome in eukaryotes during exposure of oxygen-evolving photosynthetic organisms to oxidative stress are discussed that target the rapidly growing field of regulatory effects of ROS on nuclear gene expression.

Keywords: photosynthesis, plant cells, reactive oxygen species, ROS, oxidative stress, signaling systems, chloroplast, cyanobacteria, nonphotochemical quenching, CALI, sensors

Abbreviations:

Ala — delta-aminolevulinic acid

Asc — ascorbate

APX — ascorbate peroxidase

CALI — chromophore-activated laser inactivation

^aThis Chapter was published as a review in Biochim. Biophys. Acta (Schmitt F.J., Renger G., Friedrich T., Kreslavski V.K., Zharmukhamedov S.K., Los D.A., Kuznetsov V.V., Allakhverdiev S.I. Reactive oxygen species: Re-evaluation of generation, monitoring and role in stress-signaling in phototrophic organisms. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2014, 1837: 835-848); A modified and edited form of this review is reprinted here, in the form of a chapter, with the permission of Elsevier.

Cars — carotenoids

CHO — Chinese hamster ovary

COX — cytochrome c oxidase

DCF-2',7'-dichlorofluorescein

DHA—dehydroascorbate

DHAR — DHA reductase

EF-G — elongation factor G

EPR — electron paramagnetic resonance

ETC — electron transfer chain

Fd — ferredoxin

Fur — ferric uptake repressor

GFP — green fluorescent protein

GR — glutathione reductase

GS — glutathione

GSH — reduced glutathione

GSSG — glutathione disulphide

 H_2DCF -DA — 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate, acetyl ester

Hik — Histidin kinase

HOCl - hypochloric acid

Hsfs — heat stress transcription factors

ISC — inter system crossing

LHC — light harvesting complex

LP — lipid peroxidas

MAPK — mitogen-activated protein kinase

MDHA — monodehydroascorbate radical

MDHAR --- MDHA reductase

MPO — myeloperoxidase

Naph — naphthalene

NBT — nitroblue tetrazolium

NOX - NADPH oxidase

NPQ — nonphotochemical quenching

OS — oxidative stress

PA — photosynthetic apparatus

PAHs — polyaromatic hydrocarbons

PBS — phosphate buffered saline

PhyB — phytochrome B

PPFD — photosynthetic photon flux density

PQ — plastoquinone

Prx — peroxiredoxins

PS — photosystem

PTOX - plastid terminal oxidase

RBOHs --- respiratory burst oxidase homologs

RFP --- red fluorescent protein

RL — red light

- ROS reactive oxygen species
- RRP response regulator protein
- RS redox-sensitive proteins
- RsS redox-sensitive sensors
- SA salicylic acid
- SOD superoxide dismutase
- t-APX APX bound to the thylakoid membrane
- TF transcription factors
- WOC water-oxidizing complex
- WT wild type
- YFP ---- yellow fluorescent protein

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Generation, Decay and Deleterious Action of ROS
- 3. Nonphotochemical Quenching in Plants and Cyanobacteria
- 4. Monitoring of ROS
 - 4.1. Exogenous ROS Sensors
 - 4.2. Genetically Encoded ROS Sensors
 - 4.3. Chromophore Assisted Laser Inactivation (CALI)
- 5. Signaling Role of ROS
 - 5.1. Signaling by Superoxide and Hydrogen Peroxide in Cyanobacteria
 - 5.2. Signaling by ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ and Hydrogen Peroxide in Eukaryotic Cells and Plants
- 6. Light Induced ROS and Cell Redox Control and Interaction with the Nuclear Gene Expression
- 7. Second Messengers and Signaling Molecules in H₂O₂ Signaling Chains and (Nonlinear) Networking
- 8. Concluding Remaks and Future Perspectives Acknowledgments
- References

1. Introduction

About 3 billion years ago the atmosphere started to transform from a reducing to an oxidizing environment as evolution developed oxygenic photosynthesis as key mechanism to efficiently generate free energy from solar radiation (Buick, 1992; Des Marais, 2000; Xiong and Bauer, 2002; Renger, 2008; Rutherford et al., 2012; Schmitt et al., 2014a). Entropy generation due to the absorption of solar radiation on the surface of the Earth was retarded by the generation of photosynthesis, and eventually a huge amount of photosynthetic and other organisms with rising complexity developed at the interface of the transformation of low entropic solar radiation to heat. The susbequent release of oxygen as a "waste" product of photosynthetic water cleavage

led to the present day aerobic atmosphere (Kasting and Siefert, 2002; Lane, 2002; Bekker et al., 2004), thus opening the road for a much more efficient exploitation of the Gibbs free energy through the aerobic respiration of heterotrophic organisms (for thermodynamic considerations, see (Nicholls and Ferguson, 2013; Renger, 1983).

From the very first moment this interaction with oxygen generated a new condition for the existing organisms starting an evolutionary adaptation process to this new oxydizing environment. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) became a powerful selector and generated a new hierarchy of life forms from the broad range of genetic mutations represented in the biosphere. We assume that this process accelerated the development of higher, mainly heterotrophic organisms in the sea and especially on the land mass remarkably.

The efficient generation of biomass and the highly selective impact of ROS lead to a broad range of options for complex organisms to be developed in the oxydizing environment. The direct, mostly deleterious impact of ROS on the biosphere is thereby just a minor facet in the broad spectrum of consequences. Important and more complex side effects are for example given by the fact that the molecular oxygen led to generation of the stratospheric ozone layer, which is the indispensable protective shield against deleterious UV-B radiation (Worrest and Caldwell, 1986). ROS lead to new complex constraints for evolution that drove the biosphere into new directions – by direct oxidative pressure and by long range effects due to environmental changes caused by the atmosphere and the biosphere themselves as energy source for all heterotrophic organisms.

For organisms that had developed before the transformation of the atmosphere the pathway of redox chemistry between water and O_2 by oxygenic photosynthesis was harmful, due to the deleterious effects of ROS. O_2 destroys the sensitive constituents (proteins, lipids) of living matter. As a consequence, the vast majority of these species was driven into extinction, while only a minority could survive by finding anaerobic ecological niches. All organisms developed suitable defence strategies, in particular the cyanobacteria, which were the first photosynthetic cells evolving oxygen (Zamaraev and Parmon, 1980).

The ground state of the most molecules including biological materials (proteins, lipids, carbohydrates) has a closed electron shell with singlet spin configuration. These spin state properties are of paramount importance, because the transition state of the two electron oxidation of a molecule in the singlet state by ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$ is "spin-forbidden" and, therefore, the reaction is very slow. This also accounts for the back reaction from the singlet to the triplet state.

In contrast to this majority of singlet ground state molecules the electronic configuration of the O₂ molecule in its ground state is characterized by a triplet spin multiplicity described by

the term symbol ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$. This situation drastically changes by two types of reactions which transform ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$ into highly reactive oxygen species (ROS): i) Electronic excitation leads to population of two forms of singlet O₂ characterized by the term symbols ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}$ and ${}^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$. The ${}^{1}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$ state with slightly higher energy rapidly relaxes into ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ so that only the latter species is of physiological relevance (type I). ii) Chemical reduction of ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$ (or ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$) by radicals with non-integer spin state (often doublet state) leads to formation of $O_{2}^{-\bullet}$, which quickly reacts to HO₂ • and is subsequently transferred to H₂O₂ and HO • (vide infra) (type II). In plants, the electronic excitation of ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$ occurs due to close contact to chlorophyll triplets that are produced during the photoexcitation cycle (Schmitt et al., 2014a) (see Figure 1, Figure 2). Singlet oxygen is predominantly formed via the reaction sensitized by interaction between a chlorophyll triplet (3 Chl) and ground state triplet ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$:

$${}^{3}\mathrm{Chl} + {}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}\mathrm{O}_{2} \rightarrow {}^{1}\mathrm{Chl} + {}^{1}\Delta_{g}\mathrm{O}_{2}$$

$$\tag{1}$$

³Chl can be populated either via intersystem crossing (ISC) of antenna Chls or via radical pair recombination in the reaction centers (RCs) of photosystem II (PS II) (for reviews, see (Vass and Aro, 2008; Renger, 2008; Rutherford et al., 2012; Schmitt et al., 2014a). Alternatively, ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ can also be formed in a controlled fashion by chemical reactions, which play an essential role in programmed cell death upon pathogenic infections (e.g. by viruses).

Figure 2 schematically illustrates the pattern of one-electron redox steps of oxygen forming the ROS species HO[•], H₂O₂ and HO₂[•]/O₂^{-•} in a four step reaction sequence with water as the final product. The sequence comprises the water splitting, leading from water to O₂ + 4 H⁺ and the corresponding mechanism vice versa of the ROS reaction sequence. The production of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}$ O₂ is a mechanism next to that.

In biological organisms, the four-step reaction sequence of ROS is tamed and energetically tuned at transition metal centers, which are encapsulated in specifically functionalized protein matrices. This mode of catalysis of the "hot water redox chemistry" avoids the formation of ROS. In photosynthesis, the highly endergonic oxidative water splitting ($\Delta G^{\circ} = + 237.13 \text{ kJ/mol}$, see Atkins, 2014) is catalyzed by a unique Mn₄O₅Ca cluster of the water-oxidizing complex (WOC) of photosystem II and energetically driven by the strongly oxidizing cation radical P680⁺⁺ (Klimov et al., 1978; Rappaport et al., 2002) formed via light-induced charge separation (for review, see Renger, 2012).



Figure 1. Production of ROS by interaction of oxygen with Chlorophyll triplet states (type I) to ${}^{1}O_{2}$ or chemical reduction of oxygen to $O_{2}^{-\bullet}$ (type II)

Corespondingly, the highly exergonic process in the reverse direction is catalyzed by a binuclear heme iron-copper center of the cytochrome oxidase (COX), and the free energy is transformed into a transmembrane electrochemical potential difference for protons (for a review, see Renger, 2011), which provides the driving force for ATP synthesis (for a review, see Junge, 2008). In spite of the highly controlled reaction sequences in photosynthetic WOC and respiratory COX, the formation of ROS in living cells cannot be completely avoided The excess of ROS under unfavorable stress conditions causes a shift in the balance of oxidants/antioxidants towards oxidants, which leads to the intracellular oxidative stress (Kreslavski et al., 2012b). Formation of ROS (the production rate) as well as decay of ROS (the decay rate) with the latter one determining the lifetime, both bring about the concentration distribution of the ROS pool (Kreslavski et al., 2013a). The activity of antioxidant enzymes, superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, peroxidases, and several others, as well as the content of low molecular weight antioxidants, such as ascorbic acid, glutathione, tocopherols, carotenoids, anthocyanins, play a key role in regulation of the level of ROS and products of lipid peroxidation (LP) in cells (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Pradedova et al., 2011, Kreslavski et al., 2012b).

The exact mechanisms of neutralization and the distribution of ROS have not been clarified so far. Especially the involvement of organelles, cells and up to the whole organism, summarizing the complicated network of ROS signalling (see chap. 6 and 7) are still far from being completely understood (Swanson and Gilroy, 2010; Kreslavski et al., 2012b, Kreslavski et al., 2013a).



Figure 2. Scheme of ROS formation and water redox chemistry (water-water cycle, for details, see text)

Photosynthetic organisms growing under variable environmental conditions are often exposed to different types of stress like harmful irradiation (UV-B or high-intensity visible light), heat, cold, high salt concentration and also infection of the organisms with pathogens (viruses, bacteria) (Gruissem et al., 2012). Under these circumstances, the balance between oxidants and antioxidants within the cells is disturbed. This imbalance leads to enhanced population of ROS including singlet oxygen (${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$), superoxide radicals (O $_{2}^{-\bullet}$ or HO $_{2}^{\bullet}$), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and hydroxyl radical (HO[•]). Other highly reactive oxygen species like atomic oxygen or ozone are either not formed or play a role only under very special physiological conditions and will not be considered here. In this sense, the term ROS is used in a restricted manner. In addition to ROS, also reactive nitrogen- and sulfur-based species play an essential role in oxidative stress (OS) developed within the cells (Fryer et al., 2002; Benson, 2002). However, this interesting subject is beyond the scope of this chapter.

It is obvious that ROS exert deleterious effects. Oxidative destruction by ROS is known and has been studied for decades. However, ROS also act as important signaling molecules with regulatory functions, which have been unraveled only recently. ROS were found to play a key role in the transduction of intracellular signals and in control of gene expression and activity of antioxidant systems (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Desikan et al., 2001; Desikan et al., 2003; Mori and Schroeder, 2004; Galvez-Valdivieso and Mullineaux, 2010; Foyer and Shigeoka, 2011). Being implicated in reactions against pathogens, (e.g. by respiratory bursts) and by the active participation in signaling, ROS have a protective role in plants (Bolwell et al., 2002; Dimitriev, 2003).

ROS contribute to acclimation and protection of plants, regulate processes of polar growth, stromatal activity, light-induced chloroplast movements, and plant responses to biotic and abiotic environmental factors (Mullineaux at al., 2006; Pitzschke and Hirt, 2006; Miller et al., 2007; Swanson and Gilroy, 2010; Vellosillo, 2010). In animals, recent studies have established that physiological H₂O₂ signaling is essential for stem cell proliferation, as illustrated in neural stem cell models, where it can also influence subsequent neurogenesis (Dickinson and Chang, 2011). This chapter will describe generation and decay of ROS and their monitoring in cells including novel microscopic techniques. Additionally the rapidly growing field of regulatory effects and pathways of ROS will be described although a complete description of the multitude of roles of ROS from nonphotochemical quenching (NPQ) to genetic signaling is impossible. However, this chapter provides an overview about the existing knowledge aiming to include the most important original literature and reviews. The book chapter is based on the review of (Schmitt et al., 2014a), however, it is significantly broadened to cover the fields that were not mentioned in (Schmitt at al., 2014a).

2. Generation, Decay and Deleterious Action of ROS

The interaction between chlorophyll triplets (³Chl) and triplet ground state of molecular oxygen (${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$): ${}^{3}Chl + {}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2} \rightarrow {}^{1}Chl + {}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ is the predominant reaction forming singlet oxygen (${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$) in photosynthetic organisms (see Figure 1). ${}^{3}Chl$ is populated either via intersystem crossing (ISC) of antenna Chls or via radical pair recombination in the reaction centers of photosystem II (PSII) (for reviews, see (Renger, 2008; Rutherford et al., 2012)). Alternatively, ROS can also be formed by direct reduction of oxygen, most probably at PS I and by controlled chemical reactions, which play an essential role in programmed cell death upon pathogenic (e.g. viral) infections. The general water-water cycle which is mostly responsible for the subsequent formation of $O_{2}^{-\bullet}$ or HO_{2}^{\bullet} , $H_{2}O_{2}$ and HO^{\bullet} is shown in Figure 2.

Under optimal conditions, only small amounts of ROS are generated in different cell compartments. However, exposure to stress can lead to a drastic increase of ROS production and sometimes to inhibition of cell defense systems (Desikan et al., 2001; Nishimura and Dangl, 2010). As a consequence of unfavorable conditions, oxidative stress is developed due to the generation of ROS via both the sensitized ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ formation and the reductive pathways leading to production of $O_{2}^{-\bullet}$, H₂O₂ and HO[•] radicals (see Figure 2).

Rapid transient ROS generation can be observed and is called "oxidative burst" (Bolwell et al., 2002). In this case, a high ROS content is attained within time periods from several minutes up to hours. Oxidative bursts occur during many plant cell processes, especially photosynthesis, dark respiration and photorespiration.

Studies using advanced imaging techniques, e.g. a luciferase reporter gene expressed under the control of a rapid ROS response promoter in plants (Miller et al., 2009), or a new H_2O_2 /redox state-GFP sensor in zebrafish (Niethammer et al., 2009; see chapter 4, "Monitoring of ROS"), revealed that the initial ROS burst triggers a cascade of cell-to-cell communication events that result in formation of a ROS wave. This wave is able to propagate throughout different tissues, thereby carrying the signal over long distances (Mittler et al., 2011). Recently, the auto-propagating nature of the ROS wave was experimentally demonstrated. Miller et al. (Miller et al., 2009) showed by local application of catalase or an NADPH oxidase inhibitor that a ROS wave triggered by different stimuli can be blocked at distances of up to 5-8 cm from the site of signal origin. The signal requires the presence of the NADPH oxidase (the product of the **RbohD** gene) and spreads throughout the plant in both the upper and lower directions.

The lifetime of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ in aqueous solution is about 3.5 µs (Egorov et al., 1989). On the other hand, the lifetime is significantly shortened in cells due to the high reactivity of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$, which rapidly attacks all relevant biomolecules (pigments, proteins, lipids, DNA), thus leading to serious deleterious effects. Values in the order of 200 ns were reported for ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ in cells (Gorman and Rogers, 1992) so that the species can diffuse up to 10 nm under physiological conditions (Sies and Menck, 1992), thus permitting penetration through membranes (Schmitt et al., 2014a). Distances up to 25 nm have been reported (Moan, 1990) suggesting that ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ can permeate through the cell wall of E. coli. The singlet oxygen chemistry significantly depends on the environment, solvent conditions and the temperature (Ogilby and Foote, 1983). Higher values of up to 14 µs lifetime and 400 nm diffusion distance in lipid membranes suggest that $^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ can indeed diffuse across membranes of cell organelles and cell walls (Baier et al., 2005). But as most proteins are prominent targets (Davies, 2003) with reaction rate constants in the range of 10^8 - 10^9 M⁻¹s⁻¹ the potential of $^1\Delta_{e}O_2$ to work directly as a messanger is rather limited (Wilkinson et al., 1995). Among the canonical amino acids, only five (Tyr, His, Trp, Met and Cys) are primarily attacked by a chemical reaction with ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$, from which Trp is unique by additionally exhibiting a significant physical deactivation channel that leads to the ground state

 ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$ in a similar way as by quenching with carotenoids. The reaction of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ with Trp primarily leads to the formation of peroxides, which are subsequently degraded into different stable products. One of these species is N-formylkynurenine (Gracanin et al., 2009). This compound exhibits optical and Raman spectroscopic characteristics that might be useful for the identification of ROS generation sites (Kasson and Barry, 2012). The reactivity of Trp in proteins was shown to markedly depend on the local environment of the target (Jensen et al., 2012). Detailed mass spectrometric studies revealed that a large number of oxidative modifications of amino acids are caused by ROS and reactive nitrogen species (Galetskiy et al., 2011).

The wealth of studies on damage of the photosynthetic apparatus (PA) by ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ under light stress and repair mechanisms is described in several reviews and book chapters on photoinhibition (Li et al., 2012; Vass and Aro, 2008; Adir et al., 2003, Allakhverdiev and Murata, 2004; Nishiyama et al., 2006; Murata et al., 2007; Li et al., 2009; Goh et al., 2012, Allahverdiyeva and Aro, 2012). Such high reactivity leads to an extensive oxidation of fundamental structures of PS II where oxygen is formed in the water-oxidizing complex. ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ is directly involved in the direct damage of PS II (Mishra et al., 1994, Hideg et al., 2007; Triantaphylidès at al., 2008; Triantaphylidès at al., 2009; Vass and Cser, 2009), destroying predominantly the D1 protein, which plays a central role in the primary processes of charge separation and stabilization in PS II. The resulting photoinhibition of PS II (Nixon et al., 2010) leads to dysfunction of D1 and high turnover rates during the so called D1-repair cycle. D1 by far exhibits the highest turnover rate of all thylakoid proteins and underlies complex regulatory mechanisms (Loll et al., 2008).

Carotenoids play a pivotal role in ³Chl suppression and quenching (Frank et al., 1993; Pogson et al., 2005). In addition, NPQ developed under light stress also reduces the population of ³Chl in antenna systems as well as PSII of plants (Ruban et al., 1994; Härtel et al., 1996; Carbonera et al., 2012) (see chapter 3). The interaction between ¹ Δ_g O₂ and singlet ground state carotenoids does not only lead to photophysical quenching, but also to oxidation of carotenoids by formation of species that can act as signal molecules for stress response (Ramel et al., 2012). Likewise, lipid (hydro)peroxides generated upon oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by ¹ Δ_g O₂ can act as triggers to initiate signal pathways, and propagation of cellular damage (Galvez-Valdivieso and Mullineaux, 2010; Triantaphylides and Havaux, 2009). Detailed studies of the damage of the PA by ¹ Δ_g O₂ are additionaly found in (Li et al., 2012; Allakhverdiev and Murata, 2004; Allakhverdiyeva and Aro, 2012; Goh et al., 2012; Wakao et al., 2009; Nishiyama at al., 2006). Among all ROS, the O_2^{-}/H_2O_2 system is one of the key elements in cell signaling and other plant functions (see Figure 1). O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 are assumed to initiate reaction cascades for the generation of "secondary" ROS as necessary for long-distance signaling from the chloroplasts to or between other cell organelles (Baier and Dietz, 2005; Sharma et al., 2012; Bhattacharjee, 2012).

The initial step in formation of redox intermediates of the H₂O₂/O₂ system in all cells is the one-electron reduction of O₂ to $O_2^{-\bullet}$ (see Figure 2). $O_2^{-\bullet}$ and H₂O₂ are mainly formed in chloroplasts, peroxisomes, mitochondria and cell walls (Bhattacharjee, 2012). Enzymatic sources of $O_2^{-\bullet}$ / H₂O₂ generation have been identified such as cell wall-bound peroxidases, aminooxidases, flavin-containing oxidases, oxalate and plasma membrane NADPH oxidases (Bolwell et al., 2002; Mori and Schroeder, 2004; Svedruzic at al., 2005). In particular, sources of ROS in the apoplast are oxidases bound to the cell wall, peroxidases, and polyamino oxidases (Minibayeva et al., 2009b, Minibayeva et al., 1998).

The major source of O_2^-/H_2O_2 production in chloroplasts is the acceptor side of photosystem I (PS I) (Asada, 1999; Asada, 2006). The exact mechanism of O_2 reduction is still a matter of discussion. It was assumed that O_2 mainly is reduced by transfer of electrons from reduced ferredoxin (Fd) to O_2 via ferredoxin-thioredoxin reductase (Gechev et al., 2006) although this assumption was challenged since a long time (Asada et al., 1974; Goldbeck and Radmer, 1984). New findings showed that reduced Fd was only capable of low rates of O_2 reduction in the presence of NADP⁺ with contribution to the total O_2 reduction not exceeding 10% (Kozuleva and Ivanov, 2010; Kozuleva et al., 2014). NADPH oxidase (NOX) is considered to be involved into ROS production both in animal and plant cells (Sagi and Fluhr, 2001; Sagi and Fluhr, 2006) according to the reaction NADPH + 2 $O_2 \rightarrow$ NADPH⁺ + 2 O_2^{--} + H⁺.

Under conditions of limited NADPH consumption due to impaired CO₂ fixation rates via the Calvin-Benson cycle in photosynthetic organisms, some components of the electron transport chain (ETC) will stay reduced and can perform ${}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}O_{2}$ reduction to $O_{2}^{-\bullet}$. It is suggested that H₂O₂ formation takes place in the plastoquinone (PQ) pool, but with a low rate (Ivanov et al., 2007), studies on mutants of **Synechocystis** sp. PCC 6803 lacking phylloquinone (**menB** mutant) show the involvement of phylloquinone in O₂ reduction (Kozuleva et al., 2014).

Recent literature suggests very short lifetimes for O_2^{-1} radicals in the μ s regime (1 μ s half-life is published in (Sharma et al., 2012), while 2-4 μ s are found in (Gechev et al., 2006) - which is about one order of magnitude longer than that of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_2$ (vide supra). O_2^{-1} radicals are rapidly transformed into H_2O_2 via the one-electron steps of the dismutation reaction catalyzed by

the membrane-bound Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase (SOD) (see Figure 2) (Asada, 1999; Asada, 2006).

Three forms of SODs exist in plants containing different metal centers, such as manganese (Mn-SOD), iron (Fe-SOD), and copper-zinc (Cu/Zn-SOD) (Bowler et al., 1992; Alscher et al., 2002), from which Cu/Zn-SOD is the dominant form. The non-enzymatic $O_2^{-\bullet}$ dismutation reaction is very slow (Foyer and Noctor, 2009; Foyer and Shigeoka, 2011). Earlier literature suggested generally a low reactivity of $O_2^{-\bullet}$ radicals indicating that the exact mechanisms of the $O_2^{-\bullet}$ reaction pathways in living cells might need further elucidation (see Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1985 and references therein). In earlier studies, Halliwell (Halliwell, 1977) pointed out that $O_2^{-\bullet}$ is a moderately reactive nucleophilic reactant with both oxidizing and reducing properties. The negative charge of the $O_2^{-\bullet}$ radical leads to an inhibition of its electrophilic properties in presence of molecules with many electrons, while molecules with a low electron number might be oxidized. $O_2^{-\bullet}$ oxidizes enzymes containing [4Fe-4S] clusters (Imlay, 2003), while cytochrome c is reduced (Cord et al., 1977).

Among the amino acids, mainly histidine, methionine, and tryptophan can be oxidized by O_2^{-} (Dat et al., 2000). These radicals interact quickly with other radicals due to the spin selection rules. For example, superoxide interacts with radicals like nitric oxide and with transition metals or with other superoxide radicals (dismutation). As an example, Fe(III) is reduced by O_2^{-} , then H_2O_2 interacts with Fe²⁺ (Fenton reaction), in effect forming HO⁺, which is the most reactive species among all ROS (see also Figure 2). This reaction is particularly mentioned due to its importance for the generation of highly reactive HO⁺ from long-lived H_2O_2 which might act as long distance messenger. Further information about various reaction rate constants of O_2^{-} at different conditions, concentrations and pH are found in (Rigo et al., 1977; Fridovich, 1983; Löffler et al., 2007).

Within the chloroplasts, H₂O₂ is reduced to H₂O by ascorbate (Asc) via a reaction catalyzed by soluble stromal ascorbate peroxidase (APX) (Asada, 2006; Noctor et al., 1998) or APX bound to the thylakoid membrane (t-APX). As shown in Figure 3, the Asc oxidized to the monodehydroascorbate radical (MDHA) is regenerated by reduction of MDHA either directly by Fd or by NAD(P)H catalyzed by MDHA reductase (MDHAR). The MDHA radical always decays partially into dehydroascorbate (DHA), which is reduced by DHA reductase (DHAR). In that step, reduced glutathione (GSH) is oxidized to glutathione disulfide (GSSG). The reduction of GSSG to GSH occurs from NAD(P)H by glutathione reductase (GR) (Noctor and Foyer, 1998; Asada, 2006).



Figure 3. Scheme of pseudocyclic "H₂O-H₂O" electron transport (for details, see text)

The result of the reaction sequence of O_2 reduction to $O_2^{-\bullet}$ at the acceptor side of PS I, followed by dismutation of $O_2^{-\bullet}$ by SOD, and the reduction of H_2O_2 by t-APX is the reduction of one O_2 molecule to two H_2O molecules. This four-electron reduction process counterbalances the oxidation of two H_2O molecules to one O_2 molecule at the donor side of PS II so that no net change in the overall turnover of O_2 is obtained, as is schematically illustrated in Figure 3. Therefore, this "water-water cycle" is referred to as pseudocyclic electron transport (for details, see (Foyer and Shigeoka, 2011; Asada, 1999; Asada, 2006)). It has to be kept in mind that this pseudocyclic electron transport can be coupled to the formation of a transmembrane pH difference, ΔpH .

Figure 2 indicates that H_2O_2 could also be generated by oxidation of two H_2O molecules. In fact, formation of H_2O_2 has been reported to take place at a disturbed water-oxidizing complex (WOC) under special circumstances (Ananyev at al, 1992; Klimov et al., 1993; Pospisil, 2009). However, under physiological conditions, this process is negligible if taking place at all. Accordingly, H_2O_2 production at PS II occurs via the reductive pathway at the acceptor side under conditions where the PQ pool is over-reduced (Ivanov et al., 2007).

 H_2O_2 is the ROS with the longest lifetime, which is in the order of 1 ms (Henzler and Steudle, 2000; Gechev and Hille, 2005). This is mostly supported as the molecule is neutral and therefore can pass lipophilic regions of the cell especially membranes including water channels like aquaporins (Bienert et al., 2007). Therefore, it can travel over large distances and play a central role in signaling of stress (see chapter 5 ff., "Signaling").

Even at high light, no substantial amounts of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ and $H_{2}O_{2}$ are accumulated, when the electron flow through the pseudocyclic ETC (vide supra) increases and sufficient amounts of NADP⁺ are present in the cell. At high light intensity and conditions of saturating CO₂ assimilation, the rate of electron flow increases. This leads to its redistribution, i.e. the rate of electron flow to NADP⁺ decreases and, concomitantly, the rate of electron transfer through the pseudocyclic electron transport increases (Asada, 1999).

 H_2O_2 can also participate in the control of ${}^1\Delta_gO_2$ formation, when an excess of H_2O_2 induces oxidation of the primary electron acceptor of PS II, thus leading to activation of the electron transport. As a result, production of ${}^1\Delta_gO_2$ is diminished due to reduced probability of ³Chl population. Accordingly, pseudocyclic electron transport can function as a relaxation system to permit a decline of ${}^1\Delta_gO_2$ generation (Galvez-Valdivieso and Mullineaux, 2010). Such effects can result in autoinhibited reaction patterns and lead to spatiotemporal osciallations of the ROS distribution e.g. ROS waves.

The steady-state level of cellular H_2O_2 depends on the redox status of the cell (Karpinski et al., 2003; Mateo et al., 2006). Light-induced ROS generation in plants is mainly determined by the physiological state of the PA (Foyer and Shigeoka, 2011; Asada, 1999). Under physiological conditions, the H_2O_2 content in the cell is usually less than 1 μ M. At elevated concentration, H_2O_2 inhibits several enzymes by oxidative cross-linking of pairs of cysteine residues. At about 10 μ M, H_2O_2 inhibits CO₂ fixation by 50%, which is mainly due to the oxidation of SH groups of Calvin cycle enzymes (Foyer and Shigeoka, 2011).

 H_2O_2 can block the protein synthesis in the process of PS II repair (Nishiyama et al., 2001; Nishiyama et al., 2004; Nishiyama et al., 2011; Murata et al., 2012). This effect of H_2O_2 has been analyzed in the cyanobacterium **Synechocystis** sp. PCC 6803. It was shown that the translation machinery is inactivated with the elongation factor G (EF-G) being the primary target (see chap. 5.1). Due to that oxidation the protein de novo synthesis is completely blocked via the stop of protein translation. This process has been studied in deep detail and it is understood today mainly as a protective mechanism that avoids an expensive **de novo** synthesis of proteins in a highly oxidizing environment. Further details on this general type of H_2O_2 signalling are found in chapter 5 (signalling).

Elimination of H_2O_2 is tightly associated with scavenging of other ROS in plant cells. Both, H_2O_2 production and removal are precisely regulated and coordinated in the same or in different cellular compartments (Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Karpinski et al., 2003; Mateo et al., 2006; Ślesak et al., 2007; Pfannschmidt et al., 2009). The mechanisms of H_2O_2 scavenging are regulated by both, non-enzymatic and enzymatic antioxidants. The biological toxicity of H_2O_2 appears through oxidation of SH groups and can be enhanced, if metal catalysts like Fe²⁺ and Cu²⁺ take part in this process (Fenton reaction) (see above and Figure 2). The enzyme myeloperoxidase (MPO) can transform H_2O_2 to hypochloric acid (HOCl), which has high reactivity and can oxidize cysteine residues by forming sulfenic acids (Dickinson and Chang, 2011):

HOCl (enzyme MPO) \leftarrow H₂O₂ \rightarrow H₂O (catalase, peroxidase) \downarrow Fe²⁺, Cu²⁺ [HO].

Thus, H₂O₂ takes part in formation of reactive species like HO' via several pathways.

Both O_2 and H_2O_2 are capable to initiate the peroxidation of lipids, but since HO is more reactive than H_2O_2 , the initiation of lipid peroxidation is mainly mediated by HO (Bhattacharjee, 2012; Miller et al., 2009).

Different defense systems have been developed to protect cells from deleterious effects of ROS. The underlying response mechanisms are either leading to diminished generation or enhanced scavenging of ROS. **De novo** synthesis of antioxidant enzymes (SOD, catalase, ascorbate peroxidase, glutathione reductase) and/or activation of their precursor forms take place and low-molecular antioxidants (ascorbate, glutathione, tocopherols, flavonoids) are also accumulated (Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Hung et al., 2005).

The antioxidant defense system contains many components (Pradedova et al., 2011). Essentially, three different types are involved: i) systems/compounds preventing ROS generation, primarily by chelating transition metals which catalyze HO[•] radical formation, ii) radical scavenging by antioxidant enzymes and metabolites, and iii) components involved in repair mechanisms. Treatment of mature leaves of wheat plants with H_2O_2 was shown to activate leaf catalase (Sairam and Srivasteva, 2000).

The HO[•] radical is the most reactive species known in biology. HO[•] is isoelectronic with the fluorine atom and characterized by a midpoint potential of + 2.33 V at pH 7 (for comparison, the normal reduction potential of fluorine is + 2.85 V). In cells, the extremely dangerous HO[•] radical can be formed by reduction of H₂O₂ via the Haber-Weiss reaction (Haber and Weiss, 1934) catalyzed by Fe²⁺ (Kehrer, 2000). HO[•] radicals immediately attack proteins and lipids in the immediate environment of the site of production, thus giving rise to oxidative degradation (Halliwell, 2006). Cells cannot detoxify HO[•] radicals and, therefore, a protection can only be achieved by suppression of H₂O₂ formation in the presence of Fe²⁺ using metal

binding proteins like ferritins or metallothioneins (Hintze and Theil, 2006). On the other hand, HO[•] radicals can be produced in programmed cell death as part of defense mechanisms to pathogenic infections (Gechev et al., 2006).

It has to be mentioned that the HO[•] radical is not the only possible product of the reaction between H_2O_2 and Fe^{2+} . New calculations on the electronic structure and **ab initio** molecular dynamics simulations have shown that the formation of the ferri-oxo species $[Fe^{IV}(O^{2-})(H_2O)_5]^{2+}$ is energetically favored by about 100 kJ/mol compared to the generation of the HO[•] radical (Yamamoto et al., 2012). Therefore, in future mechanistic studies, the species $[Fe^{IV}(O^{2-})(H_2O)_5]^{2+}$ should be taken into account for mechanistic considerations on the oxidative reactions of H_2O_2 in the presence of Fe^{2+} .

3. Non-photochemical Quenching in Plants and Cyanobacteria

Due to its important role in ROS surpression, non-photochemical quenching (NPQ) in plants and cyanobacteria has to be mentioned. During evolution, cyanobacteria and plants have developed various mechanisms of acclimation, in particular regulatory pathways for defense to stress induced by unfavorable environmental factors. These defense mechanisms include the decrease of the rate of ROS generation, the increase of the rate of ROS scavenging, the acceleration of the repair of damaged cell structures but also the important mechanisms of NPQ of superfluous excitation energy by carontenoids (Cars) or other NPQ mechanisms.

Photosynthetic organisms have evolved quite different mechanisms for sensing of light and response to stress, which operate in markedly different time domains and light intensities. The fastest response is the annhibitation process of excess energy in light harvesting systems dur to processes of non-photochemical quenching (NPQ) and the induction of NPQ processes due to acidification of the thylakoid lumen by formation of a transmembrane pH difference (Δ pH). This effect is designated qE (for review, see (Ruban et al., 2012)). A regulation of excitation energy funnelling to PS I and PS II in oxygen-evolving organisms occurs via a phenomenon designated "state transitions" which comprises reversible phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of light harvesting complexes II (see (Iwai et al., 2010) and references therein). For an analyse of the hierarchy of light induced kinetic steps in the PS II by measurement of single flash induced transient quantum yield and modelling with a PS II reaction scheme see also (Belyaeva et al., 2008, Belyaeva et al., 2011, Belyaeva et al., 2014) and references therein. The relative content of different ROS depends on the mode of stress. For example, high light stress primarily leads to ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$, while chilling or drought stress affect the rate of CO₂ fixation via the Calvin-Benson cycle (Calvin, 1989; Benson, 2002), thus resulting in a retardation of electron transfer through the linear electron-transport chain (ETC) and over-reduction of many components of the ETC (Asada, 1999; Foyer and Noctor, 2005). Then, even under comparatively "normal" high light conditions, the excitation energy absorbed by the Chl molecules is not completely depleted by the photochemical quenching processes, which results in a rise of Chl fluorescence and increased risk of formation of excited Chl triplet states and subsequent generation of ROS (see Figure 1). Therefore, various mechanisms of NPQ are triggered, for example the light-induced and pH-dependent xanthophyll cycle (Härtel et al., 1996; Demmig-Adams et al., 2008; Wilson et al., 2010; Boulay et al., 2010, Stadnichuk et al., 2013) or the the PsbS subunit of PSII in higher plants, which is an independently evolved member of the LHC protein superfamily acting as a luminal pH sensor (Niyogi et al., 2013; Schmitt et al., 2014b).

In this context, the large ΔpH across the thylakoid membrane (with acidic luminal pH) that builds up under extreme light due to the limited capacity of the F₀F₁-ATPase system is the most immediate biochemical signal for triggering NPQ mechanisms, and it is responsible for the most rapidly responding energy-(ΔpH)-dependent NPQ component (Schmitt et al., 2014b; Müller et al., 2001; Szabo et al., 2005). At acidic luminal pH, the pH-sensing PsbS protein of plants undergoes conformational changes (Bergantino et al., 2003) and most likely triggers a rearrangement of PSII supercomplexes in grana (Müller et al., 2001). NPQ is induced by reducing the semi-crystalline ordering and increasing the fluidity of protein organization in the membrane (Goral et al., 2012).

Low lumenal pH also triggers the xanthophyll cycle (Härtel et al., 1996; Demmig-Adams et al., 1996) by activating of pH-dependent xanthin deepoxidases. In the violaxanthine cycle of plants and green or brown algae, the violaxanthin deepoxygenase converts violaxanthin via antheraxanthin to xeaxanthin, whereas diatoms and many eucaryotic algae perform the diadinoxanthin cycle. Xanthin deepoxygenases associate with thylakoid membranes at low pH to act on their substrate (Müller et al., 2001). The mechanism by which zeaxanthin deactivates excited Chl molecules more efficiently than violaxanthin is still not completely understood. All carotenoids with more than ten conjugated C=C bonds have an excited singlet S1 state low enough to accept energy from excited Chl. However, the S1 state cannot be populated by one-photon absorption, but it can be reached upon rapid internal conversion from the S2 state. In vitro determination of the energy levels of the S1 state of zeaxanthin and violaxanthin showed

that both pigments have an S1 state suitable for direct quenching of excited Chl through singletsinglet energy transfer. Experimental evidence suggests that violaxanthin is implicated in direct quenching of LHCII, since its particularly short fluorescence lifetime of 10 ps was found in femtosecond transient absorption experiments in intact thylakoids.

Cyanobacteria contain the photoswitchable orange carotenoid protein (OCP) containing 3'-hydroxyechinenone as cofactor (Wilson A. et al., 2008; Wilson et al., 2010; Boulay et al., 2010, Stadnichuk et al., 2013, Kirilovsky and Kerfeld, 2013; Maksimov et al., 2014a; Maksimov et al., 2015). The fluorescence decay curves of phycobilisomes (PBS) interacting with activated OCP are characterized by short decay components with (170 ps)⁻¹ at strongest NPO by OCP. PBS, which are strongly interacting with OCP, are lacking excitation energy transfer to the terminal emitter of the PBS antennae indicating that OCP quenches mainly the transfer from allophycocyanin in the PBS (Maksimov et al., 2014a). This fact was interpreted as intermolecular interaction between the OCP and its binding site in the PBS core induced by blue light. Detailed spectroscopic studies and investigations of OCP mutants unraveled most probable H-bonds between two residues, Trp-298 and Tyr-203 and an oxygen localized at the beta-ring of 3'-hydroxyechinenone as the most important interaction to stabilize the orange form of OCP. Light absorption and switching into the red form releases these bonds which leads to major structural changes and a red shift of the echinenone absorption spectrum. Binding of OCP in its red form to the PBS core and the resulting spatial proximity and spectral resonance then efficiently quenches the excited states in the PBS antenna (Kirilovsky and Kerfeld, 2013; Leverenz at al., 2014; Maksimov et al., 2015).

Conclusively, Cars play a pivotal role (for reviews on the key role of Cars in photosynthesis, see (Frank and Gogdell, 1993; Polivka and Sundström, 2004, Pogson et al., 2005) for NPQ developed under light stress (for reviews, see (Ruban et al., 2012)) thus effectively reducing the population of ³Chl in antenna systems as well as PS II of plants (Carbonera et al., 2012). Cars, in addition, act as direct ROS scavengers. The interaction between ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ and singlet ground state Cars does not only lead to photophysical quenching, but also to oxidation of Cars by formation of species that can act as signal molecules for stress response (Ramel et al., 2012).

Conformational changes of pigment-protein complexes are typically induced under high light conditions leading to the depletion of excited singlet states by internal conversion and interaction with quenching groups in the protein backbone. Recently, such conformational changes were artificially introduced by freezing of PBS of cyanbacteria and it was shown that this can reduce the fluorescence quantum yield of the PBS by 90 % (Maksimov et al., 2013).

Light harvesting complexes containing phycobiliproteins are not prone to triplet formation since phycocyanobilins (linear tetrapyrrols) do not undergo inter-system crossing. Therefore, PBS must not necessarily be quenched by carotenoids at high light conditions. Instead of this also decoupling mechanisms can occur that have been extensively studied for PBS and the rod-shaped phycobiliprotein antenna of the cyanobacterium A. marina including the EET processes on a molecular level (Schmitt et al., 2006; Theiss et al., 2008; Theiss et al., 2011; Schmitt, 2011). It was found that the phycobiliprotein antenna of A. marina decouples from the PSII under cold stress (Schmitt et al., 2006).

To assess the state of the PA and in mechanisms of NPQ in PS II under stress, the methods of variable and delayed fluorescence are often applied that allow the determination of important parameters from fluorescence induction curves, such as F_v , F_m , F_0 reflecting: a) the amount of photochemical quenching; b) the amount of nonphotochemical quenching and c) the yield of constant fluorescence, independent from photochemical reactions (as described in Keslavski et al., 2013a). The ratio (F_v/F_m) reflects the quantum efficiency of PS II in leaves and photosynthesizing cells.

In some cases, however, this ratio is not suitable for assessment of the stress state of the PA. For example (Liu et al., 2009) investigated the heterogeneity of PS II in the soybean leaves. Heterogeneity was changed, whereas the F_v/F_m ratio remained identical for all stress (heat) treatments.

Another parameter, which may be calculated from the fluorescence induction curves, is the photochemical quantum yield of PS II, which characterizes the state of the PA in leaves adapted to light. This parameter allows evaluation of the effectivity of PS II under physiological conditions and appears to be more sensitive to many types of stressors, than the fluorescence ratio of F_v/F_m (Strasser et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2009). Coefficients of photochemical and nonphotochemical quenching and the size of light-harvesting antennae of PSII during the stress conditions are calculated from such data.

The methods for assessment of photosynthetic activity and stress acclimation of PA in cyanobacteria and symbiotic microalgae have some specificity and are described in details in (Biel et al., 2009).

Fluorescence methods (variable fluorescence and delayed fluorescence of Chl a) were successfully used to demonstrate that PAHs negatively influence the activity of PS II (Marwood et al., 2001; Kummerova et al., 2006, 2007, 2008), in particular decreasing the number of active reaction centers (Singh-Tomar and Jajoo, 2013). It is suggested that the negative influence of PAHs on PS II of leaves is linked to the generation of oxidative stress in chloroplasts. The

method of delayed light emission was recently successfully applied to detect effects of several PAHs on PS II photochemistry also (Kreslavski et al., 2014b).

Lately, a measurement of the induction curves of the photoinduced increase in Chl fluorescence (OJIP) is becoming a popular tool in studies of photosynthesis, since this increase is very sensitive to environmental stresses such as heat (Strasser, 2000).

In spite of the historically successful applications of OJIP curves as transient photoinduced Chl fluorescence the method of thermoluminescence is adequate for a detailed characterization of the PS II state of both acceptor and donor side and detecting early stress symptoms (Gilbert et al., 2004; Maslenkova, 2010). It is known that the temperature range of the thermoluminometer not only allows to analyze the different thermoinduced radical pair recombination of PS II in the lower temperature region but also chemiluminescence from lipid peroxidation in the higher temperature region. Thus, both the extend of oxidative stress and photochemical activity in plant cells and leaves can be assessed by fast method without using any chemicals.

The analysis of the prompt fluorescence kinetics of Chl a yields information about EET in antenna complexes and charge separation and ET steps leading to the formation of the radical ion pairs P680^{+•} Phe^{-•} and P680^{+•} Q_A^{-•} in PS II. Monitoring of the light-induced changes of the relative fluorescence quantum yield gives information about the processes of ET to the secondary plastoquinone acceptor Q_B of PS II. It is therefore of high interest, to analyse both simultaneoulsy, prompt fluorescence kinetics with sub-ns resolution and flash induced transient fluorescent yield changes with μ s resolution simultaneously, in order to analyse EET and primary ET steps in the PS II together with formation and decay of fluorescence quenchers or chemical sensitizers like ROS. The technique described above would be well suited to permit this novel means of biophysical experimentation, and thus provide unprecedented information on the functional properties of biological systems.

A detailed description of Chl a fluorescence as a reporter of the functional state of the PS II is found in (Papageorgiou and Govindjee, 2005). In the following chapter we focus on the direct monitoring of ROS in plant tissue.

4. Monitoring of ROS

In plant cells, ROS are produced in different organelles, predominantly in chloroplasts and peroxisomes, while the contribution from mitochondria is smaller (Foyer and Noctor, 2005).

Imaging of oxidative stress in leaves of Arabidopsis thaliana revealed that ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ and $O_{2}^{-\bullet}$ are primarily located in mesophyll tissues, while H₂O₂ was predominantly detected in vascular tissues (Fryer et al., 2002).

The simultaneous formation of several ROS complicates analyses on formation, decay and degradation action of individual species, e.g. ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ versus $H_{2}O_{2}/O_{2}^{-\bullet}$. Therefore, suitable species-specific probes are required to monitor the different ROS molecules. In the following, methodologies will be briefly summarized, with especial emphasis on application to cellular systems according to Schmitt et al., 2014a.

Another important approach to study effects of different ROS next to the selection of special assay conditions is given by the use of mutant strains that differ in the generation of individual ROS and/or the content of protection systems/enzymes. This point is of high relevance for studies on specific signaling pathways (see chap. 5 "Signaling of ROS").

 ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ can be directly monitored via its characteristic phosphorescence with a maximum around 1270 nm (Wessels and Rodgers, 1995) and even singlet oxygen microscopy within the visible spectrum has been reported (Snyder et al., 2004). However, the detection of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ concentration and their time-dependent profiles in biological systems is difficult (for a discussion, see Li et al., 2012), because of the very low quantum yield of the emission, which ranges from 10⁻⁷ to 10⁻⁴ depending on the solvent (Schweitzer and Schmidt, 2003). Therefore, detailed analyses require the use of suitable probe molecules, which specifically change their properties due to reaction with ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$. Likewise, the detection of other ROS (H₂O₂/O₂^{-•}) also needs the use of appropriate indicators.

Essentially, two types of probe molecules can be distinguished for monitoring of ROS: spin traps, which interact with ROS giving rise to EPR-detectable species (Hideg et al., 1994; Hideg et al., 2011; Zulfugarov et al., 2011), and fluorophores, which change their emission properties due to interaction with ROS (vide infra).

The use of fluorophores offers a most promising tool because it permits the application of recently developed advanced techniques of time- and space-resolved fluorescence microscopy for in vivo studies (see (Shim et al., 2012; Schmitt et al., 2013) and references therein).

Two different approaches can be used: a) addition of exogenous fluorescence probes, which penetrate into the cell and change their fluorescence properties due to reaction with ROS, and b) expression of ROS-sensitive fluorescent proteins, mostly variants of the green fluorescent protein (GFP), which act as real-time redox reporters for the use in intact cyanobacteria, algae and higher plants (Schmitt et al., 2014a).

4.1. Exogenous ROS Sensors

Table I gives an overview on exogenous fluorophores that typically change their emission properties due to interaction with ROS.

Since exogenous dyes typically respond in a certain oxidative potential range, appropriate mixtures can permit assays that are selective in a certain range of oxidative potentials (e.g. when both dyes show fluorescence or only one dye shows fluorescence, but the other not). These assays are more selective than those utilizing just a single dye.

In principle, permeability across membranes is necessary for the applicability of exogenous ROS-sensing fluorophores (table 1). For a quantitative analysis, it is necessary to know the reaction mechanism in detail, as well as possible interfering side effects and the cellular localization of these dyes. Generally, the water/octanol partition coefficient could be utilized to quantify membrane permeability of the probes.

Some of these ROS probes can be tuned regarding their properties inside the cell by enzymatic reactions. For instance, the commercially available 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate, acetyl ester (H₂DCF-DA), a fluorescein-based dye, which is virtually non-fluorescent in the reduced state, becomes fluorescent after oxidation and concomitant splitting of the acetate groups by cellular esterases as 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCF). H₂DCF-DA is widely used in (nonphotosynthetic) animal cells.

Figure 4 illustrates the application of CM-H₂DCFDA in monitoring the development of ROS production upon exposure of CHO cells to 440-480 nm light in phosphate buffered saline (PBS). After staining the cells with CM-H₂DCFDA, the fluorescence of the indicator strongly rises upon illumination of the cells with light of 440 nm – 480 nm wavelength due to the light-induced production of ROS and subsequent photooxidation in presence of oxidative compounds. It can be seen that after 6 sec, the lower cell has a higher cytosolic redox potential (higher fluorescence yield) than the upper two cells that show a less intense luminescence. On the other hand, these cells exhibit white "dots" indicating "hot spots" of accumulated DCF and/or higher local ROS activity (Schmitt et al., 2014a).

CM-H₂DCFDA is sensitive to ROS only in the living cell environment (in vivo) which enables the generation of dyes not only sensitive to ROS but also indicating that the ROS are produced inside the cell. Such studies are necessary especially to avoid side effects due to generation of ROS by the applied dyes, monitoring of ROS outside the cells in solution due to inspecific localisation and/or photoxidation of the dye by illumination (Vitali, 2011; for a detailed description see also Dixit and Cyr, 2003).

Compound / reference	Specificity Further information / localizability
CM-H2DCFDA	Unspecific
(Dixit and Cyr, 2003)	Permeates into animal cells, requires the presence of cellular
	esterases. Not easily applicable in plants
Singlet oxygen sensor green	Highly specific to singlet oxygen.
(SOSG) (Flors et al., 2006)	Successfully used for detection of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ in A. thaliana leaves
3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB)	Specific to H_2O_2 in presence of peroxidase (and other haem-
(Thordal-Christensen et al.,	containing proteins).
1997; Fryer et al., 2002)	Generates a dark brown precipitate which reports the presence
	and distribution of hydrogen peroxide in plant cells. Permeates
	into plant cells.
Aminophenyl fluorescein	APF is a cell permeable indicator that can be used to
(APF)	detect hydroxyl radicals (HO [•]), peroxynitrite (ONOO ⁻) and
	hypochlorite (OCl ⁻) production in cells. Shows limited
	photoxidation (see section "reactive oxygen species" in
	http://www.interchim.fr/cat/ApoptosisAssays)
hydroxyphenyl fluorescein	Specific to hydroxyl radical and peroxynitrite. Minor sensitivity
(HPF)	to other ROS. HPF is cell permeable (see section "reactive
	oxygen species" in
	http://www.interchim.fr/cat/ApoptosisAssays)
nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT)	Specific to superoxide and with slightly reduced reactivity to
(Maly et al., 1989; Thordal-	hydrogen peroxide
Christensen et al., 1997)	
Proxyl fluorescamine	Specific to hydroxyl radicals and superoxide
(Cohn et al., 2008)	Complementary use as spin trap
Hydroethidine	Unspecific
(dihydroethidium)	Binds specifically to DNA, marking the nucleus
(Gomes et al., 2005)	
DPPP (diphenyl-1-	Unspecific Lipophilic, detects ROS in lipids, blood plasma,
pyrenylphosphine)	tissues and food
(Gomes et al., 2005)	
MCLA (2-methyl-6-(4-	Specific to superoxide or singlet oxygen (see section "reactive
methoxyphenyl) -3,7-	oxygen species" in
dihydroimidazo[1, 2-a]	http://www.interchim.fr/cat/ApoptosisAssays)
pyrazin-3-one, hydrochloride)	
(Godrant et al., 2009)	
Irans-1-(2'-	Highly specific to singlet oxygen (see section "reactive oxygen
wietnoxyvinyi)Pyrene	species in http://www.interchim.fr/cat/ApoptosisAssays)

 Table 1. Compilation of ROS-sensitive exogenous fluorescence probes

DCF can be used in plant cells of A. thaliana leaves for measuring the ROS production (mainly H_2O_2) upon illumination with UV-A. Figure 5 shows the highly fluorescent DCF after incubation of leaves of A. thaliana to PBS containing 500 μ M H₂DCFDA. The leaves were exposed to H₂DCFDA solution for 1-2 h before starting the UV-A irradiation experiments. It can be seen that after irradiation with 360 nm UV-A light at an intensity of 250 W/m² for 10 minutes areas which contained microscopic damages exhibit strong DCF emission (Figure 5, left panel) while

the Chl a emission at 680 nm appears reduced in the same areas (middle panel) due to photobleaching. The simultaneous reduction of the Chl a fluorescence together with enhanced DCF fluorescence becomes evident in the overlay image (Figure 5, right panel) where Chl a emission is recolored in red and DCF in green. DCF studies together with observation of Chl a bleaching show the interaction of ROS and Chl a (Kreslavski et al., 2013b).



Figure 4. Increase of DCF fluorescence due to ROS production upon exposure of Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells to 440-480 nm light. The image shows the ROS content by intensity of the emission of DCF in three different cells



Figure 5. Fluorescence of a section of a 26-d-old A. thaliana leaf. The fluorescence was emitted from 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCF) (excited at $\lambda_m = 470$ nm) after irradiation of the leaf with UV-A (360 nm; I – 250 Wm⁻²) registered at 530 nm (left panel) in comparison to the Chl a fluorescence at 680 nm (middle panel). The overlay shows both (right panel) after recoloration

Incubation of A. thaliana leaves in a PBS buffer with a final apparent concentration of the polyaromatoic hydrocarbon (PAH) naphthalene (Naph) of 100 mg Γ^1 showed severe damage of the cell membrane upon illumination with UV-A as shown in Figure 6. Similar results were obtained for pea leaves (Kreslavski et al., 2014b). UV-radiation in combination with toxic compounds like PAHs lead to generation and accumulation of ROS as it can be nicely imaged with DCF.



Figure 6. DCF fluorescence in leaves of A. thaliana incubated with Naph during illumination with UV-A

In leaves of A. thaliana treated with Naph, ROS waves with a temporal frequency of 20 minutes and a "wavelength" of several hundreds of micrometers were observed (Figure 7). Such a behavior is in line with wave-like closure and opening of stomata as observed in green plants under stress conditions.

In pea leaves the reduction of PSII activity at the presence of Naph is accompanied by transient generation of H_2O_2 as well as swelling of thylakoids and distortion of cell plasma membranes (Kreslavski et al., 2014b). It could be shown that Naph-treated leaves of Arabidopsis thaliana show enhanced DCF fluorescence in the cell membrane. The comparison of short term and long term exposure to different PAHs revealed that at short term exposure, the PAHs with high water solubility lead to the strongest reduction of PS II activity while after long term exposure the effect of PAHs with low water solubility is stronger.

While fluorescent ROS-sensing dyes respond to their target molecules without further spectroscopic signal structure, which impedes the selectivity of the otherwise highly sensitive fluorescence technique, the detection of the electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) with spin traps enables a more selective technique for ROS monitoring. Since some ROS species are radicals, the application of spin traps appears sound to focus on spin-carrying ROS. Therefore, spin traps are widely applied to EPR-detectable ROS species like superoxide and hydroxyl radicals (Hideg et al., 1994; Hideg et al., 1998; Hideg et al., 2000; Zulfugarov et al., 2011). Fluorescent spin traps for ROS detection like DanePy which is quenched in presence of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ are suitable for an optical measurement of the interaction between ROS and spin trap molecules (Hideg et al., 1998, Hideg et al., 2000; Hideg et al., 2001).

The detection of ROS in cyanobacteria faces additional difficulties because their accessibility to EPR and fluorescent spin traps is limited. An alternative technique is chemical trapping by ROS scavengers like histidine. Recently, it was shown that chemical trapping by

histidine is suitable to monitor singlet oxygen generation in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 (Rehman et al., 2013).



Figure 7. Temporal intensity variation of the DCF fluorescence emitted from a single cell of A.thaliana after incubating the leaves with Naph and illuminating with UV-A over 45 minutes

4.2. Genetically Encoded ROS Sensors

Fluorescence proteins, in particular the green fluorescent protein (GFP) and its variants are widely used tools to study a large variety of cellular processes (Tsien, 2008). They are used as novel biosensors for the local chemical environment in cells and cell organelles. Highly resolved fluorescence nanoscopy (Klar et al., 2000; Westphal et al., 2005) was boosted by the development of photo-switchable derivatives of GFP (Andresen et al., 2005; Andresen et al., 2007; Hofmann et al., 2005; Dedecker et al., 2007, Eggeling et al., 2007; Brakemann et al., 2011).

To exploit the potential of GFP for sensing the local chemical matrix, extensive studies have been undertaken to develop GFP-based in vivo sensors by targeted mutations and generalized approaches like directed evolution. The optical properties of these biosensors depend on selective binding of protons, oxygen atoms, water molecules and/or cofactors or are induced by electron transfer (Heim et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1996; Brakemann et al., 2011; Kremers et al., 2011).

Compound	Specificity
	Further information / localizability
DMPO	Spin trapping of ${}^{1}O_{2}$, superoxide and hydroxyl radicals,
(Davies, 2002)	Transient EPR spectra specific for trapped radicals but
	spontaneous decay of DMPO-superoxide adduct with 45
	sec. half lifetime
alpha-phenyl N-tertiary-butyl	EPR spectra rather unspecific for trapped radicals.
nitrone (PBN) (Davies, 2002)	
3,5-Dibromo-4-	Used for H ₂ O ₂ sensing, specific EPR spectra
nitrosobenzenesulfonic acid	
(DBNBS) (Davies, 2002)	
5-Diisopropoxyphosphoryl-5-	
methyl-1-pyrroline-N-oxide	Used in mitochondria, strongly applied for detecting
(DIPPMPO)	superoxide
(Zoia and Argyropoulosm,	
2010)	
TEMPO-9-AC	Fluorogenic spin trap specific for hydroxyl radicals and
(Cohn et al., 2008)	superoxide
BODIPY® 665/676	sensitive fluorescent reporter for lipid peroxidation
(Pap et al., 1999)	
DanePy	Specific to ¹ O ₂
(Hideg et al., 1998, Hideg et	Fluorescent spin trap - Fluorescence is quenched in
al., 2000)	presence of ¹ O ₂

Table 2. Spin traps suitable for imaging ROS

Fluorescent proteins which are sensitive to the microenvironment like pH (Hanson et al., 2002; Miesenböck et al., 1998; Bizzarri et al., 2009; Campbell et al., 2001), ROS (Ostergaard et al., 2001; Schwarzländer et al., 2009; Belousov et al., 2006) or NADH (Hung et al., 2011) are used as standard tools for the selective imaging of physiological parameters and their dynamics. GFP can directly be targeted or fused to specific target proteins for precise sub-cellular localization and analysis in vivo. Genetically encoded ROS sensors are one approach to overcome problems regarding the specificity of localization of the applied dyes, Often the GFP-based ROS sensor variants contain pairs of redox-active cysteines forming a disulfide bridge as

redox switch. These proteins can be selectively expressed as fluorescence markers, fused to specific target proteins or to organelle-specific targeting sequences, thus enabling a specific and localized monitoring (and manipulation) of ROS at a molecular level (for a review, see Swanson et al., 2011).

Progress in engineering of ROS-sensitive fluorescence proteins led to the development of several derivatives of GFP containing the mentioned redox-active cysteins forming a disulfide bridge as redox switch (Jimenez-Banzo et al, 2001). One example is roGFP (Hanson et al., 2004; Schwarzländer et al., 2008). Derivatives of the yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) have also been described, which are modified by introduction of redox-active cysteins in constructs termed rxYFP¹⁴⁹₂₀₂ (Ostergaard et al., 2001) or HyPer (Belousov, 2006). Chromophore transformations in red-fluorescent proteins offer tools for designing suitable red-shifted probes, which are advantageous for imaging studies due to the strong absorption in the green spectral range, in which chlorophylls exhibit only very low absorption. Excitation with longer wavelengths also leads to reduced autofluorescence (for a review, see (Subach and Verkusha, 2012)).

The disulfide bridge in the oxidized rxYFP leads to a distortion of the typical beta-barrel structure of GFP derivatives, thus changing the fluorescence properties of rxYFP (Ostergaard, 2012). The mitochondrially-targeted redox sensitive GFP termed roGFP-mito does not specifically react in response to a certain species of ROS, but it is used to selectively label mitochondria in plants (Schwarzländer et al., 2009).

In an alternative approach, the H_2O_2 -sensitive probe HyPer was constructed by fusing the regulatory domain of the H_2O_2 -sensitive transcription factor OxyR from E. coli to a cyclically permuted YFP (Belousov, 2006). For applications of the genetically encoded ROS sensors in studies on ROS effects, see (Maulucci et al., 2008; Meyer and Dick, 2010; Mullineaux and Lawson, 2008).

Table 3 gives an overview on genetically encoded fluorescence proteins and their basic properties of selectivity and applicability in plants.

The application of fluorescence markers for ROS sensing is generally complicated by photobleaching. In addition, fluorophores often act as ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ sensitizers themselves (see chapter 4.3). This problem is especially important for GFP derivates as ROS sensors. However, the generation of new GFP mutants that produce reduced amounts of ROS is a promising approach to overcome this problem, which again votes for the importance of developing improved genetically encoded fluorescence proteins for ROS sensing for future studies.

For investigations on ROS production and the effects of ROS species on cells or their constituents, a technique is desirable that enables controlled species-specific ROS production with high spatial precision and - ultimately - confined to distinct protein targets within a living cell.

Compound / reference	Specificity
	Further information / localizability
rxYFP (Ostergaard et al., 2001)	Unspecific
roGFP (Schwarzländer et al.,	Unspecific, applied to label plant mitochondria
2008; Schwarzländer et al., 2009)	
HyPer (Belousov et al., 2006)	H ₂ O ₂ sensitive by fusing the regulatory domain of the
	H ₂ O ₂ -sensitive transcription factor OxyR to YFP,
	not yet expressed in plant cells
GFP redox sensor (Niethammer et	Specific to H ₂ O ₂ , successfully applied in Zebrafish larvae
al., 2009)	to detect H ₂ O ₂ patterns after wounding

 Table 3. Genetically encoded fluorescence proteins applicable for ROS monitoring

A novel approach that applies targeted production of ROS for selective inactivation of certain proteins by spatially-confined ROS generation is chromophore-activated laser inactivation (CALI).

CALI utilizes the general feature of fluorescent dyes to serve as ROS sensitizers, albeit they do so with variable species specificity and efficiency. As examples, two applications for CALI are listed. In the first, malachite-green-conjugated antibodies directed against purified proteins in solution or in cell membranes were used, and the protein-inactivating effect was initially thought to be due to localized heat generation in the vicinity of the chromophore (Jay, 1988). However, later reports showed that inactivation was due to the production of hydroxyl radicals with a radius for half-maximal damage of about 15 Å (Liao et al., 1994). Unfortunately, this approach is not suited to specifically attack protein targets in living cells. Cellular applications of CALI have greatly benefited from the availability of genetically-encoded chromophores such as the GFP and its spectral variants, which can act as ROS sensitizers (Jimenez-Banzo et al., 2008). ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ production has been shown to occur from eGFP (Jimenez-Banzo et al., 2008) and TagRFP (Ragas et al., 2011), albeit with a low quantum yield of about 0.004. In contrast, KillerRed, which was developed from a non-fluorescent jellyfish red chromoprotein (Bulina et al., 2006), was shown to exhibit a more than 1,000-fold enhanced phototoxicity compared to eGFP, and has successfully been used in CALI applications (Baumgart et al., 2012). Furthermore, chemical conjugation schemes were developed that allow for site-specific fluorescence labeling at cysteins by sulfhydryl coupling chemistry. A different labeling scheme utilizes short peptide motifs like the tetra-Cys motif CCxxCC that allows for the coupling of fluorescein (or resorufin) biarsenical hairpin reagents (FlAsH-EDT2 and ReAsH-EDT2, respectively) (Griffin et al., 1998; Griffin et al., 2000). Whereas unbound FlAsH-EDT2 or ReAsH-EDT2 are only very weakly fluorescent (Griffin et al., 2000; Madani et al., 2009), binding of the compounds to tetra-Cys motif-containing proteins results in the generation of fluorescent dithioarsolan-protein complexes. Since the biarsenical reagents are membrane-permeant, they can even be employed for intracellular protein labeling. In addition to their wide-spread use as labeling reagents for in vivo fluorescence imaging microscopy, biarsenical hairpin reagents have also been successfully used for CALI applications.

It has been shown that ReAsH is a better ROS sensitizer than FlAsH, produces ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ within 3 nm precision (Tour et al., 2003), and thus efficiently inactivates proteins within an action radius of a few nm. This has been utilized to inactivate heterologously expressed connexin43, a constituent of gap junctions, and L-type Ca²⁺ channels, each endowed with a tetra-Cys-motif, with high spatial precision and efficiency in living cells (Tour et al., 2003). Also in this case, the CALI effect has been traced to ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$. Thus, the application of CALI, either with fluorescent proteins as ROS sensitizers or with the help of cell-permeant biarsenical hairpin reagents, will provide excellent means for the species- and target-specific monitoring of ROS and of ROS-induced signaling or protein repair pathways in photosynthetic organisms. Successful visualization of FlAsH-EDT₂- and ReAsH-EDT₂-labeled peptides in higher plants has been reported (Estevez and Somerville, 2006), but the potential of the CALI technique for plant cell research has not been exploited so far.

The elucidation of mechanistic details of ROS regulation pathways in plants will provide a framework for the elaboration of new strategies and methods for achieving the goal of improved stress tolerance of agricultural and industrial crops.

5. Signaling Role of ROS

During evolution ROS was steadily forming a constraint for the development of stable systems as living plants that had to adapt to the environment in an ideal fashion. Therefore in billions of years of evolutionary acclimation not only the damaging effects of ROS were defeated but ROS developed a strong signaling role as the trigger mechanism for the processes that help to acclimatize to high ROS levels or even need ROS as cofactors. ROS have not only damaging but also a signaling role (Hung et al., 2005; Mubarakshina et al., 2010; Zorina et al., 2011; Kreslavski et al., 2012b, Kreslavski et al., 2013a). Figure 8 gives a general overview on the molecular generation and signaling of ROS and the acclimation of the photosynthetic aparatus (PA) (Zorina et al., 2011). The response of cells starts with the perception of stress by sensors or the response of sensors to ROS that are formed under stress conditions (Kanesaki et al., 2010).

Typically, cascades of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), other transcription factors (TFs), Ca²⁺, phytohormones and other compounds function as sensors and/or transducers (Kaur and Gupta, 2005; Jung et al., 2009). In the following, characteristic examples will be described for the signaling action of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$, H₂O₂ and O ${}^{-\bullet}_{2}$ in cells, seperatly discussed for cyanobacteria (chap. 5.1) and plants (chap. 5.2).

Detailed studies of such systems have been conducted in cyanobacteria. Especially, the important aspects of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide signaling in cyanobacteria is treated separately (chap. 5.1). As mentioned above, cyanobacteria serve as efficient models for studying the molecular mechanisms of stress responses. The genes of these cells can be easily knocked out or overexpressed which permit strightforward approaches to investigate the genetic aspects of signaling. This enabled the intensive studies of the potential stress sensors and signal transducers in cyanobacteria (Los et al. 2010; Kanesaki et al., 2010; Zorina et al., 2011, Kreslavski et al., 2013a).

Resulting from a long evolutionary adaption process, systems of perception and transduction of stress signals as well as the hormonal regulation system (see Figure 8) work in close coordination. Their interaction was fine-tuned during billions of years of evolution.

In the cytoplasm of plant cells, low temperature, drought and salinity cause an increased concentration of Ca^{2+} . In this case, calcium channels may serve as multifunctional sensors that perceive stress-induced changes in the physical properties of cell membranes (see Figure 8). The discovery of such multifunctional sensory systems is important to understand perception and transmission of stress signals. Apparently, changes in membrane fluidity, regardless of the nature of the stress effect are a signal that is perceived by sensory histidine kinases or ion channels localized in the membranes (Zorina et al., 2011; Kreslavski et al., 2013a).

It is known that ROS are produced in all cell compartments and their formation is necessary for the functioning of photosynthetic organisms (Suzuki and Mittler 2006). Certain ROS are considered as signaling molecules and regulators of expression of some chloroplast and nuclear genes (Schmitt et al., 2014a; Kreslavski et al., 2013a; Minibayeva et al. 1998; Minibayeva and Gordon, 2003; Desikan et al., 2001, 2003; Hung et al., 2005; Galvez-Valdivieso and Mullineaux, 2010; Mubarakshina et al., 2010; Dickinson and Chang, 2011). A new view on the effects of ROS as signaling molecules first appeared in the study of hormone signaling and the regulation of expression of genes involved in plant protection from pathogen infections (Chen et al., 1993; Pei et al., 2000), conditions under which interactions of ROS with salicylic acid and nitric oxide play a crucial role in regulation of the response to infection (Wilson I.D. et al., 2008; Kreslavski, 2013a; Vallad and Goodman, 2004).

One of the key points in understanding of the effect of ROS on photosynthesis was the discovery of the formation of the superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide in the pseudo-cyclic electron transport (See Figure 3), which does not lead to the reduction of NADP⁺, but to the absorption of O_2 (Asada, 1999). In addition, it was shown that the activation of plasma membrane redox-systems and the increased formation of ROS in the apoplast is one of the universal reactions of plant cells to stress (Kreslavski et al., 2013a; Minibayeva et al., 1998, 2009; Minibayeva and Gordon, 2003; Dickinson and Chang, 2011).

It was found that the main generators of ROS in the apoplast of root cells are the cell wall peroxidases (Minibayeva et al., 2009; Minibayeva and Gordon, 2003). Apparently, the release of ROS from cells followed by a switch of peroxidase/oxidase modes of extracellular peroxidases form the basis for the fast response of plant cells to stress.

In addition to ROS, the stress signaling functions may be attributed to some metabolites, whose formation is initiated by ROS, for example, the products of lipid peroxidation (LP) (see Figure 8). The primary subjects for peroxidation in living cells are unsaturated fatty acids that constitute major components of phospho- and glycolipids of biological membranes.

ROS regulate the processes of polar growth, the activity of stomata, light-induced movement of chloroplasts and plant responses to the action of biotic and abiotic environmental actors (Pitzschke and Hirt, 2006; Miller et al., 2007; Swanson and Gilroy, 2010).

Signaling by ROS may be realized through changes in potential of the redox-sensitive cell systems and through phosphorylation/dephosphorylation cycles of signaling proteins (transcription factors, etc). The accumulation of redox-active compounds such as ROS within the chloroplast is associated with the rate of photosynthetic electron transport. Redox-sensitive thioredoxin or PQ may act as sensors of changes in redox properties under stress conditions (Figure 3). Signals generated from modulation in the activity of ETC may also lead to changes in gene expression (Vallad and Goodman, 2004).

Although many things have been ruled out form the mechanisms of action of ROS as signal molecules, there are still many gaps in understanding the complete network of these regulatory

events. The sensor(s) of H₂O₂ in higher plants remain largely unknown (Galvez-Valdivieso and Mullineaux, 2010; Mubarakshina et al., 2010; Kreslavski et al., 2012b). There is no information about specific proteins that convert a signal about an increase in the intracellular ROS levels to a biochemical response in the cells. It is not known exactly which particular ROS play a signaling role in the chloroplast and other cellular compartments and how different signaling pathways respond to an increase in the level of different types of ROS. Knowledge of the mechanisms of regulation of these signaling pathways may help to construct biochemical pathways and to produce genetically engineered plants with enhanced stress resistance.



Figure 8. Scheme for perception and transduction of stress signals and formation of ROS as signal molecules for genetic signaling supporting the acclimation of cells to stress conditions (adapted from Zorina et al., 2011)

High light, especially high doses of UV-A or UV-B lead to the damage of the PA. Plastoquinones (the primary and secondary plastoquinone, Q_A and Q_B, respectively) as well as the D1 and D2 proteins are amongst the primary targets of UV radiation (Strid et al., 1994; Babu
et al., 1999; Asada, 2006; Carvalho et al., 2011). The Mn_4CaO_5 cluster of PSII is also vulnerable to damage by UV irradiation (Najafpour et al., 2013). However, UV light-induced damage can also depend on the additional interaction with light in the visible region. Or – more generally spoken – the light induced signaling after interaction of visible light with certain sensors leads to the activation of protection mechanisms agains UV-A and UV-B.

Red light (RL) of low intensity can alleviate the negative effect of UV radiation on plants and their PA (Lingakumar and Kulandaivelu, 1993; Qi et al., 2000, 2002; Biswal et al., 2003; Sicora et al., 2003; Kreslavski et al., 2012a,b; Kreslavski et al., 2013a,b,c; Kreslavski et al., 2014a,b). Recent studies have shown that low intensity RL pulses activate the phytochrome system, which triggers protective mechanisms against UV-radiation (Kreslavski et al., 2013a,b). However, many details of this protective action of RL acting via the phytochrome system on PA have not been clarified so far.

The phytochrome system plays an important role in plant growth and PA development. This concept is in agreement with recent studies on mutant Arabidopsis strains with deficiencies in different types of phytochromes, which demonstrated that deletion of phytochromes is critical for plant development (Strasser et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2013). Even if light capable of driving photosynthesis is available, normal seedling greening and plant development is impossible if phytochromes are absent (Strasser et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2013). The effects of phytochrome deficiency on photosynthetic parameters have been investigated in previous studies, including the impact on PSII activity (Kreslavski et al., 2013b) and Chl (a+b) content (Strasser et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2013).

Protective effects against UV are caused by the RL-induced formation of the far-redabsorbing active form of phytochrome and/or enhancement of phytochrome biosynthesis as a result of RL illumination (Kreslavski et al., 2012a, 2013b, c). It was suggested that this protective effect is due to decreased Chl degradation and higher stability of the PSII, as well as higher photochemical activity and a reduced damage of thylakoid membranes (Lingakumar and Kulandaivelu, 1993; Biswal et al., 2003; Kreslavski et al., 2004). On the other hand, a decreased phytochrome level can reduce the resistance of the PA. For example, hy2 mutants of Arabidopsis show a decreased level of PhyB and other pytochromes due to reduced biosynthesis of the phytochrome chromophore, phytochromobilin (Parks and Quail, 1991). This hy2 mutant also showed decreased UV-A resistance of PSII, as determined from delayed luminescence emission (Kreslavski et al., 2013b). It was also shown that the resistance of PA in Arabidopsis WT increased after preillumination with RL, whereas in the hy2 mutant the PSII resistance to UV-A did not change upon the same treatment. It was suggested that the PA resistance to UV radiation depends on the ratio of pro- and antioxidant compounds, which can be affected by PhyB and other phytochromes (Kreslavski et al., 2013b). The role of different phytochromes for the UV resistance of PSII has not been studied so far.

PhyB, one of the key phytochromes in green plants, is involved in the synthesis of photosynthetic pigments, chloroplast development (Zhao et al., 2013), as well as in the synthesis of some photosynthetic proteins and stomatal activity (Boccalandro et al., 2009). It is also known that an increased PhyB content can enhance the resistance of the photosynthetic machinery to environmental stress (Thiele et al., 1999; Boccalandro et al., 2009; Carvalho et al., 2011; Kreslavskii et al., 2012a,c; Kreslavskii et al. 2004, 2013b,c). In particular, transgenic cotton plants, in which the phytochrome B (PhyB) gene of Arabidopsis thaliana was introduced, showed more than a two-fold increase in the photosynthetic rate and more than a four-fold increase of PhyB content in transgenic potato plants (Dara-5 and Dara-12), which are superproducers of PhyB, led to enhanced resistance of the PA to high irradiance (Thiele et al., 1999). It can be suggested that the increased resistance results from higher Chl content or enhanced stomatal conductance.

Today it is well established that ROS exert important functions in signaling pathways within the cells of both plants and animals. The mode of signaling under the participation of ROS depends on the nature of stress. In response to different types of stress, ROS can act in a dual manner: a) by functioning as signal molecules which induce molecular, biochemical, and physiological responses leading to development of adaptive mechanisms and improving the tolerance of the organisms to stress (acclimation) or b) by inducing reaction sequences that eventually cause programmed cell death (Galvez-Valdivieso and Mullineaux, 2010; Mittler et al., 2011; Vranova et al., 2002; Kreslavski et al., 2007; Jaspers and Kangasjärvi , 2010; Los et al., 2010; Kreslavski et al., 2011).

In general, significant differences exist in the response to abiotic (light, draught, cold, heat etc.) and biotic (infection by viruses and bacteria) stress. This includes also the type of ROS molecules involved. In case of abiotic stress, ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ is often formed in addition to $O_{2}^{-\bullet}$ and $H_{2}O_{2}$, while biotic stress mainly leads to enzymatic generation of $O_{2}^{-\bullet}$ and $H_{2}O_{2}$ which are used as a defense mechanism against biotic stress (Laloi et al., 2004). Different types of ROS give rise to specific signaling, as has been shown in animal cells (Klotz et al., 2003).

ROS have several advantages in acting as signal molecules (Miller et al., 2009; Mittler et al., 2011): i) Cells are able to rapidly generate and scavenge different forms of ROS in a simultaneous manner, thereby permitting rapid response to stress. ii) The subcellular localization of ROS signals can be strongly controlled within cells, i.e. a spatial control of ROS accumulation

exists in a highly specific manner. iii) ROS can be used as rapid long-distance auto-propagating signals to be transferred throughout the plant, as recently reported for Arabidopsis thaliana, in which ROS signals propagate at rates of up to 8.4 cm/min (Miller et al., 2009, Schmitt at al., 2014a). iv) ROS are tightly linked to cellular homeostasis and metabolism.

Most probably, the mechanism of stromatal closure and it spatiotemporal patterns result from an underlaying ROS signaling mechanism. Therefore, it is proposed that ROS are implemented in very general signaling schemes that influence the expression of genes and consequently the molecular biology of green plants. Additionally, ROS are responsible for macroscopic long range effects that are directly observable on the cellular level like stromatal closure. It is a trigger for adaption of the whole cell metabolism and, in case of biotic stress, actively produced with respect to long range interaction as found for $O_2^{-\bullet}$ and H_2O_2 (in contrast to singlet oxygen which has a much shorter lifetime) to be used as oxidizing defense molecules against the biotic stressors.

A comparison with ROS signaling in animal cells revealed that the communication of mitochondria in heart cells occurs via ROS-induced waves. An abrupt collapse or oscillation of the mitochondrial energy state is assumed to be synchronized across the mitochondrial network by local ROS-mediated interactions (Zhou et al., 2010; Zhou and O'Rourke, 2012). This model is based on the idea that a depolarization of the electrical potential difference across the coupling membrane is specifically mediated by $O_2^{-\bullet}$ via its diffusion and the $O_2^{-\bullet}$ -dependent activation of an inner membrane anion channel, in agreement with experimental data. This mode of a ROS-induced ROS release mechanism in animal cells can also be used in plants for propagation of cell-to-cell ROS signaling over long distances (Miller et al., 2009; Mittler et al., 2011).

The concept of a transient ROS burst occurring in selected cells can be further extended to the more general concept of a ROS wave propagating in time and space as response to different types of stress (Schmitt et al., 2014a).

5.1. Signaling by Superoxide and Hydrogen Peroxide in Cyanobacteria

Various mechanisms are involved in the signal function of ROS. At first, ROS-induced modifications of proteins can lead to changes of either structure or activity or both, in particular via oxidation of thiol groups.

Illustrative examples are the suppression of CO_2 fixation and the blockage of the elongation factor EF-G in cyanobacteria and iron-containing clusters in enzymes (Spadaro et al., 2010). The oxidation of EF-G represents a rather general signaling scheme. Such a reaction chain as

represented by the EF-G oxidation can be understood as a chemical inactivation process that is switched on and off by the oxidative potential. High oxidative potential in cyanobacteria leads to the oxidation of the two residues 105Cys and 242Cys in EF-G, and subsequent formation of a disulfide bridge between the two cysteine residues blocks the elongation of translation (Kojima et al., 2007). Replacement of these conserved cysteine residues by serine makes EF-G insensitive to ROS (Kojima et al., 2009). The mechanism of translation blockage under the influence of oxidative stress via post-translational redox regulation of the elongation factor state is a universal way of cell protection against ROS. Thus, EF-G is a primary target for ROS action and a key regulator of the translation efficiency (Nishiyama and Allakhverdiev, 2011; Murata et al., 2012).

This H_2O_2 -induced blockage of the translation machinery interrupts the repair of photodamaged PS II, thus eventually leading to the disappearance of PS II and, consequently, the interruption of the linear electron transport chain. Studies on the effect of other stress factors (heat, drought, salinity) on photoinhibition have shown that the suppression of PS II repair determines the PS II sensitivity of cyanobacteria to environmental conditions (Allakhverdiev and Murata, 2004; Murata et al., 2007; Nishiyama and Allakhverdiev, 2011; Murata et al., 2012).

The two Cys residues oxidatively linked to an S-S bridge by H_2O_2 are highly conserved in EF-G of cyanobacteria and of chloroplasts in algae and higher plants. Therefore, it seems very likely that ROS induces similar effects in the chloroplasts of plant cells. The translation of the D1 protein in chloroplasts is also regulated by redox components at both initiation and elongation steps (Zhang et al., 2000). A marked difference to cyanobacterial D1 is the possibility to phosphorylate D1 in plants. This property permits a regulation process of the circadian rhythm of degradation and metabolism. In this context, it is important to know the extent of how ROS affect the phosphorylation pattern of D1 in plants. This question remains to be answered in future studies.

Depending on the lifetime, different types of ROS molecules can either directly act as signal molecules or generate signal chains by formation of oxidation products (e.g. LP, see Figure 8).

It must be emphasized that fundamental differences exist between prokaryotic cyanobacteria and eukaryotic plants. In cyanobacteria, the photosynthetic and respiratory electron transport reactions take place in the intracytoplasmic (thylakoids) and cytoplasmic membrane, respectively, and close interactions exist between both photosynthesis and respiration (Peschek, 2008). On the other hand, eukaryotic plant cells contain semi-autonomous organelles (chloroplasts, mitochondria, peroxisomes, nucleus) with specific functional activities. This differentiation requires a more complex signaling system for "cross-talk" between these organelles. As a consequence, the mechanisms of "handling" stress-induced ROS and the modes

of protection are markedly different between cyanobacteria and plants, and even within the plant kingdom. Therefore, a generalized and unified scheme cannot be presented ate the moment and only selected characteristic examples of signaling are presented.

In cyanobacteria and plants, the $O_2^{-\bullet}$ radical is predominantly produced at the acceptor side of PS I (Asada, 1999). The lifetime of $O_2^{-\bullet}$ is mainly determined by the presence of SOD and does not exceed a few microseconds in cells (Gechev et al., 2006). The signaling function of $O_2^{-\bullet}$ has been investigated by analyses of gene expression using DNA microarrays (Scarpeci et al., 2008) and studies on $O_2^{-\bullet}$ accumulation in plants deficient in Cu/Zn-SOD (Rizhsky et al., 2003). The results are in favor of a signaling role of this radical but details of the pathway(s) are not well known today.

 $O_2^{-\bullet}$ can react with NO under formation of peroxinitrite. This species is likely to be synthesized in chloroplasts, where it can fulfill signaling functions (Foyer and Shigeoka, 2011). Under normal pH conditions, $O_2^{-\bullet}$ is deprotonated in animal cells (pH = 7.4 in blood cells) due to its pK_a value of 4.8. However, at sufficiently low pH values (e.g. sometimes existing in the thylakoid lumen, see Joliot and Joliot, 2005), $O_2^{-\bullet}$ anion radicals become protonated and the neutral hydroperoxyl radical (HO₂[•]) can cross membranes (Sagi and Fluhr, 2006) (see chapter 2).

The formation of H_2O_2 occurs mainly via the formation of $O_2^{-\bullet}$ followed by SODcatalyzed dismutation (Asada, 1999; Asada, 2006) and in the process of photorespiration (Foyer and Noctor, 2009) (see Figure 2). H_2O_2 is markedly less reactive than ${}^1\Delta_gO_2$ (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1985) (see chap. 2) and characterized by a much longer lifetime in the order of 1 ms (Henzler and Steudle, 2000; Gechev and Hille, 2005). Therefore, H_2O_2 is a most promising candidate to function as an intra- and intercellular messenger (Vranova et al., 2002; Hung et al., 2005; Bienert et al., 2007; Foyer and Shigeoka, 2011; Mittler et al., 2011). Numerous results on H_2O_2 signaling were reported for both, prokaryotic cyanobacteria and eukaryotic plants.

Eubacteria, including cyanobacteria, actively use characteristic two-component systems of signal perception and transduction (Kreslavski et al., 2013a).

Such two-component regulatory systems are typically composed of a sensory histidine kinase (Hik) and a response regulator form the central core of the phosphate signaling system in cyanobacteria (Los et al., 2010; Kreslavski et al., 2013a). The sensory histidine kinase perceives changes in the environment with its sensory domain. A subsequent change of its conformation often leads to autophosphorylation of the conservative histidine residue in a Hik from a donor ATP molecule from which a phosphate group is then transferred to the conserved aspartate in a

receiver domain of the response regulator protein (RRP). After phosphorylation, the RRP also changes its conformation and gains (positive regulation) or looses (negative regulation) the ability to bind to DNA. The RRP usually binds the promoter region(s) of genes for proteins that are involved in the stress signal network or are linked to stress protection pathways (Kreslavski et al., 2013 a).

Hik33 of **Synechocystis** is the multisensory protein, which perceives cold, salt, and oxidative stresses. The mechanisms by which Hik33 recognizes the stresses are still not fully clear. It is assumed that changes in the physical mobility of membrane lipids and changes in the surface charge on the membrane, associated with changing mobility, are activators for Hik33. Activation may be also caused by depolarization of the cytoplasmic membrane upon cold stress or due to changes in charge density of the membrane surface under stress (Nazarenko et al., 2003; Kreslavski et al., 2013a).

Sensory histidine kinases are also important for the functioning of genes involved in photosynthesis and/or regulated by high light intensity. Experiments with the **Synechocystis** mutant deficient in Hik33 (this mutant is also named DspA, see Hsiao et al., 2004) revealed that low or moderate light intensity causes retardation in growth and decrease in photosynthetic oxygen evolution in mutant cells, compared to wild-type cells, under photoautotrophic conditions. The addition of glucose neutralized these differences. However, mutant cells were more sensitive to light intensity and quickly died under strong light (Hsiao et al., 2004; Kreslavski et al., 2013a).

The defense of bacteria against oxidative stress and adaptive regulation mechanisms have been thoroughly analyzed in Escherichia (E.) coli and Bacillus (B.) subtilis. In eubacteria (heterotrophic, autotrophic, and chemotrophic), two global regulators, OxyR and PerR, are involved in the control of gene transcription induced by H_2O_2 addition (Zheng et al., 1998) (see Figure 10). Both these regulators have active thiol groups and can directly recognize changes in the redox state of the cytoplasm. The ferric uptake repressor (Fur) type protein PerR was found to be the central regulator of inducible stress response (Herbig and Helmann, 2001; Mongkolsuk and Helmann, 2002). In the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, a gene (sr11738) encoding a protein similar to PerR was identified as being induced by H_2O_2 (Li et al., 2004) in methylviologen treated cells upon illumination (Kobayashi et al., 2004). It was concluded that the Fur-type protein Slr 1738 functions as a regulator in inducing the potent antioxidant gene sl11621, which encodes for a peroxiredoxin.

The regulator OxyR is absent in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803. Studies on Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 incubated for 20 min with 0.25 mM H_2O_2 proved how several histidine kinases can serve as H_2O_2 sensors (Kreslavski et al., 2013a). Mutations of genes Hik34, Hik16, Hik41,

and Hik33 encoding histidine kinases led to blockage of the H_2O_2 -induced gene expression (Zheng et al., 1998). Peroxidases were found to control 26 of 77 genes induced by H_2O_2 . The histidine kinase Hik34 was shown to regulate the expression of the gene htpG under oxidative stress. This kinase was characterized as regulator of gene expression due to heat (Suzuki et al., 2005), salt, and hyperosmotic stress (Shoumskaya et al., 2005). In addition, Hik34 is subjected to autoregulation in the presence of H_2O_2 . The pair of histidine kinases Hik16-Hik41 regulates the genes **\$I10967** and **\$I10939** with unknown functions not only in response to H_2O_2 but also under salinity and hyperosmotic stress. Hik33 controls 22 genes; among them are ndhD2 encoding NADH dehydrogenase, three hli (high-light-inducible) genes, pgr5 encoding ferredoxin-plastoquinone reductase, the genes nblA1 and nblA2 involved in phycobilisome degradation, and others.

It should be noted that ROS induce also the expression of the genes hspA, dnaJ, dnaK2, clpB1, ctpA and sigB. These genes were activated by mechanisms without the involvement of histidine kinases, although Hik34 is acting as repressor of genes encoding heat shock proteins (Zheng et al., 1998; Kanesaki et al., 2002; Suzuki et al., 2005; Los et al., 2010).

In addition to histidine kinases, the transcription factor PerR participates in the response of **Synechocystis** sp. PCC 6803 to ROS. PerR is involved in the regulation of only six genes, of which four encode proteins with unknown function. Based on evidence for both PerR and Hik33 being components in the control of the induction of nbl gene expression due to oxidative stress, it seems possible that PerR interacts with a two-component regulatory system (Zheng et al., 1998; Kanesaki et al., 2002; Suzuki et al., 2005; Los et al., 2010).

5.2. Signaling by ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ and Hydrogen Peroxide in Eucaryotic Cells and Plants

In plants cells, ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ is known to function predominantly as a plastid ROS signal which activates nuclear gene expression (Li et al., 2012). Because of its high reactivity, ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ has a very short lifetime in cells (about 200 ns (Gorman and Rodgers, 1992) and, consequently, a rather limited diffusion radius (for a report on markedly longer lifetime in cells, see (Skovsen et al., 2005)). Therefore, the involvement of additional components is required for signal transfer from the site of formation within the chloroplast through the cytosol to the nucleus, which is termed chloroplast-to-nucleus signaling (Kreslavski et al., 2012b, Schmitt et al., 2014a).

Generally like in canobacteria, so also in plants, two types of fundamentally different responses to ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ stress are known: i) development of increased tolerance and ii) induction of programmed cell death.

A ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ signaling pathway in C. reinhardtii was shown to give rise to gene expression that leads to increased tolerance to ROS (acclimation). This phenomenon comprises enhanced expression of genes for ROS protection and detoxification, e.g. of a glutathione peroxidasehomologous gene (gpxh/gpsx), and also the expression of a σ -class glutathione-S-transferase gene (gsts) greatly increases (Fischer et al., 2012). The effect on components participating in signaling was analyzed in a ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ -resistant mutant (SOR 1). The results obtained revealed the involvement of reactive electrophilic species that are formed by ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ -induced lipid peroxidation (Fischer et al., 2012). It was found that the SOR1 gene encodes a leucine zipper transcription factor, which controls the expression of numerous genes of stress response and detoxification. It was inferred from these results that reactive electrophilic species play a key signaling role in acclimation of C. reinhardtii cells to ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ stress (Kreslavski et al., 2012b).

In many cases, ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ signaling induces programmed cell death, in particular under biotic stress. Much information on the genetic control of this phenomenon has been gathered from investigations on the A. thaliana mutant flu1 which is defective in the feedback control of the This Chl biosynthesis pathway. mutant, which accumulates the photosensitizer protochlorophyllide in the dark, generates ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ within the first minute of illumination after a dark-to-light shift (op den Camp et al., 2003). The ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ formation taking place in the vicinity of the thylakoid membrane (Przybyla et al., 2008) can be manipulated by altering the degree of light exposure and the preceding dark period. In contrast to wild-type plants, the ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ production in flu1 is not associated with excess excitation of PSII (Mullineaux and Baker, 2010). The studies on the flu1 mutant revealed that ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ can trigger the activation of programmed cell death and that two chloroplast-located proteins, EXECUTER1 and 2 (EXE1 and EXE2), control this process (Przybyla et al., 2008; Wagner et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2007) (see Figure 12). EXE1 and EXE2 act as suppressors (Wagner et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2007), but their mode of function in signaling of the ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ -induced programmed cell death is not yet resolved.

As a consequence of the special mode of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ formation in the flu1 mutant, a cell death in their leaves can be induced either due to direct oxidative destruction (necrosis) under a large excess of ROS or at a slower rate of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ formation via signaling the activation of a programmed cell death pathway.

On the basis of data obtained on C. reinhardtii cells, ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ was inferred to be able to leave chloroplasts directly into the cytosol and even to reach the nucleus, thereby inducing the expression of nuclear gene gpxh, which encodes glutathione peroxidase (Fischer et al., 2007). Since the fraction of "mobile" ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ is extremely small, a direct effect of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ was manifested only under high light and so far observed only in cells of this microalga (Fischer et al., 2007). It appears much more likely that oxidation products of special molecules are formed, which act as second signal messengers and are transferred via the cytosol and to the nucleus. This idea is confirmed by experimental data obtained on both, cells of the unicellular green alga C. reinhardtii and multicellular leaves of the higher plant A. thaliana. In the latter, plant βcyclocitral was shown to be formed by the oxidation of β-carotene under ROS stress and identified as a stress signal that acts as a second messenger in ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ signaling (Ramel et al., 2012). Likewise, oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids due to interaction with ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ in the lipid fraction of thylakoid membranes leads to formation of reactive electrophilic species, which are able to exit into the cytosol (Galvez-Valdivieso and Mullineaux, 2010). Via autocatalytic cascades, lipoperoxide radicals can result in generation of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ in the cytosol (Flors et al., 2006) and trigger the EXE1/EXE2-mediated pathway of programmed cell death (Wagner et al., 2004).

The enzymatic peroxidation of lipids is catalyzed by lipoxygenases. These enzymes play an essential role in response to pathogen infection and wounding (Feussner and Wasternack, 2002; Overmyer and Brosché, 2003; Hoeberichts and Woltering, 2003). Specific lipoxygenase pathways lead to formation of lipoxide species which are likely to be different when induced by chemically different ROS like ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ versus $O_{2}^{-\bullet}/H_{2}O_{2}$. Studies on the flu1 mutant of A. thaliana revealed that 70 genes are up-regulated by ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ but not by $O_{2}^{-\bullet}/H_{2}O_{2}$, the latter being formed at PS I via the methylviologen mediation reaction (op den Camp et al., 2003).

The signaling pathway(s) of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ leading to cell apoptosis tightly interact(s) with other signaling pathways involving hormones and other ROS. The ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ species activates the signaling pathways controlled by salicylic and jasmonic acid resulting in changes of the expression of numerous genes which are related to anti-stress defense systems. An example of regulatory interaction is the decrease in cell injury and death induced by ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ due to its conversion into H₂O₂ (Laloi et al. 2007).

This effect is possible because the cell is able to scavenge ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ via the increase of the amount of lipid-soluble antioxidants and also the acceleration of reduction of photodamaged D1 protein in the PS II reaction center. This pathway counteracts cell apoptosis along the EXE1 and EXE2 pathways (Mullineaux and Baker 2010).



Figure 9. Cellular and physiological processes regulated by H_2O_2

 H_2O_2 stress in plants induces the expression of many chloroplast and nuclear genes (Figure 9) (Foyer and Noctor, 2009; Bechtold et al., 2008). It was found that several genes are down-regulated, while others are up-regulated (Vandenabeele et al., 2004). In particular, H_2O_2 was shown to activate several genes encoding antioxidant and signaling proteins: ascorbate peroxidase (APX), glutathione reductase, catalase, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), and phosphatases (see Figure 3, Figure 8 and Figure 12) (Mullineaux et al., 2000; Vranova et al., 2002). H_2O_2 of chloroplast origin can serve as a redox signal which triggers the expression of the gene encoding cytoplasmic APX2 (Davletova et al., 2005). Likewise H_2O_2 of extracellular/plasmamembrane origin has been shown to be important for APX2 expression (Bechtold et al., 2008; Galvez-Valdivieso et al., 2009). Furthermore, H_2O_2 is also involved in inducing the expression of some light-responsive genes.

Plant treatment with H_2O_2 stimulates the expression of the gene APX2 and of genes ZAT10 and ZAT12, which encode transcription factors (Davletova et al., 2005; Rossel et al., 2007). Both factors ZAT10 and ZAT12 mediate different subsets of the high light-inducible or - repressible gene set, including genes coding for APX2 and APX1, respectively.

It has been suggested that H_2O_2 molecules produced in the chloroplasts can exit the organelles by diffusion, likely via water channels (aquaporins), and induce signaling processes in the cytoplasm (Mubarakshina et al., 2010), i.e. triggering the MAPK cascade (Pfannschmidt et al., 2009), by which nuclear genes are activated in the cell, in particular the gene encoding cytoplasmic APX (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Yabuta et al., 2004; Vranova et al., 2012). H_2O_2 , produced on the cytoplasmic membrane or in the apoplast, can also play a signaling role, possibly by functioning together with abscisic acid (Bechtold et al., 2008; Yabuta et al., 2004).

A new genetic approach for analyzing the signaling effect of H_2O_2 in plants has been reported (Maruta et al., 2012). This method is based on chemically inducible RNAi. It has been shown that silencing the expression of ascorbate peroxidase bound to the thylakoid membrane (t-APX) in A. thaliana leaves leads to both, an increase of the fraction of oxidized proteins in chloroplasts and to effects on the expression of a large set of genes. Among these, the transcription levels of a central regulator of cold acclimation are suppressed and the levels of salicylic acid (SA) increase together with the response to SA. The results reveal synergistic and antagonistic effects of H_2O_2 , when chloroplasts are exposed to high light.

Another striking feature is the finding that growth of A. thaliana plants under short-day illumination gives rise to a diminished expression of several genes which are involved in sensing and hormone synthesis (Thimm et al., 2004). It was found that the level of ROS production is higher by a factor of about two in leaves from short-day (8 h light) tobacco than in leaves from long-day (16 h light) plants. Based on these results, an unknown regulatory protein was proposed to exist which changes the relative extent of cyclic and pseudo-cyclic photosynthetic electron transport, thereby affecting the ROS content in chloroplasts (Michelet and Krieger-Liszkay, 2012). These findings suggest that light sensor(s) participate in this phenomenon.

The expression of ROS sensitive genes was shown to depend on diurnal and circadian conditions, thus illustrating a role of the biological clock in transcriptional regulation of these genes. Likewise, H₂O₂ generation and scavenging exhibit a diurnal rhythm. These findings indicate that an important functional relation exists between ROS signaling and circadian output, which provides a mechanistic link for plant response to oxidative stress (Lai et al., 2012). The components involved and the underlying mechanism(s) of these mutual interactions of signal networks are not yet resolved and represent challenging topics for future research.

6. Light Induced ROS and Cell Redox Control and Interaction with the Nuclear Gene Expression

The discovery of multisensory systems is important for understanding the basic question how perception and transmission of stress signals operate in large cell cultures and tissue. Generally, this becomes more complicated in plants than in cyanobacteria. Apparently, changes in membrane fluidity, regardless of the nature of the stress effects, are a signal that is perceived by sensory histidine kinases or ion channels localized in the membranes. The ROS signals are transducued by rather macroscopic structures like membranes that regulate single molecules like Hik signaling directly to the molecular fundament of each cell, the genome. Therefore ROS signaling covers a large hierarchy from top down and bottom up mechanisms involving the genome, the proteom, cell tissues and the whole organism.

Structural modifications give rise to detachment of weakly bound enzymes from the cell wall, as shown for the isoforms of peroxidases (Minibayeva and Gordon, 2003). Concomitantly, ROS modulate the activity of antioxidant enzymes, e.g. in case of catalase and ascorbate peroxidases (Shao et al., 2008). Likewise, also the redox state of cell components acting as antioxidants or being involved in signaling (glutathione system, ascorbate system, plastoquinone pool, thioredoxin, etc.) is prone to changes by ROS (see Figure 3 and chap. 6). Furthermore, the activity of ion channels can be affected, goin along with variations in the concentration of relevant ions like Ca^{2+} in the cytosol (see chap. 5).

The by far most important regulatory control in acclimation of organisms to different stress factors is the modulation of gene expression. ROS in general and H_2O_2 in particular play an important role in cell signaling pathways and are involved in the regulation of gene expression (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Laloi et al., 2007). Studies using DNA microarrays (Gadjev et al., 2006; Scarpeci et al., 2008) revealed that an increase of the ROS concentration affects the expression of a rather large number of genes. This response can sometimes comprise up to one third of the entire genome. Experiments performed with the unicellular green alga Chlamydomonas (C.) reinhardtii showed that H_2O_2 and ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_2$ interact with different targets leading to activation of specific promoters (Shao et al., 2007).

With respect to regulatory and signaling effects of ROS including the function of second messengers, the general control of cellular processes by the ambient redox conditions should be pointed out clearly as a generalized working framework of the cell chemistry rather than ROS taking the role of "isolated" signal molecules (Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Pfannschmidt et al., 2009; Shao et al., 2008; Buchanan and Luan, 2005). Several models have been proposed for this redox control which includes oxidation/reduction of thiol groups, iron-sulfur centers, hemes, and flavin (Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Vranova et al., 2002). The redox homeostasis in cells is mainly controlled by the presence of large pools of the thiol buffer glutathione and of NADPH/NADP⁺ and also by high concentrations of ascorbic acid (Foyer and Noctor, 2005). The fraction of reduced glutathione is normally higher than 90% (Noctor et al., 2002). Concomitant with these hydrophilic compounds, tocopherols can function as a lipophilic redox buffer system (for the antioxidant efficiency of different tocopherol species, see (Krumova et al., 2012)). These systems protect lipids and other membrane components of chloroplasts by physical scavenging and chemical interaction with ROS (Krumova et al., 2012).

Redox-sensitive enzymes serve as a molecular "switch" by undergoing reversible oxidation and reduction reactions in response to redox changes within the cells. ROS can oxidize the redox-sensitive enzymes directly or indirectly under the participation of low-molecular redoxsensitive molecules like glutathione or thioredoxin, from which the latter interacts with ferredoxin (Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Shao et al., 2008). In this way, the whole cell metabolism can be tuned. On the other hand, redox-sensitive signaling proteins function in combination with other components of signaling pathways, including MAPKs, phosphatases, transcription factors, etc. (Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Shao et al., 2008, Pfannschmidt et al., 2009). Redox regulators available in the apoplast have been suggested to be among the key ROS sources during stress (Minibayeva et al., 1998, Minibayeva and Gordon, 2003; Minibayeva et al., 2009a).

It has to be mentioned that the molecular mechanisms that transfer ROS by dedicated oxidation of covalent bonds producing chemical oxidation products are maybe just a minor example of the general regulation that occurs from the overall redox state of the cell. Fundamental concepts may also arise from physical principles like the membrane potential or the decoupling or coupling of photosynthetic subunits by electrostatic interaction, which has been suggested to be the driving mechanism for the coupling state of cyanobacterial light harvesting complexes and the cell membrane in A. marina (see Schmitt et al., 2006; 2007) or in artificial systems consisting of cyanobacterial antenna complexes and semiconductor quantum dots (Schmitt et al., 2010; 2011; Schmitt, 2011).

However, the main sources of ROS in plant cells are still the chloroplasts, where ROS are produced as the so called "waste product" during photosynthesis. Within the chloroplasts primarily the components of the photosynthetic ETC produce ROS (Shao et al., 2007). Several possible sources are known for chloroplast signals, which can affect gene expression in the nucleus of the plant cells (Galvez-Valdivieso and Mullineaux, 2010; Buchanan and Luan, 2005). These sources include the biosynthetic pathway of tetrapyrrole compounds, changes in the redox state of photosynthetic ETC components (e.g. the PQ pool) and ROS generation. All these pathways induced by different signals are interconnected and therefore often considered as tightly coupled. At present, only rather limited information is available on the exact mechanisms of the transduction of signals from the chloroplast to the nucleus due to the accumulation of redox-sensitive compounds and ROS in the chloroplasts (Fey at al., 2005a,b; Pogson et al., 2008; Shao et al., 2008, Pfannschmidt et al., 2009; Kreslavski et al., 2011; Schmitt et al., 2014a).

Light is the most important signal in regulating a vast majority of processes in living organisms, as reflected by numerous light sensors and biological clocks. However, light is at first the unique Gibbs free energy source for the existence of living matter though the process of photosynthesis. On the other hand, light at high intensities also leads to stress giving rise to the deleterious process of photoinhibition in photosynthetic organisms (Adir et al., 2003; Allakhverdiev and Murata, 2004; Nishiyama et al., 2006; Murata et al., 2007; Vass and Aro,

2008; Li et al., 2009; Goh et al., 2012; Allahverdiyeva and Aro, 2012). Imbalances in the redox state of components of the ETC lead to dangerous ROS production. Therefore, suitable sensors are required to permit efficient adaptation to illumination conditions which vary in time (diurnal, seasonal rhythm) and space (e.g. plants in different altitudes of a tropical rain forest or bacteria in different water depth and living environment).

One of the key sensors in adaptation of the ETC to light is the redox state of the PQ pool which regulates the phosphorylation of light harvesting complexes II (LHC II) (Vener et al., 1998) and also acts as a signal for regulation of the expression of a set of plastid and nuclear genes (Pfannschmidt et al., 2003), such as Lhcb, petE, APX2, and ELIP2 encoding light harvesting complex proteins, plastocyanin, ascorbate peroxidase 2 and early light inducible protein, respectively. Likewise, the expression of SOD is affected (Shaikhali et al., 2008). It should be noted that the expression of Lhcb genes is only partially controlled by the redox state of PQ, because additional factors are involved like ATP synthesis and the electric potential difference across the thylakoid membrane (Yang et al., 2001).

The redox state of PQ is proposed to induce two signaling pathways, which are initiated under the influence of high and low light and subsequently activate the expression of plastid and nuclear genes (Fey et al., 2005a,b; Pfannschmidt et al., 2009). ROS arising from reactions at the acceptor side of PSII could be one type of signals which trigger the regulation of these pathways (Ivanov et al., 2007). Under high light stress of A. thaliana, the PQ pool was shown to be oxidized by both ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ and less electron input from PS II due to the effect of NPQ with implications on redox signaling (Kruk and Szymańska, 2012). Furthermore, a plastid terminal oxidase (PTOX) leading to slow PQH₂ oxidation is probably involved in a ROS-triggered signal transduction cascade (Troillard et al., 2012). The underlying mechanism of the specific role of PTOX in acclimation of plants to high light remains to be clarified.

The expression of genes encoding PSI proteins (psaD and psaF) is also affected (Pogson et al., 2008). Changes in the redox state of components on the PSI acceptor side contribute to the regulation of nuclear and chloroplast genes (Shaikhali et al., 2008). This effect is primarily related to the redox state of thioredoxin, which depends on the rate of electron transport from ferredoxin (Scheibe et al., 2005). The redox states of thioredoxin, glutathione and glutaredoxin act as signals for regulation of stress-responsive genes (Mullineaux and Rausch, 2005; Schürmann and Buchanan, 2008).

Several examples of regulation by thiols, in particular chloroplast gene translation and transcription have been described in recent reviews (Oelze et al., 2008).

In addition to signaling modes where ROS generated in response to different types of stress act either directly as signal molecules, or, via generation of second messengers (e.g. oxidation products of Cars and lipids, vide supra), also pathways operating in the opposite direction are established in plants. This does not only account for producing ROS as defensive molecules but it also accounts for the active production of ROS as messanger molecules.

In these both cases ROS are produced as second messengers or as reactive species in response to stress, e.g. in the defense to biotic infection.

Special proteins are involved in the development of cell response to changes of the redox state. These proteins are encoded by so-called reporter genes. Investigations on redox signaling between chloroplasts and nucleus have been focused on the induction of genes of cytosolic ascorbate peroxidases APX1 and APX2, genes ZAT10 and ZAT12 encoding zinc-finger transcription factors, and also gene ELIP2 encoding the early light-induced chlorophyll-binding protein ELIP2. Both transcription factors, ZAT10 and ZAT12, favor the induction of gene clusters related to activation of the photosynthetic ETC under high light by switching on the expression of genes APX1 and APX2 (Davletova et al., 2005; Pogson et al., 2008).

The expression of genes APX2, ZAT10, and ZAT12 is stimulated by treatment with H_2O_2 (Karpinski et al., 1999; Davletova et al., 2005; Pogson et al., 2008) (see chapter 5.2). It seems reasonable to assume that H₂O₂ regulates the expression of these genes, thus acting via direct or indirect effects of the redox state in ignaling from chloroplast through cytosol to the nucleus. Kinetic experiments revealed that the redox signal arising from the response to a change in light quality (spectral composition) is transmitted within about 30 min from the chloroplast to the nucleus (Zhang et al., 2000). Studies on high-light effects in A. thaliana plants showed that the nuclear genes encoding cytosolic peroxidases APX1 and APX2 were activated in 15-20 min. It was also found that the activation of these genes is part of the systemic response to superfluous light exposure (Karpinski et al., 1999). The induction of chloroplast gene expression occurred also in the range of 15-20 min in response to changes of the redox state in the organelles induced by changes in light quality (Pfannschmidt et al., 2009). These kinetic results on signal transduction suggest that some components of the signal cascade triggered by stress-induced changes of ROS concentration are present in the cells already under optimum conditions and do not need to be synthesized in response to stress. This idea explains the correspondence of the kinetics of signal transduction in response to ROS appearance and of the transduction of other intracellular stimuli (Pfannschmidt et al., 2009).

 Second Messengers and Signaling Molecules in H₂O₂ Signaling Chains and (Nonlinear) Networking A genetic screen aimed at identifying ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ -responsive genes (Baruah et al., 2009) led to the proposal of the gene named "pleiotropic response locus 1" (PRL1) acting as a point of convergence of several different signaling pathways, thus integrating various intra- and extracellular signals. Under pathogen-induced stress, the gene "enhanced disease susceptibility 1" (EDS1) plays a role in development of the hypersensitive reaction and in mediating EXE1/EXE2-regulated cell death induced by ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ (Ochsenbein et al., 2006). The EDS1 protein has been shown to be required for the resistance to biotrophic pathogens and the accumulation of SA. SA likely enhances the plant defenses by inducing the synthesis of pathogen-related proteins (Mullineaux and Baker, 2010). EDS1 seems to play a pivotal role in a mutually antagonistic system, integrating ROS signals from chloroplasts in cells suffering from photooxidative stress (Straus et al., 2010).

A general problem in identifying different ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ -induced signal pathways and their (synergistic) interplay has to be mentioned. The effect on the gene expression pattern is expected to depend on the nature of the nearest neighborhood of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ formation, if one accepts that signaling directly by ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ can take place only at a site very close to its generation. This would also imply that the signal pathway comprises the participation of oxidation products of Cars, lipids and other molecules acting as second messengers which can induce different genetic responses. The ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ site differs in WT plants and in mutants like flu1 and, also, if ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ is generated by using exogenous sensitizers (Hideg et al., 1994; Krieger-Liszkay, 2005). Therefore, different types of second messenger species are likely to be formed in mutant studies in contrast to wild type studies. Thus, it is difficult to gather straightforward conclusions on the mechanism of ${}^{1}\Delta_{g}O_{2}$ signaling from studies performed under different assay conditions and using different sample material including single gene mutants. This important problem needs to be further addressed in forthcoming studies.

ROS can be involved in several signaling pathways by modulating the activity of different components like MAPKs and phosphatases, transcription factors, and calcium channels (Pei et al., 2000; Mori and Schroeder, 2004; Pfannschmidt et al., 2009; Kreslavski et al., 2011; Pogson et al., 2008; Kovtun et al., 2000; Gupta and Luan, 2003). Heterotrimeric G-proteins may also participate in the signaling pathways initiated by ROS (Joo et al., 2005). An effect of ROS on the activity of Ca^{2+} channels was shown to arise for both abiotic stress and plant-pathogene interaction (Demidchik et al., 2003).

Very few details have been resolved so far on the nature of steps which link various pathways in coordinating ROS signaling. One piece of the puzzle is the finding that MAPKs are involved in transducing signals derived from ROS generated by sources in chloroplasts (Liu et al., 2007).

One mode of ROS-induced signaling is given by the activation of transcription factors containing SH groups like OxyR in eubacteria and/or iron-sulfur clusters (Zheng et al., 1998). Formation of S-S bridge(s) by H_2O_2 is expected to change the structure of OxyR, therby inducing the transition from the inactive into the active form, as is schematically illustrated in Figure 10.



Figure 10. Hypothetical scheme of regulation of bacterial transcription factor OxyR activity. The inactive form contains thiol groups (SH). Under the influence of H_2O_2 , the thiol group is oxidized with the formation of an SOH group and then rapid formation of a disulfide bond occurs and OxyR transits into its active form

Another possibility of ROS signaling is changes of the subcellular distribution of these factors as in the case of yeast. Yeast cells express the protein Yap1, which is functionally homologous to the transcription factor OxyR in eubacteria. Yap1 can regulate the transcription of specific genes in response to changes of the redox state of the cell (Liu et al., 2005). The inactive form of Yap1 is localized in the cytoplasm. H_2O_2 oxidizes Yap1 via the peroxidase Gpx3 (Delaunay et al., 2000) under formation of disulfide bonds between neighboring cysteines, thus leading to conformational changes, which enables the transport of this Yap1 form to the nucleus, where it induces the expression of genes encoding for components of antioxidant defense system(s). Mutants lacking Yap1 were shown not to be able to induce antioxidant defense upon treatment with H_2O_2 (Liu et al., 2005).

In analogy to the thiol-based sensor OxyR of bacteria, Yap1 is part of a relatively simple regulatory loop, where ROS induce the expression of certain antioxidative enzymes. Although a gene homologous to OxyR is absent in higher plants, attempts to complement mutations of the gene OxyR in E. coli by using the expression gene library of A. thaliana identified the AnnAt1 gene encoding annexin as to be capable of restoring a functional defect in the OxyR bacterial mutant (Gidrol et al., 1996). Recently identified signaling proteins undergoing thiol modulation (modification) in plants include a protein tyrosine phosphatase (Dixon et al., 2005) and a histidine kinase ETR1, which is involved in ethylene signaling (Desikan et al., 2005).

Based on these findings, it seems reasonable to assume that analogous mechanisms also exist in plant cells, but they are likely to be more complex. Figure 11 presents a proposed simplified scheme for redox-sensitive sensors (RsS) acting as primary sensors of H_2O_2 signal transduction.

The signal can be transmitted directly from H_2O_2 or via RsSs to the MAPK cascade and/or to transcription factors (Neill et al., 2002; Pogson et al., 2008; Pfannschmidt et al., 2009). The conformation and activity caused by reversible oxidation of cysteine residues of regulatory proteins, which are involved in gene expression at different developmental stages, offer a simple and elegant mechanism for regulation of transcription and translation systems under oxidative stress. As a result, transcription of nuclear genes required for ROS scavenging is activated. By oxidation of the translation elongation factor G (EF-G) in chloroplasts and by blocking translation of new proteins, H_2O_2 can also regulate gene expression on the level of translation, in particular (see chap. 5) (Nishiyama et al., 2011; Murata et al., 2012).



Figure 11. Effects of H_2O_2 on processes of transcription and translation. RsS, MAPK and TF are redox-sensitive sensor(s), MAP-kinase and transcription factor(s), respectively. For details, see text

Figure 12 presents a hypothetical scheme of pathways of photosynthetic redox signal transduction in plants. It summarizes selected mechanisms described in the chap. 5, 6 and 7 in a

general picture that aims to denote the complex networking of different species to establish ROS-iniated and ROS-mediated signaling pathways between cell organelles.

Although our current knowledge is still rather fragmentary, the general conclusion on signal networks is clearly illustrated by different lines of evidence for the interference between various pathways (see Figure 12). Some further description intends to pint out the difference between (nonlinear) networking and a single ROS signalling pathway.

It was found that H_2O_2 stimulates a rapid increase of intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration (Kim et al., 2009). The development of oxidative stress controls the activity of several isoforms of calmodulin. In plant cells, on the other hand, the ROS generation in mitochondria is activated by an increase of the Ca^{2+} concentration. Likewise, under certain conditions, the Ca^{2+} concentration depends on the actual ROS level and additionally Ca^{2+} stimulates the formation of ROS in plant cells (Bolwer and Fluhr, 2000). These findings indicate that ROS/redox state and calcium-dependent signaling pathways are closely interconnected in a strongly nonlinear way (Yin et al., 2000). Heat hardening, at least a short-term treatment, can also be accompanied by an increase of the ROS content in cells (Dat et al., 1998), i.e. ROS might function in transduction of a temperature signal (Suzuki and Mittler, 2006; Yu et al., 2008). It is also suggested that ROS participate in acclimation of the photosynthetic apparatus to high light under conditions similar to heat hardening (Kuznetsov and Shevyakova, 1999; Allakhverdiev et al., 2007; Kreslavski et al., 2009; 2012a).

Common intermediates were found to participate in mechanism(s) of ROS and phytohormone action (Jung et al., 2009), as is shown by the involvement of the species $O_2^{-\bullet}$ and O_3 in programmed cell death together with ethylene- and jasmonate-dependent metabolic pathways. On the other hand, ROS can function as second messengers in the transduction of hormonal signals, as was shown for the auxin affect on gene expression, where ROS are used as second messengers, which simultaneously regulate activity and expression of glutathione transferase in antioxidant function (Tognetti et al., 2012).

 H_2O_2 induces the phosphoinositide cycle that leads to switching on signaling pathways associated with the secondary messengers, IP₃ and diacylglycerol (DAG) (Munnik et al., 1998), whereas phospholipase D was reported to stimulate H_2O_2 production in A. thaliana leaves via generation of phosphatidic acid acting as lipid messenger (Sang et al., 2001).

It is well known that exogenous salicylic acid and pathogens induce a burst of ROS generation in plant tissues (Dmitriev, 2003). However, it remains unclear how and to what extent ROS are involved in the improvement of plant stress resistance. Exogenous salicylic acid was

found to give rise to enhanced plant cold tolerance (Horváth et al., 2002). This effect is attributed to the inhibition of catalase and related to oxidative stress leading to accumulation of H_2O_2 .



Figure 12. Hypothetical scheme of pathways of photosynthetic redox signal transduction in plants initiated at the thylakoid membrane. For the sake of simplicity, other cell organells (nucleus, mitochondrion, peroxisome) are symbolized by colored ovals. Interrupted arrows designate hypothetic pathways of signal transduction. The question marks designate unknown components of signal transduction pathways. Solid lines designate signal transduction pathways

with some experimental confirmation. Dotted lines designate experimentally established signal transduction pathways in chloroplast ETC and in the stroma. The abbreviations RS, MAPK and TF denote redox-sensitive protein(s), MAP-kinase and transcription factor(s), respectively. See text for details

Studies on two maize genotypes revealed that the cold-resistant line had a molecular form of catalase, which was more severely inhibited by salicylic acid than the catalase of the sensitive line (Horváth et al., 2002). Oxidative stress caused by exogenous salicylic acid depends on the calcium status of the cells and is not manifested in the presence of calcium channel blockers.

When considering the existence of signaling networks, it must be emphasized that different hierarchies of complexity exist in ROS-induced signaling depending primarily on the evolutionary level of the organism. Networking is evidently simpler in prokaryotic than in eukaryotic cells, which contain various cell organelles (chloroplasts, mitochondria, peroxisomes, nucleus, endoplasmatic reticulum) and loci of genomic information (e.g. plastids and nucleus in plants). An even more complex signal network exists in multi-cellular organisms, e.g. in leavess of higher plants with different cell types (mesophyll, bundle sheath, guard cells). The deciphering of the latter type of networks requires detailed analyses, and this topic is just at the beginning to reach a level of deeper understanding.

8. Concluding remarks and future perspectives

The enormous work perfomed during the last decades has clarified the deleterious effects of ROS on photosynthetic organisms. However, this is only one side of ROS functions. The other side is the very important signaling role of ROS in the response of cyanobacteria, alga and higher plants to different forms and conditions of stress. In spite of significant progress achieved during the last decade, our current state of knowledge on this topic is still rather fragmentary.

There are several questions that need to be answered:

1. How do ROS generated in chloroplasts affect the transcription of the chloroplast genome?

2. How can ROS leave the chloroplasts and directly induce a significant expression of genes of the nuclear genome?

3. What is the nature and the mechanistic function of second messengers formed by reaction of ROS with specific molecules like lipids and Cars?

4. What determines the mechanism of ROS wave propagation in plant cells ?

5. What is the identity of the primary sensor(s) of ROS (transcription factors and/or protein kinases) and the primary genes responding to oxidative stress?

6. Do ROS induce new signaling pathways by acting as second messengers?

Significant progress in answering these questions is expected from the development of new spectroscopic methods for monitoring ROS, in particular with high spatial resolution, and their application in combination with directed genetic engineering of plants. Among the methods for manipulations at molecular level the targeted ROS production within specific cell compartments and organelles is of high interest.

One important approach towards exploitation of photosynthetic organisms as sustainable sources of biomass is the improvement of the resistance of the cells against environmental stress conditions. This problem targets world food and world energy supply. On the other side plants function as sensitive indicators for the environmental conditions and photosynthetic activity changes in contact to diverse dust pollutants leading to dynamic changes of chlorophyll fluorescence. The full understanding and technical explotation of these mechanisms has implications on food production. It additionally opens the way to develop rapid alert systems for dust pollutants or, more generally, as reporters for the environmental quality, by monitoring the fluorescence properties of plants like for example lichens (e.g. Peltigera aphtosa) which are sensitive to pollutants (Maksimov et al., 2014b).

As the world health organization (WHO) just recently pointed out air pollution as the worst environmental threat for human and environmental health, the need for techniques to quantify the air contamination and its impact on plants is pressing. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that seven million people worldwide died due to illnesses linked to air pollution in 2012 alone, according to new data released onm March 25th 2014. These shocking developments urgently require new techniques and initatives that are able to quantify the air pollution and might help to decontaminate air especially in the big cities. Plants with selected and specialised properties might be a solution for these problems.

The genetic transformation of plants according to a deep molecular biological knowledge of all processes that interact with ROS delivers a tool to produce enhanced plants as ROS sensors, ROS scavengers or crop plants with improved resistance to ROS. The analyzes of the capability of cyanobacteria and algae for the decontamination of water and air give rise to genetically enhanced ROS scavengers.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Florian Schmitt for contribution of elements of Figure 12. This work was supported by the grants from Russian Foundation for Basic research, by the Molecular and Cell Biology Programs of the Russian Academy of Sciences, and by the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF project RUS 11/014).

References

- Adir N., Zer H., Shochat S., Ohad I. Photoinhibition-a historical perspective, Photosynth. Res., 2003, Vol. 76, p. 343-370.
- Allahverdiyeva Y., Aro E.M. Photosynthetic responses of plants to excess light: Mechanisms and conditions for photoinhibition, excess energy dissipation and repair, Photosynthesis:
 A comprehensive Treatise Physiology, Biochemistry, Biophysics and Molecular Biology, Eaton-Rye J. ed., Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration series, Vol. 34, Springer, Dordrecht, 2011, p. 275-297.
- Allahverdiyeva Y., Aro E.-M. Photosynthetic Responses of Plants to Excess Light: Mechanisms and Conditions for Photoinhibition, Excess Energy Dissipation and Repair, Photosynthesis Plastid Biology, Energy Conversion and Carbon Assimilation, Eaton-Rye J.J., Tripathy B.C., Sharkey T.D. eds., Springer, Dordrecht, 2012, p. 275–298.
- Allakhverdiev S.I., Murata N. Environmental stress inhibits the synthesis de novo of proteins involved in the photodamage-repair cycle of photosystem II in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2004, Vol. 1657, p. 23-32.
- Allakhverdiev S.I., Los D.A., Mohanty P., Nishiyama Y., Murata N. Glycinebetaine alleviates the inhibitory effect of moderate heat stress on the repair of photosystem II during photoinhibition, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2007, Vol. 1767, p. 1363-1371.
- Alscher R.G., Erturk N., Heath L.S. Role of superoxide dismutases (SODs) in controlling oxidative stress in plants, J. Exp. Bot., 2002, Vol. 53, p. 1331-1341.
- Ananyev G., Wydrzynski T., Renger G., Klimov V. Transient peroxide formation by the manganese containing redox active donor side of photosystem II upon inhibition of O₂ evolution with lauroylcholine chloride, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1992, Vol. 1100, p. 303-311.
- Andresen M., Wahl M.C., Stiel A.C., Gräter F., Schäfer L.V., Trowitzsch S., Weber G., Eggeling C., Grubmüller H., Hell S.W., Jakobs S. Structure and mechanism of the reversible photoswitch of a fluorescent protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2005, Vol. 102, p. 13070– 13074.
- Andresen M., Stiel A.C., Trowitzsch S., Weber G., Eggeling C., Wahl M.C., Hell S.W., Jakobs S. Structural basis for reversible photoswitching in Dronpa, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2007, Vol.104, p. 13005–13009.
- Apel K., Hirt H., Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction, Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 2004, Vol. 55, p. 373-399.
- Asada K., Kiso K., Yoshikawa K. Univalent reduction of molecular oxygen by spinach chloroplasts on illumination. J. Biol. Chem., 1974, Vol. 249, p. 2175–2181.
- Asada K., The water–water cycle in chloroplasts: scavenging of active oxygens and dissipation of excess photons, Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol.Biol., 1999, Vol. 50, p. 601-639.

- Asada K. Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions, Plant Physiol., 2006, Vol. 141, p. 391-396.
- Atkins P.W. Physical chemistry, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 10th edition, 2014, 1008 p.
- Babu T.S., Jansen M.A.K., Greenberg B.M., Gaba V., Malkin S., Mattoo A.K., Edelman M. Amplified degradation of photosystem II D1 and D2 proteins under a mixture of photosynthetically active radiation and UV-B radiation: dependence on redox status of photosystem II, Photochem. Photobiol., 1994, Vol. 69, p. 553–559.
- Baier J., Maier M., Engl R., Landthaler M., Baumler W. Time-resolved investigations of singlet oxygen luminescence in water, in phosphatidylcholine, and in aqueous suspensions of phosphatidylcholine or HT29 cells, J Phys Chem B, 2005, Vol. 109, p. 3041-3046.
- Baier M., Dietz K.-J. Chloroplasts as source and target of cellular redox regulation: a discussion on chloroplast redox signals in the context of plant physiology, J. Exp. Bot., 2005, Vol. 56, p. 1449-1462.
- Baruah A., Simkova K., Hincha D.K., Apel K., Laloi C. Modulation of ¹O₂-mediated retrograde signaling by the PLEIOTROPIC RESPONSE LOCUS 1 (PRL1) protein, a central integrator of stress and energy signaling, Plant J., 2009, Vol. 60, p. 22-32.
- Bhattacharjee S. The language of reactive oxygen species signalling in plants, J. Bot., 2012, Vol. 2012, p. 1-22.
- Baumgart F., Rossi A., Verkman A.S. Light inactivation of water transport and protein-protein interactions of aquaporin-Killer Red chimeras, J. Gen. Physiol., 2012, Vol. 139, p. 83-91.
- Bechtold U., Richard O., Zamboni A., Gapper C., Geisler M., Pogson B., Karpinski S., Mullineaux P.M. Impact of chloroplastic- and extracellular-sourced ROS on high lightresponsive gene expression in Arabidopsis, J. Exp. Bot., 2008, Vol. 59, p. 121–133.
- Bekker A., Holland H.D., Wang P.-L., Rumble D., Stein H. J., Coetzee L., Beukes N. J., Dating the rise of atmospheric oxygen, Nature, 2004, Vol. 427, p. 117-120.
- Belousov V.V., Fradkov A.F., Lukyanov K.A., Staroverov D.B., Shakhbazov K.S., Terskikh A.V., Lukyanov S., Genetically encoded fluorescent indicator for intracellular hydrogen peroxide., Nat. Methods, 2006, Vol. 3, p. 281–286.
- Belyaeva N.E., Schmitt F.-J., Steffen R., Paschenko V.Z., Riznichenko G.Y., Chemeris Y.K., Renger G., Rubin A.B. PS II model-based simulations of single turnover flash-induced transients of fluorescence yield monitored within the time domain of 100 ns-10 s on dark-adapted Chlorella pyrenoidosa cells, Photosynth Res., 2008, Vol. 98, p. 105-119.
- Belyaeva N.E., Schmitt F.-J., Paschenko V.Z., Riznichenko G.Y., Rubin A.B., Renger G. PS II model based analysis of transient fluorescence yield measured on whole leaves of Arabidopsis thaliana after excitation with light flashes of different energies, BioSystems, 2011, Vol. 103, p. 188-195.
- Belyaeva N.E., Schmitt F.-J., Paschenko V.Z., Riznichenko G.Y., Rubin A.B., Renger G. Model based analysis of transient fluorescence yield induced by actinic laser flashes in spinach leaves and cells of green alga Chlorella pyrenoidosa Chick, Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 2014, Vol. 77, p. 49-59.
- Benson A.A. Following the path of carbon in photosynthesis: A personal story, Photosynth. Res., 2002, Vol. 73, p. 29–49.
- Bergantino E., Segalla A., Brunetta A., Teardo E., Rigoni F., Giacometti G.M., Szabo I. Lightand pH-dependent structural changes in the PsbS subunit of photosystem II, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 2003, Vol. 100, p. 15265-15270.

- Biel K., Fomina I.R., Kreslavski V.D., Allakhverdiev S.I. Methods for assessment of activity and stress acclimation of photosynthetic machinery, in: cyanobacteria and symbiotic microalgae. Protocols on algal and cyanobacterial research, Kliner W., Nath Bogchi S., Mohanty P. eds., Narosa Publishing House., New Delhi., 2009, Chapter 13.
- Bienert G.P., Møller A.L., Kristiansen K.A., Schulz A., Møller I.M., Schjoerring J.K., Jahn T.P. Specific aquaporins facilitate the diffusion of hydrogen peroxide across membranes., J. Biol. Chem., 2007, Vol. 282, p. 1183-1192.
- Biswal U.C., Biswal B., Raval M.K. Chloroplast biogenesis. From propastid to gerontoplast, Springer, Dordrecht, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2003, 353 p.
- Bizzarri R., Serresi M., Luin S., Beltram F. Green fluorescent protein based pH indicators for in vivo use: a review, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 2009, Vol. 393, p. 1107-1122.
- Blokhina O., Fagerstedt K.V., Reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide in plant mitochondria: origin and redundant regulatory systems, Physiol. Plant., 2010, Vol. 138, p. 447-462.
- Boccalandro H.E., Rugnone M.L., Moreno J.E., Ploschuk E.L., Serna L., Yanovsky M.J., Casal J.J. Phytochrome B enhances photosynthesis at the expense of water-use efficiency in Arabidopsis, Plant Physiol., 2009, Vol. 150, p.1083-1092.
- Bolwell G.P., Bindschedler L.V., Blee K.A., Butt V.S., Davies D.R., Gardner S.L., Gerrish C., Minibayeva F. The apoplastic oxidative burst in response to biotic stress in plants: a three-component system, J. Exp. Bot., 2002, Vol. 53, p. 1367-1376.
- Boulay C., Wilson A., D'Haene S., Kirilovsky D. Identification of a protein required for recovery of full antenna capacity in OCP-related photoprotective mechanism in cyanobacteria, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U SA, 2010, Vol. 107, p. 11620-11625.
- Bowler C., Van Montagu M., Inzé D., Superoxide dismutase and stress tolerance, Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol., 1992, Vol. 43, p. 83-116.
- Bowler C., Fluhr R. The role calcium and activated oxygen as signals for controlling cross-tolerance, Trends Plant Sci., 2000, Vol. 5, p. 241-246.
- Brakemann T., Stiel A., Weber G., Andresen M., Testa I., Grotjohann T., Leutenegger M., Plessmann U., Urlaub H., Eggeling C., Wahl M.C., Hell S.W., Jakobs S. A reversibly photoswitchable GFP-like protein with fluorescence excitation decoupled from switching. Nat. Biotechnol., 2011, Vol. 29, p. 942–947.
- Buchanan B.B., Luan S. Redox regulation in the chloroplast thylakoid lumen: A new frontier in photosynthesis research, J. Exp. Bot., 2005, Vol. 56, p. 1439-1447.
- Buick R. The antiquity of oxygenic photosynthesis: evidence from stromatolites in sulphate- deficient Archaean lakes, Science, 1992, Vol. 255, p. 74-77.
- Bulina M.E., Chudakov D.M., Britanova O.V., Yanushevich Y.G., Staroverov D.B., Chepurnykh T.V., Merzlyak E.M., Shkrob M.A., Lukyanov S., Lukyanov K.A. A genetically encoded photosensitizer, Nat. Biotechnol., 2006, Vol. 24, p. 95-99.
- Calvin M., Forty years of photosynthesis and related activities, Photosynth Res., 1989, Vol. 21, p. 3-16.
- Campbell T.N., Choy F.Y.M. The Effect of pH on Green Fluorescent Protein: a Brief Review., Molecular Biology Today, 2001, Vol. 2, p. 1-4.
- Carbonera D., Gerotto C., Posocco B., Giacometti G.M., Morosinotto T. NPQ activation reduces chlorophyll triplet state formation in the moss Physcomitrella patens, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2012, Vol. 1817, p. 1608-1615.

- Carvalho R.F., Campos M.L., Azevedo R.A. The role of phytochrome in stress tolerance. J. Int. Plant. Biol., 2011, Vol. 53, p. 920–929.
- Chen Z., Silva H., Klessig D.F. Active oxygen species in the induction of plant systemic acquired resistance by salicylic acid, Science, 1993, Vol. 262, p. 1883–1886.
- Cohn C.A., Simon S.R., Schoonen M.A. Comparison of fluorescence-based techniques for the quantification of particle-induced hydroxyl radicals Part Fibre Toxicol., 2008, Vol. 5, 9 pages.
- Corpas F.J., Barroso J.B., del Río L.A. Peroxisomes as a source of reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide signal molecules in plant cells, Trends Plant Sci., 2012, Vol. 6, p. 145-150.
- Dat J.F., Delgado H.L., Foyer C.H., Scott I.M. Parallel changes in H₂O₂ and catalase during termotolerance induced by salicylic acid or heat acclimation in mustard seedlings, Plant Physiol., 1998, Vol. 116, p. 1351-1357.
- Dat J.F., Vandenabeele S., Vranova E., Van Montagu M., Inze D., Van Breusegem F. Dual action of the active oxygen species during plant stress responses, Cell Mol. Life. Sci., 2000, Vol. 57, p. 779-795.
- Davies M.J. Recent Developments in Spin Trapping, in: Electron Paramagnetic Resonance, Gilbert B.C., Davies M.J., Murphy D.M. eds, The Royal Society of Chemistry, 2002, p. 47-73.
- Davies M.J. Singlet oxygen-mediated damage to proteins and its consequences, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 2003, Vol. 303, p. 761-770.
- Davletova S., Schlauch K., Coutu J., Mittler R. The zinc-finger protein Zat12 plays a central role in reactive oxygen and abiotic stress signaling in Arabidopsis, Plant Physiol., 2005, Vol. 139, p. 847-856.
- Dedecker P., Hotta J., Flors C., Sliwa M., Uji-i H., Roeffaers M., Ando R., Mizuno H., Miyawaki A., Hofkens J. Subdiffraction imaging through the selective donut-mode depletion of thermally stable photoswitchable fluorophores: numerical analysis and application to the fluorescent protein Dronpa. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2007, Vol. 129, p. 16132–16141.
- Delaunay A., Isnard A.D., Toledano M.B. H₂O₂ sensing through oxidation of the Yap1 transcription factor, EMBO J., 2000, Vol. 19, p. 5157-5166.
- Demidchik V., Shabala S.N., Koutts K.B., Tester M.A., Davies J.M. Free oxygen radicals regulate plasma membrane Ca²⁺- and K⁺-permeable channels in plant root cells, J. Cell Sci., 2003, Vol. 116, p. 81-88.
- Demmig-Adams B., Gilmore A.M., Adams W.W. The role of the xanthophyll cycle carotenoids in the protection of photosynthesis, **Trends Plant Sci.**, 1996, Vol. 1, p. 21-26.
- Demmig-Adams B., Garab G., Adams W., Govindjee Non-Photochemical Quenching and Energy Dissipation in Plants, Algae and Cyanobacteria (Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration), Springer, Dodrecht, 2014, 649 p.
- Des Marais D. J. When did photosynthesis emerge on Earth ?, Science, 2000, Vol. 289, p.1703-1705.
- Desikan R., Mackerness S. A.-H., Hancock J.T., Neill S.J., Regulation of the Arabidopsis transcriptome by oxidative stress, Plant Physiol., 2001, Vol. 127, p.159–172.
- Desikan R., Hancock J.T., Neill S.J., Oxidative stress signaling, Plant Responses to Abiotic Stress: Topic in Current Genetics, Hirt H., Shinozaki K. eds., Springer-Verlag, New-York, 2003, p.121–148.

- Desikan R., Hancock J.T., Bright J., Harrison J., Weir I., Hooley R., Neil S.J. A role for ETR1 in hydrogen peroxide signaling in stomatal guard cells, Plant Physiol., 2005, Vol. 137, p. 831-834.
- Dickinson B.C., Chang C.J. Chemistry and biology of reactive oxygen species in signaling or stress responses, Nat. Chem. Biol., 2011, Vol. 7, p. 504-511.
- Ding S., Lei M., Lu Q., Zhang A., Yin Y., Wen X., Zhang L., Lu C. Enhanced sensitivity and characterization of photosystem II in transgenic tobacco plants with decreased chloroplast glutathione reductase under chilling stress, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2012, Vol. 1817, p. 1979-1991.
- Dixit R., Cyr R. Cell damage and reactive oxygen species production induced by fluorescence microscopy: effect on mitosis and guidelines for non-invasive fluorescence microscopy, Plant J., 2003, Vol. 36, p. 280-290.
- Dixon D.P., Skipsey M., Grundy N.M., Edwards R. Stress induced protein S-glutathionylation in Arabidopsis thaliana, Plant Physiol., 2005, Vol. 138, p. 2233–2244.
- Dmitriev AP. Signal plant molecules for activation of protective reactions in response to biotic stress, Russian J. Plant Physiol., 2003, Vol. 50, p. 465-474.
- Eggeling C., Hilbert M., Bock H., Ringemann C., Hofmann M., Stiel A., Andresen M., Jakobs S., Egner A., Schönle A., Hell S.W. Reversible photoswitching enables single-molecule fluorescence fluctuation spectroscopy at high molecular concentration, Microsc. Res. Tech., 2007, Vol. 70, p. 1003–1009.
- Egorov S.Y., Kamalov V.F., Koroteev N.I., Krasnovsky (Jr) A.A., Toleutaev B.N., Zinukov S.V. Rise and decay kinetics of photosensitized singlet oxygen luminescence in water. Measurements with nanosecond time-correlated single photon counting technique, Chem. Phys. Lett., 1989, Vol. 163, p. 421-424.
- Estevez J.M. and Somerville C. FlAsH-based live-cell fluorescent imaging of synthetic peptides expressed in Arabidopsis and tobacco, Biotechniques, 2006, Vol. 41, p. 569-570.
- Feussner I., Wasternack C., The lipoxygenase pathway, Ann. Rev. Plant Biol., 2002, Vol. 53, p. 275-297.
- Fey V., Wagner R., Bräutigam K., Pfannschmidt T. Photosynthetic redox control of nuclear gene expression, J. Exp. Bot., 2005a, Vol. 56, p. 1491-1498.
- Fey V., Wagner R., Braütigam K., Wirtz M., Hell R., Dietzmann A., Leister D., Oelmüller R., Pfannschmidt T. Retrograde plastid redox signals in the expression of nuclear genes for chloroplast proteins of Arabidopsis thaliana, J. Biol. Chem., 2005b, Vol. 280, p. 5318-5328.
- Fischer B.B., Krieger-Liszkay A., Hideg E., Snyrychová I., Wiesendanger M., Eggen R.I. Role of singlet oxygen in chloroplast to nucleus retrograde signaling in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. FEBSLett., 2007, Vol. 581, p. 5555-5560.
- Fischer B.B., Ledford H.K., Wakao S., Huang S.Y.G., Casero D., Pellegrini M., Merchant S.S., Koller A., Eggen R.I.L., Niyogi K.K. Singlet oxygen resistant 1 links reactive electrophile signaling to singlet oxygen acclimation in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 2012, Vol. 109, p. 1302-1311.
- Flors C., Fryer M.J., Waring J., Reeder B., Bechtold U., Mullineaux P.M., Nonell S., Wilson M.T., Baker N.R., Imaging the production of singlet oxygen in vivo using a new fluorescent sensor, singlet oxygen sensor green, J. Exp. Bot., 2006, Vol. 57, p. 1725-1734.

- Foyer C.H., Noctor G. Redox homeostis and antioxidant signaling: a metabolic interface between stress perception and physiological responses, Plant Cell., 2005, Vol. 17, p. 866-1875.
- Foyer C.H., Noctor G.D. Redox regulation in photosynthetic organisms: Signaling, acclimation, and practical implications, Antiox. Redox Signal., 2009, Vol. 11, p. 861-905.
- Foyer C.H., Shigeoka S., Understanding oxidative stress and antioxidant functions to enhance photosynthesis, Plant Physiol., 2011, Vol. 155, p. 93–100.
- Frank H.A., Cogdell R.J. The photochemistry and function of carotenoids in photosynthesis, Carotenoids in Photosynthesis, Young A., Britton G. eds., Chapmen & Hall, London, 1993, p. 252-326.
- Fridovich I. Superoxide radical: an endogenous toxicant, Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 1983, Vol. 23, p. 239-257.
- Fryer M.J., Oxborough K., Mullineaux P.M., Baker N.R. Imaging of photo- oxidative stress responses in leaves, J. Exp. Bot., 2002, Vol. 53, p. 1249-1254.
- Gadjev I., Vanderauwera S., Gechev T.S., Laloi C., Minkov I.N., Shulaev V., Apel K., Inze D., Mittler R., van Breusegem F. Transcriptomic footprints disclose specificity of reactive oxygen species signaling in Arabidopsis, Plant Physiol., 2006, Vol. 141, p. 436-445.
- Galetskiy D., Lohscheider J.N., Kononikhin A.S., Popov I.A., Nikolaev E.N., Adamska I. Mass spectrometric characterization of photooxidativeprotein modifications in Arabidopsis thaliana thylakoids membranes, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 2011, Vol. 25, p. 184– 190.
- Galvez-Valdivieso G., Fryer M.J., Lawson T., Slattery K., Truman W., Smirnoff N., Asami T., Davies W.J., Jones A.M., Baker N.R., Mullineaux P.M. The high light response in Arabidopsis involves ABA signaling between vascular and bundle sheath cells, Plant Cell, 2009, Vol. 21, p. 2143-2162.
- Galvez-Valdivieso G., Mullineaux P.M. The role of reactive oxygen species in signaling from chloroplasts to the nucleus, Physiol. Plant., 2010, Vol. 138, p. 430–439.
- Gechev T.S., Hille J. Hydrogen peroxide as a signal controlling plant programmed cell death, J. Cell Biol., 2005, Vol. 168, p. 17-20.
- Gechev T.S., Van Breusegem F., Stone J.M., Denev I., Laloi C. Reactive oxygen species as signals that modulate plant stress responses and programmed cell death, **Bioessays**, 2006, Vol. 28, p. 1091-1101.
- Giacomelli L., Masi A., Ripoll D. R., Lee M.J., van Wijk K.J. Arabidopsis thaliana deficient in two chloroplast ascorbate peroxidases shows accelerated light-induced necrosis when levels of cellular ascorbate are low, Plant Mol. Biol., 2007, Vol. 65, p. 627-644.
- Gidrol X., Sabelli P.A., Fern Y.S., Kush A.K., Annexin-like protein from Arabidopsis thaliana rescues ∆oxyR mutant of Escherichia coli from H₂O₂ stress, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 1996, Vol. 93, p. 11268-11273.
- Gilbert M., Wagner H., Weingart I., Skotnica J., Nieber K., Tauer G., Bergmann F., Fischer H., Wilhelm C. A new type of thermoluminometer: a highly sensitive tool in applied photosynthesis research and plant stress physiology. Journal of Plant Physiology, 2004, Vol. 161, p. 641–665.
- Godrant A., Rose A.L., Sarthou G., Waite D. New method for the determination of extracellular production of superoxide by marine phytoplankton using the chemiluminescence probes MCLA and red-CLA, Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods, 2009, Vol. 7, p. 682-692.

- Goh C.-H., Ko S.-M., Koh S., Kim Y.-J., Bae H.-J. Photosynthesis and environments: Photoinhibition and repair mechanisms in plants, J. Plant Biol., 2012, Vol. 55, p. 93-101.
- Golbeck J., Radmer R. Is the rate of oxygen uptake by reduced ferredoxin sufficient to account for photosystem I – mediated O₂ reduction?, in: Advances in Photosynthesis Research, Sybesma C. ed., M. Nijhoff/Dr W. Junk Publ, Lancaster, 1984, p. 561-564.
- Gomes A., Fernandes E., Lima J.L. Fluorescence probes used for detection of reactive oxygen species, J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods, 2005, Vol. 65, p. 45-80.
- Goral T.K., Johnson M.P., Duffy C.D., Brain A.P., Ruban A.V., Mullineaux C.W. Lightharvesting antenna composition controls the macrostructure and dynamics of thylakoid membranes in Arabidopsis, Plant J., 2012, Vol.69, p. 289-301.
- Gorman A.A., Rodgers M.A. Current perspectives of singlet oxygen detection in biological environments, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biology, 1992, Vol. 14, p. 159-176.
- Gracanin M., Hawkins C.L., Pattison D.I., Davies M.J. Singlet oxygen-mediated amino acid and protein oxidation: formation of tryptophan peroxides and decomposition products, Free Radic. Biol. Med., 2009, Vol. 47, p. 92–102.
- Griffin B.A., Adams S.R., Tsien R.Y. Specific covalent labeling of recombinant protein molecules inside live cells, Science, 1998, Vol. 281, p. 269-272.
- Griffin B.A., Adams S.R., Jones J., Tsien R.Y. Fluorescent labeling of recombinant proteins in living cells with FlAsH, Methods Enzymol., 2000, Vol. 327, p. 565-578.
- Gruissem W., Lee C.-H., Oliver M., Pogson B., The global plant council: Increasing the impact of plant research to meet global challenges, J. Plant Biol., 2012, Vol. 55, p. 343-348.
- Gupta R., Luan S. Redox control of protein tyrosine phosphatases and mitogen-activated protein kinases in plants, Plant Physiol., 2003, Vol. 132, p. 1149-1152.
- Haber F., Weiss J. The catalytic decomposition of hydrogen peroxide by iron salts, Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A. 1934, Vol. 147, 332-351.
- Halliwell B., Generation of hydrogen peroxide, superoxide and hydroxyl radicals during the oxidation of dihydroxyfumaric acid by peroxidase, Biochem. J., 1977, Vol. 163, p. 441-448.
- Halliwell B., Gutteridge J.M. Free radicals in biology and medicine, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1985, 266 p.
- Halliwell B. Reactive species and antioxidants. Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life, Plant Physiol., 2006, Vol. 141, p. 312-322.
- Hanson G.T., McAnaney T.B., Park E.S., Rendell M.E., Yarbrough D.K., Chu S., Xi L., Boxer S.G., Montrose M.H., Remington S.J. Green fluorescent protein variants as ratiometric dual emission pH sensors. 1. Structural characterization and preliminary application, Biochemistry, 2002, Vol. 41, p. 15477-15488.
- Hanson G.T., Aggeler R., Oglesbee D., Cannon M., Capaldi R.A., Tsien R.Y., Remington S.J. Investigating mitochondrial redox potential with redox-sensitive green fluorescent protein indicators, J. Biol. Chem., 2004, Vol. 279, p. 13044–13053.
- Härtel H., Lokstein H., Grimm B., Rank B. Kinetic Studies on the Xanthophyll Cycle in Barley Leaves (Influence of Antenna Size and Relations to Nonphotochemical Chlorophyll Fluorescence Quenching), Plant. Physiol., 1996, Vol. 110, p. 471-482.
- Heim R., Cubitt A.B., Tsien R.Y. Improved green fluorescence, Nature, 1995, Vol. 373, p. 663-664.

- Henzler T., Steudle E. Transport and metabolic degradation of hydrogen peroxide in Chara corallina: model calculations and measurements with the pressure probe suggest transport of H₂O₂ across water channels, J. Exp. Bot., 2000, Vol. 51, p. 2053-2066.
- Herbig A.F., Helmann J.D. Roles of metal ions and hydrogen peroxide in modulating the interaction of the Bacillus subtilis PerR peroxide regulon repressor with operator DNA, Mol. Microbiol., 2001, Vol. 41, p. 849–859.
- Hideg É., Spetea C., Vass I. Singlet oxygen and free radical production during acceptor- and donor-side-induced photoinhibition: Studies with spin trapping EPR spectroscopy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1994, Vol. 186, p. 143-152.
- Hideg E., Kalai T., Hideg K., Vass I. Photoinhibition of photosynthesis in vivo results in singlet oxygen production detection via nitroxide-induced fluorescence quenching in broad bean leaves, **Biochemistry**, 1998, Vol. 37, p. 11405-11411.
- Hideg E., Vass I., Kalai T., Hideg K. Singlet oxygen detection with sterically hindered amine derivatives in plants under light stress, Methods Enzymol., 2000, Vol. 319, p. 77-85.
- Hideg E., Ogawa K., Kalai T., Hideg K. Singlet oxygen imaging in Arabidopsis thaliana leaves under photoinhibition by excess photosynthetically active radiation., Physiol Plant., 2001, Vol. 112, p. 10-14.
- Hideg E., Kos P.B., Vass I. Photosystem II damage induced by chemically generated singlet oxygen in tobacco leaves, Physiol. Plant., 2007, Vol. 131, p. 33-40.
- Hideg E., Kálai T., Hideg K. Direct detection of free radicals and reactive oxygen species in thylakoids, Methods Mol. Biol., 2011, Vol. 684, p. 187-200.
- Hintze K.J., Theil E.C. Cellular regulation and molecular interactions of the ferritins. Cell Mol. Life Sci., 2006, Vol. 63, p. 591-600.
- Hoeberichts F.A., Woltering E.J. Multiple mediators of plant programmed cell death: Interplay of conserved cell death mechanisms and plant-specific regulators, BioEssays, 2003, Vol. 25, p. 47–57.
- Hofmann M., Eggeling C., Jakobs S., Hell S.W. Breaking the diffraction barrier in fluorescence microscopy at low light intensities by using reversibly photoswitchable proteins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2005, Vol. 102, p. 17565–17569.
- Horváth E., Janda T., Szalai G., Páldi E. In vitro salicylic acid inhibition of catalase activity in maize: differences between the isozymes and a possible role in the induction of chilling tolerance, Plant Sci., 2002, Vol. 163, p. 1129-1135.
- Hsiao H.-Y., He Q., van Waasbergen L.G., Grossman A.R. Control of photosynthetic and highlight-responsive genes by the histidine kinase DspA: negative and positive regulation and interactions between signal transduction pathways., J. Bacteriol., 2004, Vol. 186, p. 3882-3888.
- Hung S.-H., Yu C.-W., Lin C.H. Hydrogen peroxide functions as a stress signal in plants, Bot. Bull. Acad. Sinica., 2005, Vol. 46, p. 1-10.
- Hung Y.P., Albeck J.G., Tantama M., Yellen G. Imaging cytosolic NADH-NAD(+) redox state with a genetically encoded fluorescent biosensor., Cell Metab., 2011, Vol. 14, p. 545–554.
- Imlay J.A. Pathways of oxidative damage, Annu. Rev. Microbiol., 2003, Vol. 57, p. 395-418.
- Ishikawa T., Shigeoka S. Recent advances in ascorbate biosynthesis and the physiological significance of ascorbate peroxidase in photosynthesizing organisms, BioSci. Biotechnol. Biochem., 2008, Vol. 72, p. 1143-1154.

- Ivanov B.N., Mubarakshina M.M., Khorobrykh S.A. Kinetics of the plastoquinone pool oxidation following illumination. Oxygen incorporation into photosynthetic electron transport chain, FEBSLett., 2007, Vol. 581, p. 1342-1346.
- Iwai M., Yokono M., Inada N., Minagawa J. Live-cell imaging of photosystem II antenna dissociation during state transitions, Proc.Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 2010, Vol. 107, p. 2337-2342.
- Jaspers P., Kangasjärvi J. Reactive oxygen species in abiotic stress signaling, Physiol. Plant., 2010, Vol. 138, p. 405-413.
- Jay D.G. Selective destruction of protein function by chromophore-assisted laser inactivation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 1998, Vol. 85, p. 5454-5458.
- Jensen R.L., Arnbjerg J., Ogilby P.R. Reaction of singlet oxygen with tryptophan in proteins: A pronounced effect of the local environment on the reaction rate, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2012, Vol. 134, p. 9820-9826.
- Jimenez-Banzo A., Nonell S., Hofkens J., Flors C. Singlet oxygen photosensitization by EGFP and its chromophore HBDI, Biophys. J., 2008, Vol. 94, p. 168-172.
- Joliot P., Joliot A. Quantification of cyclic and linear flows in plants, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA, 2005, Vol. 102, p. 4913-4918.
- Joo J.H., Wang S., Chen J.G., Jones A.M., Fedoroff N.V. Different signaling and cell death roles of heterotrimeric G-protein α and β subunits in the Arabidopsis oxidative stress response to ozone, Plant Cell, 2005, Vol. 17, p. 957-970.
- Jung J.-Y., Shin R., Schachtaman D.P. Ethylene mediates response and tolerance to potassium deprivation in Arabidopsis, Plant Cell, 2009, Vol. 21, p. 607-621.
- Junge W., Evolution of Photosynthesis, Primary Processes of Photosynthesis: Priniciples and Apparatus, Part II Reaction Centers/Photosystems, Electron Transport Chains, Photophosphorylation and Evolution, Renger G. ed., Royal Society Chemistry, Cambridge, 2008, p. 447-487.
- Kanesaki Y., Suzuki I., Allakhverdiev S.I., Mikami K., Murata N. Salt stress and hyperosmotic stress regulate the expression of different sets of genes in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 2002, Vol. 290, p. 339-348.
- Kanesaki Y., Yamamoto H., Paithoonrangsarid K., Shoumskaya M., Suzuki I., Hayashi H., Murata N. Histidine kinases play important roles in the perception and signal transduction of hydrogen peroxide in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, Plant J., 2007, Vol. 49, p. 313-324.
- Kanesaki Y., Los D.A., Suzuki I., Murata N. Sensors and signal transducers of environmental stress in cyanobacteria, in: Abiotic stress adaptation in plants: physiological, molecular and genomic foundation, Pareek A., Sopory S.K., Bohnert H.J., Govindjee, eds., Springer, Dordrecht, 2010, chap. 2.
- Karpinski S., Gabrys H., Mateo A., Karpinska B., Mullineaux P.M. Light perception in plant disease defence signaling, Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 2003, Vol. 6, p. 390-396.
- Karpinski S., Reynolds H., Karpinska B., Wingsle G., Creissen G., Mullineaux P.M. Systemic signaling and acclimation in response to excess excitation energy in Arabidopsis, Science, 1999, Vol. 284, p. 654-657.
- Kasson T.M., Barry B.A. Reactive oxygen and oxidative stress: N-formyl kynurenine in photosystem II and non-photosynthetic proteins, Photosynth. Res., 2012, Vol. 114, p. 97–110.

- Kasting J.F., Siefert J.L. Life and the evolution of Earth's Atmosphere, Science, 2002, Vol. 296, p. 1066-1068.
- Kaur N., Gupta A.K. Signal transduction pathways under abiotic stresses in plants, Current Sci., 2005, Vol. 88, p. 1771-1780.
- Kehrer J.P. The Haber-Weiss reaction and mechanisms of toxicity, **Toxicology**, 2000, Vol. 149, p. 43-50.
- Kim M.C., Chung W.S., Yun D., Cho M.J. Calcium and calmodulin-mediated regulation of gene expression in plants, Mol. Plant., 2009, Vol. 2, p. 13-21.
- Kirilovsky D., Kerfeld C.A., the orange carotenoid protein: a blue-green light photoactive protein, Photochem Photobiol Sci., 2013, Vol. 12, p. 1135-1143.
- Klar T.A., Jakobs S., Dyba M., Egner A., Hell S.W. Fluorescence microscopy with diffraction resolution limit broken by stimulated emission, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2000, Vol. 97, 8206.
- Klimov V.V., Allakhverdiev S. I., Paschenko V. Z. Measurement of energy activation and lifetime of the fluorescence of photosystem II chlorophyll, Dokl. Acad. Nauk SSSR, 1978, Vol. 242, p. 1204-1207.
- Klimov V.V., Ananyev G., Zastryzhnaya O., Wydrzynski T., Renger G. Photoproduction of hydrogen peroxide in Photosystem II particles, Photosynth. Res., 1993, Vol. 38, p. 409-416
- Klotz L.-O., Kröncke K.-D., Sies H. Singlet oxygen-induced signaling effects in mammalian cells, Photochem. Photobiol. Sci., 2003, Vol. 2, p. 88-94.
- Kobayashi M., Ishizuka T., Katayama M., Kanehisa M., Bhattacharyya-Pakrasi M., Pakrasi H.B., Ikeuchi M. Response to oxidative stress involves a novel peroxiredoxin gene in the unicellular cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, Plant Cell Physiol., 2004, Vol. 45, p. 290–299.
- Kojima K., Oshita M., Nanjo Y., Kasai K., Tozawa Y., Hayashi H., Nishiyama Y. Oxidation of elongation factor G inhibits the synthesis of the D1 protein of photosystem II, Mol. Microbiol., 2007, Vol. 65, p. 936-947.
- Kojima K., Motohashi K., Morota T., Oshita M., Hisabori T., Hayashi H., Nishiyama Y. Regulation of translation by the redox state of elongation factor G in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, J. Biol. Chem., 2009, Vol. 284, p. 18685-18691.
- Kolupaev Y.E., Karpets Y.V., Kosakivska I.V. The importance of reactive oxygen species in the induction of plant resistance to heat stress, Gen. Appl. Plant Physiol., 2008, Vol. 34, p. 251-266.
- Kovtun Y., Chiu W.L., Tena G., Sheen J. Functional analysis of oxidative stress-activated mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in plants, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 2000, Vol. 97, p. 2940-2945.
- Kozuleva M.A., Ivanov B.N. Evaluation of the participation of ferredoxin in oxygen reduction in the photosynthetic electron transport chain of isolated pea thylakoids, Photosynth. Res., 2010, Vol. 105, p. 51–61.
- Kozuleva M.A., Petrova A.A., Mamedov M.D., Semenov A.Y., Ivanov B.N. O₂ reduction by photosystem I involves phylloquinone under steady-state illumination, FEBS Lett., 2014, Vol. 588, p. 4364-4368.
- Kremers G.J., Gilbert S.G., Cranfill P.J., Davidson M.W., Piston D.W. Fluorescent proteins at a glance, J. Cell. Sci., 2011, Vol. 124, p. 157-160.

- Kreslavski V.D., Ivanov A.A., Kosobrukhov A.A. Low energy light in the 620-660 nm range reduces the UV-B-induced damage to photosystem II in spinach leaves. Biophysics, 2004, Vol. 49, p. 767-71.
- Kreslavski V.D., Carpentier R., Klimov V.V., Murata N., Allakhverdiev S.I. Molecular mechanisms of stress resistance of the photosynthetic apparatus, Membr. Cell Biol., 2007, Vol. 1, p. 185-205.
- Kreslavski V.D., Carpentier R., Klimov V.V., Allakhverdiev S.I. Transduction mechanisms of photoreceptor signals in plant cells, J. Photochem. Photobiol. C. Photochem. Rev., 2009, Vol. 10, p. 63-80.
- Kreslavski V.D., Luybimov V.Y., Kotova L.M., Kotov A.A. Effect of pretreatment with chlorocholine chloride on resistance of bean PSII to UV-radiation, phytohormone and H₂O₂ contents, Russian J. Plant Physiol., 2011, Vol. 58, p. 324-329.
- Kreslavski V.D., Fomina I.R., Los D.A., Carpentier R., Kuznetsov V.V., Allakhverdiev S.I. Red and near infra-red signaling: Hypothesis and perspectives, J. Photochem. Photobiol. C. Photochem. Rev., 2012a, Vol. 13, p. 190-203.
- Kreslavski V.D., Los D.A., Allakhverdiev S.I., Kuznetsov V.V. Signaling role of reactive oxygen species in plants under stress, Russian J Plant Physiol, 2012b, Vol. 59, p. 141-154.
- Kreslavski V.D., Khristin M.S., Shabnova N.I., Lyubimov V.Y. Preillumination of excised spinach leaves with red light increases the resistance of photosynthetic apparatus to UV radiation. Russ J Plant Physiol., 2012c, Vol. 59, p. 717–723.
- Kreslavski V.D. Zorina A.A., Los D.A., Fomina I.R., Allakhverdiev S.I. Molecular mechanisms of stress resistance of photosynthetic machinery, Molecular Stress Physiology of Plants, Rout G.R., Das A.B. eds., Springer India, 2013a, pp. 21-51.
- Kreslavski V.D., Shirshikova G.N., Lyubimov V.Y., Shmarev A.N., Boutanaev A., Kosobryukhov A.A., Schmitt F.-J., Friedrich T., Allakhverdiev S.I. Effect of preillumination with red light on photosynthetic parameters and oxidant-/ antioxidant balance in Arabidopsis thaliana in response to UV-A, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B:Biol., 2013b, Vol. 127, p. 229-236.
- Kreslavski V.D., Lyubimov V.Y., Shirshikova G.N., Shmarev A.N., Kosobryukhov A.A., Schmitt F.-J., Friedrich T., Allakhverdiev S.I. Preillumination of lettuce seedlings with red light enhances the resistance of photosynthetic apparatus to UV-A, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B., 2013c, Vol. 122, p. 1-6.
- Kreslavski V.D., Lyubimov V.Y., Shabnova N.I., Shirshikova G.N., Shmarev A.N., Kosobryukhov A.A. Growth in the UV-A irradiation resistance of the photosynthetic apparatus of lettuce seedlings as a result of activation of phytochrome B, Russian Agricultural Sciences, 2014a, Vol. 40, p. 100-103.
- Kreslavski V.D., Lankin A.V., Vasilyeva G.K., Luybimov V.Yu., Semenova G.N., Schmitt F.-J., Friedrich T., Allakhverdiev S.I. Effects of polyaromatic hydrocarbons on photosystem II activity in pea leaves Plant Physiol. Biochem, 2014b, Vol. 81, p. 135-142.
- Krieger-Liszkay A. Singlet oxygen production in photosynthesis, J. Exp. Bot., 2005, Vol. 56, p. 337-346.
- Kruk J., Szymańska R. Singlet oxygen and non-photochemical quenching contribute to oxidation of the plastoquinone-pool under high light stress in Arabidopsis, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2012, Vol. 1817, p. 705-710.

- Krumova K., Friedland S., Cosa G. How lipid unsaturation, peroxyl radical partitioning, and chromanol lipophilic tail affect the antioxidant activity of α -tocopherol: direct visualization via high-throughput fluorescence studies conducted with fluorogenic α -tocopherol analogues, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2012, Vol. 134, p. 10102-10113.
- Kummerová M., Krulová J., Zezulka Š., Tříska J. Evaluation of fluoranthene phytotoxicity in pea plants by Hill reaction and chlorophyll fluorescence, **Chemosphere**, 2006, Vol. 65, p. 489–496.
- Kummerová M., Váňová L. Chlorophyll fluorescence as an indicator of fluoranthene phototoxicity, Plant Soil Environ., 2007, Vol. 53, p. 430–436.
- Kummerová M., Váňová L., Krulova J., Zezulka S. The use of physiological characteristics for comparison of organic compounds phytotoxicity, Chemosphere, 2008, Vol. 71, p. 2050-2059.
- Kuznetsov V.V., Shevyakova N.I. Proline under stress: biological role, metabolism, and regulation, Russ. J. Plant Physiol., 1999, Vol. 46, p. 274-288.
- Lai A.G., Doherty C.J., Mueller-Roeber B., Kay S.A., Schippers J.H.M., Dijkwel P.P. CIRCADIAN CLOCK-ASSOCIATED 1 regulates ROS homeostasis and oxidative stress responses, Proc.Nat. Acad.Sci. USA, 2012, Vol. 109, p. 17129-17134.
- Laloi C., Apel K., Danon A. Reactive oxygen signaling: the latest news, Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 2004, Vol. 7, p. 323-328.
- Laloi C., Stachowiak M., Pers-Kamczyc E., Warzych E., Murgia I., Apel K. Cross-talk between singlet oxygen- and hydrogen peroxide-dependent signaling of stress responses in Arabidopsis thaliana, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 2007, Vol. 104, p. 672-677.
- Lane N. Oxygen -the molecule that made the world, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002, 384 p.
- Lee K.P., Kim C., Langraf F., Apel K., EXECUTER1- and EXECUTER2-dependent transfer of stress-related signals from the plastid to the nucleus of Arabidopsis thaliana, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 2007, Vol. 104, p. 10270–10275.
- Leverenz R.L., Jallet D., Li M.D., Mathies R.A., Kirilovsky D., Kerfeld C.A. Structural and FunctionalModularity of the Orange Carotenoid Protein: Distinct Roles for the N- and C-Terminal Domains in Cyanobacterial Photoprotection, Plant Cell, 2014, Vol. 26, p.426-437.
- Li H., Singh A.K., McIntyre L.M., Sherman L.A., Differential gene expression in response to hydrogen peroxide and the putative PerR regulon of Synechocystis sp. strain PCC 6803, J. Bacteriol., 2004, Vol, 186, p. 3331–3345.
- Li H., Melø T.B., Arellano J.B., Razi Naqvi K.R. Temporal profile of the singlet oxygen emission endogenously produced by photosystem II reaction centre in an aqueous buffer, Photosynth. Res., 2012, Vol. 112, p. 75-79.
- Li Z., Wakao S., Fischer B.B., Niyogi K.K., Sensing and Responding to Excess Light, Ann. Rev. Plant Biol., 2009, Vol. 60, p. 239-260.
- Liao J.C., Roider J., Jay D.G. Chromophore-assisted laser inactivation of proteins is mediated by the photogeneration of free radicals, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 1994, Vol. 91, p. 2659-2663.
- Lingakumar K., Kulandaivelu G. Regulatory role of phytochrome on ultraviolet-B (280–315 nm) induced changes in growth and photosynthetic activities of Vigna sinensis L., Photosynthetica, 1993, Vol. 29, p. 341–351.

- Liu H., Colavitti R., Rovira I.I., Finkel T. Redox-dependent transcriptional regulation, Circ. Res., 2005, Vol. 97, p. 967-974.
- Liu Y., Ren D., Pike S., Pallardy S., Gassmann W., Zhang S. Chloroplast-generated reactive oxygen species are involved in hypersensitive response-like cell death mediated by a mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade, Plant J., 2007, Vol. 51, p. 941-954.
- Liu H., Weisman D., Ye Y.B., Cui B., Huang Y.H., Colon-Carmona A., Wang Z.H. An oxidative stress response to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon exposure is rapid and complex in Arabidopsis thaliana, Plant Sci., 2009, Vol. 176, p. 357–382.
- Löffler G., Petrides P.E., Heinrich P.C., Biochemie und Pathobiochemie, Springer, Heidelberg, 8. Auflage, 2007, 1266 p.
- Loll B., Broser M., Kos P.B., Kern J., Biesiadka J., Vass I., Saenger W., Zouni A. Modeling of variant copies of subunit D1 in the structure of photosystem II from Thermosynechococcus elongatus, Biol. Chem., 2008, Vol. 389, p. 609-617.
- Los D.A., Zorina A., Sinetova M., Kryazhov S., Mironov K., Zinchenko V.V. Stress sensors and signal transducers in cyanobacteria, Sensors, 2010, Vol. 10, p. 2386–2415.
- Los D.A., Mironov K.S., Allakhverdiev S.I. Regulatory role of membrane fluidity in gene expression and physiological functions, Photosynth. Res., 2013, Vol. 116, p. 489-509.
- Ma Y.Z., Holt N.E., Li X.P., Niyogi K.K., Fleming G.R. Evidence for direct carotenoid involvement in the regulation of photosynthetic light harvesting, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 2003, Vol. 100, p. 4377-4382.
- Madani F., Lind J., Damberg P., Adams S.R., Tsien R.Y., Graslund A.O. Hairpin structure of a biarsenical-tetracysteine motif determined by NMR spectroscopy, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2009, Vol. 131, p. 4613-4615.
- Maksimov E.G., Schmitt F.-J., Hätti P., Klementiev K.E., Paschenko V.Z., Renger G., Rubin A.B. Anomalous temperature dependence of the fluorescence lifetime of phycobiliproteins, Laser Phys. Lett., 2013, Vol. 10, p. 055602.
- Maksimov E.G., Schmitt F.-J., Shirshin E.A., Svirin M.D., Elanskaya I.V., Friedrich T., Fadeev V.V., Paschenko V.Z., Rubin A.B. The time course of non-photochemical quenching in phycobilisomes of Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 as revealed by picosecond time-resolved fluorimetry, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2014a, Vol. 1837, p. 1540-1547.
- Maksimov E.G., Schmitt F.-J., Tsoraev G.V., Ryabova A.V., Friedrich T., Paschenko V.Z. Fluorescence quenching in the lichen Peltigera aphthosa due to desiccation, Plant Phys. Biochem., 2014b, Vol. 81, p. 67-73.
- Maksimov E.G., Shirshin E.A., Sluchanko N.N., Zlenko D.V., Parshina E.Y., Tsoraev G.V., Klementiev K.E., Budylin G.S., Schmitt F.-J., Friedrich T., Fadeev V.V., Paschenko V.Z., Rubin A.B. The signaling state of orange carotenoid protein, submitted to J. Bio. Chem., 2015.
- Maly F.E., Nakamura M., Gauchat J.F., Urwyler A., Walker C., Dahinden C.A., Cross A.R., Jones O.T., de Weck A.L. Superoxide-dependent nitroblue tetrazolium reduction and expression of cytochrome b-245 components by human tonsillar B lymphocytes and B cell lines, J. Immunol., 1989, Vol. 142, p. 1260-1267.
- Maruta T., Noshi M., Tanouchi A., Tamoi M., Yabuta Y., Yoshimura K., Ishikawa T., Shigeoka S. H₂O₂-triggered retrograde signaling from chloroplasts to nucleus plays specific Role in response to stress, J. Biol. Chem., 2012, Vol. 287, p. 11717-11729.

- Marwood C.A., Solomon K.R., Greenberg B.M. Chlorophyll fluorescence as a bioindicator of effects on growth in aquatic macrophytes from mixtures of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, Environ. Toxicol. Chem., 2001, Vol. 20, p. 890–898.
- Maslenkova L..Thermoluminescence from photosynthesizing systems as a method for detection of early plant stress symptoms. Effect of desiccation on thermoluminescence emission parameters in mesophytic and poikilohydric plants, General and Applied Plant Physiology, 2010, Vol. 36, p. 87–99.
- Mateo A., Funck D., Mühlenbock P., Kular B., Mullineaux P.M., Karpinski S. Controlled levels of salicylic acid are required for optimal photosynthesis and redox homeostasis, J. Exp. Bot., 2006, Vol. 57, p. 1795-1807.
- Maulucci G., Labate V., Mele M., Panieri E., Arcovito G., Galeotti T., Østergaard H., Winther J.R., De Spirito M., Pani G., High-resolution imaging of redox signaling in live cells through an oxidation-sensitive yellow fluorescent protein, Sci. Signal., 2008, Vol. 1, pl3.
- McCord J.M., Crapo J.D., Fridovich I. Superoxide dismutase assay. a review of methodology, Superoxide and superoxide dismutases, Michelson A.M., McCord J.M. Fridovich I. eds., Academic Press, London, 1977, p. 11-17.
- Meyer A.J., Dick T.P. Fluorescent protein-based redox probes, Antioxid. Redox Signal., 2010, Vol. 13, p. 621–650.
- Michelet L., Krieger-Liszkay A. Reactive oxygen intermediates produced by photosynthetic electron transport are enhanced in short-day grown plants, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2012, Vol. 1817, p. 1306-1313.
- Miesenböck G., De Angelis D.A., Rothman J.E. Visualizing secretion and synaptic transmission with pH-sensitive green fluorescent proteins., Nature, 1998, Vol. 394, p. 192-195.
- Miller G., Nobuhiro S., Rizhsky L., Hegie A., Koussevitzky S., Mittler R. Double mutants deficient in cytosolic and thylakoid ascorbate peroxidase reveal a complex mode of interaction between reactive oxygen species, plant development, and response to abiotic stresses, Plant Physiol., 2007, Vol. 144, p. 1777–1785.
- Miller G., Schlauch K., Tam R., Cortes D., Torres M.A., Shulaev V., Dangl J.L., Mittler R. The plant NADPH oxidase RBOHD mediates rapid systemic signaling in response to diverse stimuli, Sci. Signal, 2009, Vol. 2, ra45.
- Minibayeva F., Kolesnikov O.P., Gordon L.K. Contribution of a plasma membrane redox system to the superoxide production by wheat root cells, **Protoplasma**, 1998, Vol. 205, p. 101-106.
- Minibayeva F., Gordon L.K. Superoxide production and activity of outcellular peroxidase under stress, Russian J. Plant Physiol., 2003, Vol. 50, p. 459–464.
- Minibayeva F., Kolesnikov O., Chasov A., Beckett R.P., Luthje S., Vylegzhanina N., Buck F., Bottger M. Wound-induced apoplastic peroxidase activities: their roles in the production and detoxification of reactive oxygen species, Plant. Cell. Environ., 2009, Vol. 32, p. 497-508.
- Mishra N.P., Francke C., van Gorkom H.J., Ghanotakis D.F., Destructive role of singlet oxygen during aerobic illumination of the photosystem II core complex, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1994, Vol. 1186, p. 81-90.
- Mittler R., Vanderauwera S., Suzuki N., Miller G., Tognetti V.B., Vandepoele K., Gollery M., Shulaev V., Van Breusegem F. ROS signaling: the new wave?, **Trends in Plant Science**, 2011, Vol. 16, p. 300-309.
- Miyake C., Asada K., Inactivation mechanism of ascorbate peroxidase at low concentrations of ascorbate; hydrogen peroxide decomposes compound I of ascorbate peroxidase, Plant Cell Physiol., 1996, Vol. 37, p. 423-430.
- Moan J., On the diffusion length of singlet oxygen in cells and tissues, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B, 1990, Vol. 6, p. 343-344.
- Mongkolsuk S., Helmann J.D., Regulation of inducible peroxide stress responses, Mol. Microbiol., 2009, Vol. 45, p. 9–15.
- Mori I.C., Schroeder J.I., Reactive oxygen species activation of plant Ca²⁺ channels: a signaling mechanism in polar growth, hormone transduction, stress signaling, and hypothetically mechanotransduction, Plant Physiol., 2004, Vol. 135, p. 702–708.
- Morowitz H.J. Foundations of bioenergetics, Academic Press, New York, 1978, 344 p.
- Mubarakshina M.M., Ivanov B.N., Naidov I.A., Hillier W., Badger M.R., Krieger-Liszkay A. Production and diffusion of chloroplastic H₂O₂ and its implication to signaling, J. Exp. Bot., 2010, Vol. 61, p. 3577-3587.
- Müller P., Li X.P., Niyogi K.K., Non-photochemical quenching. A response to excess light energy, Plant Physiol., 2001, Vol. 125, p. 1558-1566.
- Mullineaux P.M., Ball L., Escobar C., Karpinska B., Creissen G., Karpinski S. Are diverse signaling pathways integrated in the regulation of arabidopsis antioxidant defence gene expression in response to excess excitation energy?, Phil. Transact. R. Soc. London, 2000, Vol. 355, p. 1531-1540.
- Mullineaux P.M., Rausch T. Glutathione, photosynthesis and the redox regulation of stressresponsive gene expression, Photosynth. Res., 2005, Vol. 86, p. 459-474.
- Mullineaux P.M., Karpinski S., Baker N.R.. Spatial dependence for hydrogen peroxide-directed signaling in light-stressed plants, Plant Physiol., 2006, Vol. 141, p. 346–350.
- Mullineaux P.M., Lawson T. Measuring redox changes in vivo in leaves: prospects and technical challenges, Methods Mol. Biol., 2009, Vol. 476, p. 65–75.
- Mullineaux P.M., Baker N.R., Oxidative stress: antagonistic signaling for acclimation or cell death?, Plant Physiol., 2010, Vol. 154, p. 2521-2525.
- Munnik T., Irvine R.F., Musgrave A. Phospholipid signaling in plants, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1998, Vol. 1389, p. 222-272.
- Murata N., Takahashi S., Nishiyama Y., Allakhverdiev S.I., Photoinhibition of photosystem II under environmental stress, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2007, Vol. 1767, p. 414-421.
- Murata N., Allakhverdiev S.I., Nishiyama Y. The mechanism of photoinhibition in vivo: Reevaluation of the roles of catalase, α-tocopherol, non-photochemical quenching, and electron transport, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2012, Vol. 1817, p. 1127-1133.
- Najafpour M.M., Pashaei B., Zand Z. Photodamage of the manganese-calcium oxide: a model for UV-induced photodamage of the water oxidizing complex in photosystem II, Dalton Trans, 2013, Vol. 42, p. 4772-4776.
- Nazarenko L.V., Andreev I.M., Lyukevich A.A., Pisareva T.V., Los D.A. Calcium release from Synechocystis cells induced by depolarization of the plasma membrane: MscL as an outward Ca²⁺ channel., Microbiology, 2003, Vol. 149, p. 1147-1153.
- Neill S.J., Desikan R., Clarke A., Hurst R.D., Hancock J.T. Hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide as signaling molecules in plants, J. Exp. Bot., 2002, Vol. 53, p. 1237-1247.
- Nicholls D.G., Ferguson S.J., Bioenergetics, Academic Press, London, 2013, 434 p.

- Nicolls G., Prigogine I. Self-organization in nonequilibrium systems, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1977, 512 p.
- Niethammer P., Grabher C., Look A.T., Mitchison T.J. A tissue-scale gradient of hydrogen peroxide mediates rapid wound detection in zebrafish, Nature, 2009, Vol. 459, p. 996-999.
- Nishimura M.T., Dangl J.L. Arabidopsis and the plant immune system, Plant J., 2010, Vol. 61, p. 1053-1066.
- Nishiyama Y., Yamamoto H., Allakhverdiev S.I., Inaba M., Yokota A., Murata N. Oxidative stress inhibits the repair of photodamage to the photosynthetic machinery, EMBO J., 2001, Vol. 20, p. 5587-5594.
- Nishiyama Y., Allakhverdiev S.I., Yamamoto H., Hayashi H., Murata N. Singlet oxygen inhibits the repair of photosystemII by suppressing the translation elongation of the D1 protein in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803, Biochemistry, 2004, Vol. 43, p. 11321-11330.
- Nishiyama Y., Allakhverdiev S.I., Murata N. A new paradigm for the action of reactive oxygen species in the photoinhibition of photosystem II, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2006, Vol. 1757, p. 742-749.
- Nishiyama Y., Allakhverdiev S.I., Murata N. Protein synthesis is the primary target of reactive oxygen species in the photoinhibition of photosystem II, Physiol. Plant., 2011, Vol. 142, p. 35-46.
- Nixon P.J., Michoux F., Yu J., Boehm M., Komenda J. Recent advances in understanding the assembly and repair of photosystem II, Ann Bot., 2010, Vol. 106, p. 1–16.
- Niyogi K.K., Truong T.B. Evolution of flexible non-photochemical quenching mechanisms that regulate light harvesting in oxygenic photosynthesis, Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 2013, Vol. 16, p. 307-314.
- Noctor G., Arisi A-C., Jouanin L., Kunert K.J., Rennenberg H., Foyer C.H. Glutathione: biosynthesis, metabolism and relationship to stress tolerance explored in transformed plants, J. Exp. Bot., 1998, Vol. 49, p. 623-647.
- Noctor G., Foyer C.H., ASCORBATE AND GLUTATHIONE: Keeping Active Oxygen under Control., Annu. Rev. Plant. Physiol. Plant. Mol. Biol., 1998, Vol. 49, p. 249-279.
- Noctor G., Gomez L., Vanacker H., Foyer C.H. Interactions between biosynthesis, compartmentation and transport in the control of glutathione homeostasis and signalling, J. Exp. Bot., 2002, Vol. 53, p. 1283-1304.
- Ochsenbein C., Przybyla D., Danon A., Landgraf F., Göbel C., Imboden A., Feussner I., Apel K. The role of EDS1 (enhanced disease susceptibility) during oxygen-mediated stress responses of Arabidopsis, Plant J., 2006, Vol. 47, p. 445-456.
- Oelze M.-L., Kandlbinder A., Dietz K.-J. Redox regulation and overreduction control in the photosynthesizing cell: Complexity in redox regulatory networks, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2008, Vol. 1780, p. 1261-1272.
- Ogilby P.R., Foote C.S. Chemistry of singlet oxygen. Effect of solvent, solvent isotopic substitution and temperature on the lifetime of singlet molecular oxygen $(^{1}\Delta g)$, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1983, Vol. 105, p. 3423-3430.
- op den Camp R., Przybyla D., Ochsenbein C., Laloi C., Kim C., Danon A., Wagner D., Hideg E., Göbel C., Feussner I., Nater M., Apel K. Rapid induction of distinct stress responses after the release of singlet oxygen in Arabidopsis, Plant Cell, 2003, Vol. 15, p. 2320-2332.

- Ostergaard H., Henriksen A., Flemming H., Hansen G., Winther J.R. Shedding light on disulfide bond formation: engineering a redox switch in green fluorescent protein, EMBO J., 2001, Vol. 20, p. 5853-5862.
- Overmyer K., Brosché M., Kangasjärvi J. Reactive oxygen species and hormonal control of cell death, Trends Plant Cell Sci., 2003, Vol. 8, p. 335–342.
- Pap E.H., Drummen G.P., Winter V.J., Kooij T.W., Rijken P., Wirtz K.W., Op den Kamp J.A., Hage W.J., Post J.A. Ratio-fluorescence microscopy of lipid oxidation in living cells using C11-BODIPY(581/591), FEBSLett., 1999, Vol. 453, p. 278-282.
- Papageorgiou G.C., Govindjee, Chlorophyll a Fluorescence: A Signature of Photosynthesis (Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration), Springer, Dordrecht, 2005, 820 p.
- Parks B.M., Quail P.H. Phytochrome-deficient hy1 and hy2 long hypocotyl mutants of Arabidopsis are defective in phytochrome chromophore biosynthesis. Plant Cell, 1991, Vol. 3, p. 1177-1186.
- Peschek G.A. Electron transport in oxygenic cyanobacteria, Primary processes of photosynthetic principles and applications, Renger G. ed., RSC Publishing, Cambridge, 2008, Vol. 2, p. 383-415.
- Pfannschmidt T., Schütze K., Fey V., Sherameti I., Oelmüller R. Chloroplast redox control of nuclear gene expression. A new class of plastid signals in interorganellar communication, Antioxid. Redox Signal., 2003, Vol. 5, p. 95-101.
- Pfannschmidt T., Bräutigam K., Wagner R., Dietzel L., Schröter Y., Steiner S., Nykytenko A. Potential regulation of gene expression in photosynthetic cells by redox and energy state: approaches towards better understanding, Ann. Bot., 2009, Vol. 103, p. 599-607.
- Pitzschke P., Hirt H. Mitogen-activated protein kinases and reactive oxygen species signaling in plants, Plant Physiol., 2006, Vol. 141, p. 351–356.
- Pogson B.J., Rissler H.M., Frank H.A., The role of carotenoids in energy quenching, The Light-Driven Water: Plastoquinone Oxidoreductase, Wyrdzynski T., Satoh K. eds., Springer, Dodrecht, 2005, p. 515-537.
- Pogson B.J., Woo, B. Förster, I.D. Small, Plastid signaling to the nucleus and beyond, Trends Plant Sci., 2008, Vol. 13, p. 602-609.
- Polívka T., Sundström V., Ultrafast dynamics of carotenoid excited states from solution to natural and artificial systems, Chem. Rev., 2004, Vol. 104, p. 2021-2072.
- Pospisil P. Production of reactive oxygen species by photosystem II, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2009, Vol. 1787, p. 1151–1160.
- Pradedova E.V., Isheeva O.D., Salyaev R.K. Classification of the antioxidant defense system as the ground for reasonable organization of experimental studies of the oxidative stress in plants, Russian J. Plant Physiol., 2011, Vol. 58, p. 210-217.
- Przybyla D., Göbel C., Imboden A., Hamberg M., Feussner I., Apel K. Enzymatic, but not nonenzymatic, ¹O₂-mediated peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids forms part of the EXECUTER1-dependent stress response program in the flu mutant of Arabidopsis thaliana, Plant J., 2008, Vol. 54, p. 236–248.
- Qi Z., Yue M., Wang X.L. Laser pretreatment protects cells of broad bean from UV-B radiation damage., J. Photochem. Photobiol. B:Biol, 2000, Vol. 59, p. 33–37.
- Qi Z., Yue M., Han R., Wang X.L. The damage repair role of He-Ne laser on plants exposed to different intensities of ultraviolet-B radiation. Photochem. Photobiol., 2002, Vol. 75, p. 680–686.

- Ragas X., Cooper L.P., White J.H., Nonell S., Flors C. Quantification of photosensitized singlet oxygen production by a fluorescent protein, Chem. Phys. Chem., 2011, Vol. 12, p. 161-165.
- Ramel F., Birtic S., Ginies C., Soubigou-Taconnat L., Triantaphylidès C., Havaux M. Carotenoid oxidation products are stress signals that mediate gene responses to singlet oxygen in plants, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 2012, Vol. 109, p. 5535-5540.
- Rao A.Q., Irfan M., Saleem Z., Nasir I.A., Riazuddin S., Husnain T. Overexpression of the phytochrome B gene from Arabidopsis thaliana increases plant growth and yield of cotton (Gossypium hirsutum), J Zhejiang Univ Sci B, 2011, Vol. 12, p. 326–334.
- Rappaport F., Guergova-Kuras M., Nixon P. J., Diner B. A., Lavergne J. Kinetics and pathways of charge recombination in photosystem II, Biochemistry, 2002, Vol. 41, p. 8518-8527.
- Rehman A.U., Cser K., Sass L., Vass I. Characterization of singlet oxygen production and its involvement in photodamage of Photosystem II in the cyanobacterium Synechocystis PCC 6803 by histidine-mediated chemical trapping, Biochim. Biophys. Acta., 2013, Vol. 1827, p. 689-698.
- Renger G., Biological energy conservation, Biophysics., Lohmann W., Markl H., Ziegler H., Hoppe W. eds., Springer, Berlin, 1983, p. 347-371.
- Renger G., Functional pattern of photosystem II, Primary Processes of Photosynthesis: Principles and Apparatus, Part II: Reaction Centers/Photosystems, Electron Transport Chains, Photophosphorylation and Evolution, Renger G. ed., Royal Society Chemistry, Cambridge, 2008, p. 237-290.
- Renger G., Ludwig B. Mechanism of photosynthetic production and respiratory reduction of molecular dioxygen: A biophysical and biochemical comparison, The Bioenergetic Processes of Cyanobacteria-from Evolutionary Singularity to Ecological Diversity, Peschek G., Obinger C., Renger G. eds., Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2011, p. 337-394.
- Renger G. Photosynthetic water splitting: apparatus and mechanism, Photosynthesis: Plastid Biology, Energy Conversion and Carbon Assimilation, Eaton-Rye J.J., Tripathy B.C., Sharkey T.D. eds., Springer, Dordrecht, 2012, p. 359-414.
- Rigo A., Stevanato R., Finazzi-Agro A., Rotilio G. An attempt to evaluate the rate of the Haber-Weiss reaction by using OH radical scavengers, FEBSLett., 1977, Vol. 80, p. 130-132.
- Rizhsky L., Liang H., Mittler R., The water-water cycle is essential for chloroplast protection in the absence of stress, J. Biol. Chem., 2003, Vol. 278, p. 38921-38925.
- Rossel J.B., Wilson P.B., Hussain D., Woo N.S., Gordon M.J., Mewett O.P., Howell K.A., Whelan J., Kazan K., Pogson B.J. Systemic and intracellular responses to photooxidative stress in Arabidopsis, Plant Cell, 2007, Vol. 19, p. 4091-4110.
- Ruban A.V., Johnson M.P., Duffy C.D.P. The photoprotective molecular switch in the photosystem II antenna, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2012, Vol. 1817, p. 167-181.
- Rutherford A.W., Osyczka A., Rappaport F., Back-reactions, short-circuits, leaks and other energy wasteful reactions in biological electron transfer: Redox tuning to survive life in O₂, FEBSLett., 2012, Vol. 586, p. 603-616.
- Sagi M., Fluhr R. Production of reactive oxygen species by plant NADPH oxidases, Plant Physiol., 2006, Vol. 141, p. 336-340.

- Sairam R.K., Srivastava G.C. Increased antioxidant activity under elevated temperatures: a mechanism of heat stress tolerance in wheat genotypes, Biol. Plant., 2000, Vol. 43, p. 381-386.
- Sang Y., Cui D., Wang X. Phospholipase D and phosphatidic acid-mediated generation of superoxide in Arabidopsis, Plant Physiol., 2001, Vol. 126, p. 1449-1458.
- Scarpeci T.E., Zanor M.I., Carrillo N., Mueller-Roeber B., Valle E.M. Generation of superoxide anion in chloroplasts of Arabidopsis thaliana during active photosynthesis: A focus on rapidly induced genes, Plant Mol. Biol., 2008, Vol. 66, p. 361-378.
- Scheibe R., Backhausen J.E., Emmerlich V., Holtgrefe S. Strategies to maintain redox homeostasis during photosynthesis under changing conditions, J. Exp. Bot., 2005, Vol. 56, p. 1481-1489.
- Schmitt F.-J., Theiss C., Wache K., Fuesers J., Andree S., Handojo A., Karradt A., Kiekebusch D., Eichler H.J., Eckert H.-J. Investigation of the excited states dynamics in the Chl d-containing cyanobacterium Acaryochloris marina by time- and wavelength correlated single-photon counting, Proc. SPIE, 2006, Vol. 6386, 6 p.
- Schmitt F.-J., Theiss C., Wache K., Fuesers J., Andree S., Eichler H.J., Eckert H.-J. Investigation of metabolic changes in living cells of the Chl d- containing cyanobacterium Acaryochloris marina by time- and wavelength correlated single-photon counting, ZiG-Print, Zentrum für innovative Gesundheitstechnologien der TU Berlin, 2007, 6 p.
- Schmitt F.-J. "Temperature induced conformational changes in hybrid complexes formed from CdSe/ZnS nanocrystals and the phycobiliprotein antenna of Acaryochloris marina", Journal of Optics, 2010, J. Opt. 12 084008.
- Schmitt F.-J., Maksimov E.G., Suedmeyer H., Jeyasangar V., Theiss C., Paschenko V.Z., Eichler H.J., Renger G. Time resolved temperature switchable excitation energy transfer processes between CdSe/ZnS nanocrystals and phycobiliprotein antenna from Acaryochloris marina, Photon. Nanostruct: Fundam. Appl., 2011, Vol. 9, p. 190-195.
- Schmitt F.-J., Picobiophotonics for the investigation of pigment-pigment and pigment-protein interactions in photosynthetic complexes, PhD thesis, Berlin, 2011, 230 p.
- Schmitt F.-J., Maksimov E., Junghans C., Weißenborn J., Hätti P., Allakhverdiev S.I., Friedrich T. Structural organization and dynamic processes in protein complexes determined by multiparameter imaging, Signpost Open Access J. NanoPhotoBioSciences, 2013, Vol. 1, p. 1-45.
- Schmitt F.-J., Renger G., Friedrich T., Kreslavski V.D., Zharmukhamedov S.K., Los D.A., Kuznetsov V.V., Allakhverdiev S.I. Reactive oxygen species: Re-evaluation of generation, monitoring and role in stress-signaling in phototrophic organisms, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2014a, Vol. 1837, p. 835–848.
- Schmitt F.-J., Thaa B., Junghans C., Vitali M., Veit M., Friedrich T., eGFP-pHsens as a highly sensitive fluorophore for cellular pH determination by fluorescence lifetime imaging microscopy (FLIM)., Biochim. Biophys. Acta., 2014b, Vol. 1837, p. 1581-1593.
- Schürmann P., Buchanan B.B. The ferredoxin/thioredoxin system of oxygenic photosynthesis, Antioxid. Redox Signal., 2008, Vol. 10, p. 1235-1274.
- Schwarzländer M., Fricker M.D., Müller C., Marty L., Brach T., Novak J., Sweetlove L.J., Hell R., Meyer, A.J. Confocal imaging of glutathione redox potential in living plant cells, J. Microsc., 2008, Vol. 279, p. 299–316.

- Schwarzländer M., Fricker M.D., Sweetlove L.J. Monitoring the in vivo redox state of plant mitochondria: Effect of respiratory inhibitors, abiotic stress and assessment of recovery from oxidative challenge, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 2009, Vol. 1787, p. 468–475.
- Schweitzer C., Schmidt R. Physical mechanisms of generation and deactivation of singlet oxygen. Chem. Rev., 2003, Vol. 103, p. 1685–1758.
- Shaikhali J., Heiber I., Seidel T., Ströher E., Hiltscher H., Birkmann S., Dietz K.-J., Baier M. The redox-sensitive transcription factor Rap2.4a controls nuclear expression of 2-Cys peroxiredoxin A and other chloroplast antioxidant enzymes, BMC Plant Biol., 2008, p. 8-48.
- Shao N., Krieger-Liszkay A., Schroda M., Beck C.F. A reporter system for the individual detection of hydrogen peroxide and singlet oxygen: its use for the assay of reactive oxygen species produced in vivo, Plant J., 2007, Vol. 50, p. 475-487.
- Shao N., Beck C.F., Lemaire S.D., Krieger-Liszkay A. Photosynthetic electron flow affects H₂O₂ signaling by inactivation of catalase in Chlamydomonas reinhardti, Planta, 2008, Vol. 228, p. 1055-1066.
- Sharma P., Jha A.B., Dubey R.S., Pessarakli M. Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanism in Plants under Stressful Conditions, J. Bot., 2012, Vol. 2012, 26 p.
- Shim S.-H., Xia C., Zhong G., Babcock H.P., Vaughan J.C., Huang B., Wang X., Xu C., Bi J.C., Zhuang X. Super-resolution fluorescence imaging of organelles in live cells with photoswitchable membrane probes Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 2012, Vol. 109, p. 13978-13983.
- Shoumskaya M.A., Paithoonrangsarid K., Kanesaki Y., Los D.A., Zinchenko V.V., Tanticharoen M., Suzuki I., Murata N. Identical Hik-Rre systems are involved in perception and transduction of salt signals and hyperosmotic signals but regulate the expression of individual genes to different extents in Synechocystis, J. Biol. Chem., 2005, Vol. 280, p. 21531–21538.
- Sicora C., Máté Z., Vass I. The interaction of visible and UV-B light during photodamage and repair of photosystem II, Photosynth. Res., 2003, Vol. 75, p.127–137.
- Sies H., Menck C.F., Singlet oxygen induced DNA damage, Mutation Res., 1992, Vol. 275, p. 367-375.
- Singh-Tomar R., Jajoo A. Alteration in PS II heterogeneity under the influence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (fluoranthene) in wheat leaves (Triticum aestivum), Plant Science, 2013, Vol. 209, p. 58–63.
- Skovsen E., Snyder J.W., Lambert J.D.C., Ogilby P.R., Lifetime and diffusion of singlet oxygen in a cell, J. Phys. Chem. B., 2005, Vol. 109, p. 8570-8573.
- Ślesak I., Libik M., Karpinska B., Karpinski S., Miszalski Z. The role of hydrogen peroxide in regulation of plant metabolism and cellular signaling in response to environmental stresses, Acta Biochimica Polonica, 2007, Vol. 54, p. 39-50.
- Snyder J.W., Zebger I., Gao Z., Poulsen L., Frederiksen P.K., Skovsen E., McIlroy S.P., Klinger M., Andersen L.K., Ogilby P.R. Singlet oxygen microscope: from phase-separated polymers to single biological cells, Acc. Chem. Res., 2004, Vol. 37, p. 894–901.
- Spadaro D., Yun B.-W., Spoel S.H., Chu C., Wang Y.-Q., Loake G.J., The redox switch: dynamic regulation of protein function by cysteine modifications, Physiol. Plant., 2010, Vol. 138, p. 360-371.

- Stadnichuk I.N., Yanyushin M.F., Bernát G., Zlenko D.V., Krasilnikov P.M., Lukashev E.P., Maksimov E.G., Paschenko V.Z. Fluorescence quenching of the phycobilisome terminal emitter LCM from the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 detected in vivo and in vitro, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B., 2013, Vol. 125, p. 137-145.
- Strasser A., Srivastava A., Tsimilli-Michael M. The fluorescence transient as a tool to characterize and screen photosynthetic samples, in: Probing Photosynthesis: Mechanisms, Regulation and Adaptation, Yunus M., Pathre U., Mohanty P. eds., Taylor and Francis, London, 2000, pp. 445–483.
- Strasser B., Sánchez-Lamas M., Yanovsky M.J., Casal J.J., Cerdán P.D. Arabidopsis thaliana life without phytochromes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 2010, Vol. 107, p. 4776–4781.
- Straus M.R., Rietz S., van Themaat E.V.L., Bartsch M., Parker J.E. Salicylic acid antagonism of EDS1-driven cell death is important for immune and oxidative stress responses in Arabidopsis, Plant J., 2010, Vol. 62, p. 628-640.
- Strid A.W., Chow S., Anderson J.M. UV-B damage and protection at the molecular level in plants, Photosynth. Res., 1994, Vol. 39, p. 475–489.
- Subach F.V., Verkhusha V.V., Chromophore transformations in red fluorescent proteins, Chem. Rev., 2012, Vol. 112, p. 4308–4327.
- Suzuki I., Kanesaki Y., Hayashi H., Hall J.J., Simon W.J., Slabas A.R., Murata N. The histidine kinase Hik34 is involved in thermotolerance by regulating the expression of heat shock genes in Synechocystis, Plant Physiol., 2005, Vol. 138, p. 1409-1421.
- Suzuki N., Mittler R. Reactive oxygen species and temperature stresses: A delicate balance between signaling and destruction, Physiol. Plant., 2006, Vol. 126, p. 45-51.
- Svedruzic D., Jonsson S., Toyota C.G., Reinhardt L.A., Ricagno S., Lindqvist Y., Richards N.G., The enzymes of oxalate metabolism: unexpected structures and mechanisms., Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 2005, Vol. 433, p. 176-192.
- Swanson S., Gilroy S., ROS in plant development, Physiol. Plant., 2010, Vol. 138, p. 384–392.
- Swanson S.J., Choi W.-G., Chanoca A., Gilroy S. In vivo imaging of Ca²⁺, pH, and reactive oxygen species using fluorescent probes in plants, Ann. Rev. Plant Biol., 2011, Vol. 62, p. 273-297.
- Szabo I., Bergantino E., Giacometti G.M., Light and oxygenic photosynthesis: energy dissipation as a protection mechanism against photo-oxidation, EMBO Rep., 2005, Vol. 6, p. 629-634.
- Theiss C., Schmitt F.-J., Andree S., Cardenas-Chavez C., Wache K., Fuesers J., Vitali M., Wess M., Kussin S., Eichler H.J., Eckert H.-J. Excitation Energy Transfer in the Phycobiliprotein Antenna of Acaryochloris marina Studied by Transient fs Absorption and Fluorescence Spectroscopy, Photosynthesis. Energy from the Sun, Allen J.F., Gantt E., Golbeck J.H., Osmond B., Springer, Dordrecht, 2008, p. 339-342.
- Theiss C., Schmitt F.-J., Pieper J., Nganou C., Grehn M., Vitali M., Olliges R., Eichler H.J., Eckert H.-J. Excitation energy transfer in intact cells and in the phycobiliprotein antennae of the chlorophyll d containing cyanobacterium Acaryochloris marina", J Plant Physiol., 2011, Vol. 168, p. 1473–1487.
- Thiele A., Herold M., Lenk I., Quail P.H., Gatz C. Heterologous expression of Arabidopsis phytochrome B in transgenic potato influences photosynthetic performance and tuber, Plant Physiol., 1999, Vol. 120, p. 73-81.

- Thimm O., Bläsing O., Gibon Y., Nagel A., Meyer S., Krüger P., Selbig J., Müller L.A., Rhee S., Stitt M. MAPMAN: a user-driven tool to display genomics data sets onto diagrams of metabolic pathways and other biological processes, Plant J., 2004, Vol. 37, p. 914-939.
- Thordal-Christensen H., Zhang Z., Wei Y., Collinge D.B. Subcellular localization of H₂O₂ in plants. H₂O₂ accumulation in papillae and hypersensitive response during the barley—powdery mildew interaction, The Plant Journal, 1997, Vol. 11, p. 1187-1194.
- Tognetti V.B., Mühlenbock P., van Breusegem F. Stress homeostasis-the redox and auxin perspective, Plant Cell Environ., 2012, Vol. 35, p. 321-333.
- Tour O., Meijer R.M., Zacharias D.A., Adams S.R., Tsien R.Y. Genetically targeted chromophore-assisted light inactivation, Nat. Biotechnol., 2003, Vol. 21, p. 1505-1508.
- Triantaphylidès C., Krischke M., Hoeberichts F. A., Ksas B., Gresser G., Havaux M., Van Breusegem F., Mueller M.J. Singlet oxygen is the major reactive oxygen species involved in photooxidative damage to plants, Plant Physiol., 2008, Vol. 148, p. 960-968.
- Triantaphylides C., Havaux M. Singlet oxygen in plants: production, detoxification and signaling, Trends Plant Sci., 2009, Vol. 14, p. 219-228.
- Trouillard M., Shahbazi M., Moyet L., Rappaport F., Joliot P., Kuntz M., Finazzi G. Kinetic properties and physiological role of the plastoquinone terminal oxidase (PTOX) in a vascular plant, Biochim Biophys Acta., 2012, Vol. 1817, p. 2140-2148.
- Tsien R.Y. The green fluorescent protein, Annu. Rev. Biochem., 2008, Vol. 67, p. 509-544.
- Vallad G.E., Goodman R.M. Systemic acquired resistance and induced systemic resistance in conventional agriculture, Crop. Sci., 2004, Vol. 44, p. 1920-1934.
- Vandenabeele S., Vanderauwera S., Vuylsteke M., Rombauts S., Langebartels C., Seidlitz H.K., Zabeau M., van Montagu M., Inzé D., van Breusegem F. Catalase deficiency drastically affects gene expression induced by high light in Arabidopsis thaliana, Plant J., 2004, Vol. 39, p. 45-58.
- Vass I., Aro E.-M., Photoinhibition of photosynthetic electron transport, Primary Processes of Photosynthesis: Basic Principles and Apparatus, Part 1: Photophysical Principles, Pigments Light Harvesting/ Adaptation/Stress, Renger G. ed., Royal Society Chemistry, Cambridge, 2008, p. 393–425.
- Vass I., Cser K., Janus-faced charge recombinations in photosystem II photoinhibition, Trends Plant. Sci., 2009, Vol. 14, p. 200-205.
- Vellosillo T., Vicente J., Kulasekaran S., Hamberg M., Castresana C. Emerging complexity in reactive oxygen species production and signaling during the response of plants to pathogens, Plant Physiol., 2010, Vol. 154, p. 444-448.
- Vener A.V., Ohad I., Andersson B. Protein phosphoorylation and redox sensing in chloroplast thylakoids, Curr. Opin. Plant Biol., 1998, Vol. 1, p. 217-223.
- Vitali M. Long-term observation of living cells by wide-field fluorescence lifetime imaging microscopy, PhD thesis, Technical University of Berlin, 2011, 126 p.
- Vranova E., Inze D., van Breusegem F. Signal transduction during oxidative stress, J. Exp. Bot., 2002, Vol. 53, p. 1227-1236.
- Wagner D., Przybyla D., Op den Camp R., Kim C., Landgraf F., Lee K.P., Würsch M., Laloi C., Nater M., Hideg E., The genetic basis of singlet oxygen-induced stress responses of Arabidopsis thaliana, Science, 2004, Vol. 306, p. 1183-1185.

- Wessels J.M., Rodgers M.A.J. Detection of the $O_2(^{1}\Delta g) O_2(^{3}\Sigma g^{-})$ transition in aqueous environments: A Fourier-transform near-infrared luminescence study., J. Phys. Chem., 1995, Vol. 99, p. 15725-15727.
- Westphal V., Seeger J., Salditt T. and Hell S.W. Stimulated Emission Depletion Microscopy on Lithographic Nanostructures, J. Phys. B: At.Mol.Opt.Phys., 2005, Vol. 38, 695.
- Wilkinson F., Helman W., Ross A.B. Rate constants for the decay and reactions of the lowest electronically excited singlet state of molecular oxygen in solution. An expanded and revised compilation, J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data., 1995, Vol. 24, p. 663-1021.
- Wilson A., Punginelli C., Gall A., Bonetti C., Alexandre M., Routaboul J.M., Kerfeld C.A., van Grondelle R., Robert B., Kennis J.T.M., Kirilovsky D. A photoactive carotenoid protein acting as light intensity sensor, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A, 2008, Vol. 105, p. 12075-12080.
- Wilson A., Kinney J.N., Zwart P.H., Punginelli C., D' Haene S., Perreau F., Klein M.G., Kirilovsky D., Kerfeld C.A., Structural determinants underlying photoprotection in the photoactive orange carotenoid protein of cyanobacteria, J. Biol. Chem., 2010, Vol. 285, p. 18364-18375.
- Wilson I. D., Neil S. J., Hancock J. T., Nitric oxide synthesis and signaling in plants, Plant Cell Environ., 2008, Vol. 31, p. 622-631.
- Worrest R.C., Caldwell M.M. eds., Stratospheric ozone reduction, solar ultraviolet radiation and plant life, Springer, Berlin, 1986, p. 171–184.
- Xiong J., Bauer C.E. Complex evolution of photosynthesis, Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 2002, Vol. 53, p. 503-521.
- Yabuta Y., Maruta T., Yoshimura K., Ishikawa T., Shigeoka S. Two distinct redox signaling pathways for cytosolic APX induction under photooxidative stress, Plant Cell Physiol., 2004, Vol. 45, p. 1586-1594.
- Yamamoto N., Koga N., Nagaoka M. Ferryl–Oxo species produced from Fenton's Reagent via a two-step pathway: minimum free-energy path analysis, J. Phys. Chem. B, 2012, Vol. 116, 14178-14182.
- Yang D.-H., Andersson B., Aro E.-M., Ohad I. The Redox state of the plastoquinone pool controls the level of the light-harvesting chlorophyll a/b binding protein complex II (LHC II) during photoacclimation, Photosynth. Res., 2001, Vol. 68, p. 163-174.
- Yang F., Moss L.G., Phillips G.N. Jr. The molecular structure of green fluorescent protein., Nat. Biotechnol., 1996, Vol. 14, p. 1246-1251.
- Yin D., Kuczera K., Squier T.C. The Sensitivity of carboxyl-terminal methionines in calmodulin isoforms to oxidation by H₂O₂ modulates the ability to activate the plasma membrane Ca-ATPase, Chem. Res. Toxicol., 2000, Vol. 13, p. 103-110.
- Zamaraev K.I., Parmon V.N. Potential methods and perspectives of solar energy conversion via photocatalytic processes, Rev. Sci. Eng., 1980, Vol. 22, p. 261-324.
- Zhang L., Paakkarinen V., van Wijk K.J., Aro E.-M. Biogenesis of the chloroplast-encoded D1 protein: regulation of mechanisms of D1 protein translation elongation, insertion and assembly, Plant Cell., 2000, Vol. 12, p. 1769-1782.
- Zhao J., Zhou J.J., Wang Y.Y., Gu J.W., Xie X.Z. Positive regulation of phytochrome B on chlorophyll biosynthesis and chloroplast development in rice. Rice Science, 2013, Vol. 20, p. 243-248.

- Zheng M., Aslund F., Storz G. Activation of OxyR transcription factor by reversible disulfide bond formation, Science, 1998, Vol. 279, p. 1718-1721.
- Zhou L., Aon M.A., Almas T., Cortassa S., Winslow R.L., O'Rourke B. A reaction-diffusion model of ROS-induced ROS release in a mitochondrial network, PLoS Comput. Biol., Vol. 6, 2010, e1000657.
- Zhou L., O'Rourke B. Cardiac mitochondrial network excitability: insights from computational analysis, Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol., 2012, Vol. 302, p. H2178–H2189.
- Zoia L., Argyropoulos D.S. Characterization of free radical spin adducts of 5-diisopropyloxyphosphoryl-5-methyl-1-pyrroline-N-oxide using mass spectrometry and P-31 nuclear magnetic resonance, Eur. J. Mass. Spectrom., 2010, Vol. 16, p. 175-85.
- Zorina A.A., Mironov K.S., Stepanchenko N.S., Sinetova M.A., Koroban N.V., Zinchenko V.V., Kupriyanova E.V., Allakhverdiev S.I., Los D.A. Regulation systems for stress responses in cyanobacteria, Russian J. Plant. Physiol., 2011, Vol. 58, p. 749-767.